DISSERTATIONES CHIMICAE UNIVERSITATIS TARTUENSIS 198

RUTA HECHT

Novel Eluent Additives for LC-MS Based Bioanalytical Methods





DISSERTATIONES CHIMICAE UNIVERSITATIS TARTUENSIS

198

DISSERTATIONES CHIMICAE UNIVERSITATIS TARTUENSIS 198

RUTA HECHT

Novel Eluent Additives for LC-MS Based Bioanalytical Methods



Institute of Chemistry, Faculty of Science and Technology, University of Tartu, Estonia.

The dissertation is accepted for the commencement of the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Chemistry on June 12nd, 2020, by the Council of Institute of Chemistry, University of Tartu.

Supervisors:	Karin Kipper, PhD, Institute of Chemistry, University of Tartu, Estonia	
	Associate Professor Koit Herodes, Institute of Chemistry, University of Tartu, Estonia	
Opponent:	Professor Jonas Bergquist, MD, PhD, Department of Chemistry, Uppsala University, Sweden	
Commencement:	Room 1020, Chemicum, 14A Ravila Street, Tartu, on 28 th August 2020, at 10:00.	

This work has been partially supported by Graduate School of Functional materials and technologies receiving funding from the European Regional Development Fund in University of Tartu, Estonia

This work has been supported by the Dora Pluss for short- and long-term visits, funded by the European Regional Development Fund.





Investing in your future

ISSN 1406-0299 ISBN 978-9949-03-426-0 (print) ISBN 978-9949-03-427-7 (pdf)

Copyright: Ruta Hecht, 2020

University of Tartu Press www.tyk.ee Always be wary of any helpful item that weighs less than its operating manual. Terry Pratchett

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS	9
ABBREVIATIONS	11
INTRODUCTION	13
 LITERATURE OVERVIEW 1.1. Liquid chromatography and instrumentation 1.2. The stationary phase (column) and its role in analyte separation 1.2.1. Retention time and the retention factor 1.2.2. Interactions in the reversed-phase column 1.2.3. Reversed phase column and pH 1.3. The mobile phase in LC 1.4. The importance of acid-base equilibrium 1.5. Novel eluent additives 1.5.1. 1,1,1,3,3,3-Hexafluoro-2-propanol (HFIP) 1.5.2. 1,1,1,3,3,3-Hexafluoro-2-methyl-2-propanol (HFTB) 1.5.3. Perfluoropinacol (PP) 1.5.4. Nonafluoro tart butyl alcohol (NETB) 	14 14 15 17 17 19 20 20 20 22 23 24 24 24
 1.5.4. Nonafluoro-<i>tert</i>-butyl alcohol (NFTB) 1.5.5. 2,2,2-Trifluoroethanol (TFE) 1.5.6. Dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) 1.5.7. Ammonium fluoride (NH₄F) 1.5.8. Difluoroacetic acid (DFA) 1.6. Challenges in the bioanalytical applications for small molecules 	24 24 25 25 26 26
2. AIMS OF THE STUDY	29
 EXPERIMENTAL	30 30 31 31 31 32 32 32 32
 3.3. Methods	34 34 36
3.2.4. Analysis of milrinone and dobutamine [III]	36 36

4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION		
4.1. Retention mechanisms in standard solutions		
4.1.1. The set of model analytes on various RP stationary phases		
	4.1.2. Retention mechanisms on the C18 stationary phase [IV]	40
	4.1.2.1. Changes in analyte retention	40
	4.1.2.2. Analyte ionisation efficiency	48
	4.1.3. Retention mechanisms on the biphenyl stationary phase	52
	4.1.4. Retention of eluent additives on the C18, biphenyl and PFP	
	stationary phases and ionisation	58
	4.1.5. Separation of common toxicology screening compounds	67
	4.1.5.1. Experiments with the C18 column and DFA as the	-
	eluent additive	70
	4.1.5.2. Experiments with biphenyl column and HFIB as	75
	eluent additive	/5
	4.1.3.3. Experiments with the PFP column and HFTB as the	01
	4.2 Practical applications	01 85
	4.2.1 Challenges of the data below the analytical limit of quanti	85
	tation in pharmacokinetic analysis [II]	86
	4.2.2 Method development and validation for the analysis of	00
	morphine, clonidine and midazolam and their metabolites []]	87
	4.2.3 Method development and validation for analysis of milri-	07
	none and dobutamine [III. V. VI]	90
CI		02
SU	JMMARY	93
RF	EFERENCES	96
SUMMARY IN ESTONIAN		
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS		
PUBLICATIONS		
CURRICULUM VITAE		
\mathbf{L}		171

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

- I **R. Veigure**, R. Aro, T. Metsvaht, J.F. Standing, I. Lutsar, K. Herodes, K. Kipper, A highly sensitive method for the simultaneous UHPLC–MS/MS analysis of clonidine, morphine, midazolam and their metabolites in blood plasma using HFIP as the eluent additive, J. Chromatogr. B. (2017) doi:10.1016/j.jchromb.2017.03.007
- II M. Hecht, R. Veigure, L. Couchman, C.I. S Barker, J.F. Standing, K. Takkis, H. Evard, A. Johnston, K. Herodes, I. Leito, K. Kipper, Utilization of data below the analytical limit of quantitation in pharmacokinetic analysis and modeling: promoting interdisciplinary debate, Bioanalysis. (2018) doi:10.4155/bio-2018-0078
- III K. Takkis, R. Veigure, T. Metsvaht, M. Hallik, M.-L. Ilmoja, J. Starkopf, K. Kipper, A Sensitive Method for the Simultaneous UHPLC-MS/MS Analysis of Milrinone and Dobutamine in Blood Plasma Using NH4F as the Eluent Additive and Ascorbic Acid as a Stabilizer, Clin. Mass Spectrom. (2019). doi:10.1016/J.CLINMS.2019.03.003
- IV R. Veigure, K. Lossmann, M. Hecht, E. Parman, R. Born, I. Leito, K. Herodes, & K. Kipper, Retention of acidic and basic analytes in reversed phase column using fluorinated and novel eluent additives for liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry. J. Chromatogr. A. (2019) https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chroma.2019.460667
- V M. Hallik, M. Ilmoja, T. Tasa, J. F. Standing, K. Takkis, **R. Veigure**, K. Kipper, T. Jalas, M. Raidmäe, K. Uibo, J. Starkopf, T. Metsvaht T, Population Pharmacokinetics and Dosing of Milrinone After Patent Ductus Arteriosus Ligation in Preterm Infants, Pediatr. Crit. Care Med. (2019) doi:10.1097/PCC.00000000001879
- VI M. Hallik, M. Ilmoja, J. F. Standing, H. Soeorg, T. Jalas, M. Raidmäe, K. Uibo, K. Köbas, M. Sõnajalg, K. Takkis, **R. Veigure**, K. Kipper, J. Starkopf, & T. Metsvaht, Population Pharmacokinetics and Pharmacodynamics of Dobutamine in Neonates on the First Days of Life, Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol. (2019) https://doi.org/10.1111/bcp.14146

Author's contribution

- Paper I: The main person responsible for planning and performing the experiments and for writing the manuscript.
- Paper II: The main person responsible for writing the chapter regarding different guidelines as well as managing references.
- Paper III: Carried out a part of the bioanalytical method validation and real sample analysis. The main person responsible for writing the manuscript.

- Paper IV: The main person responsible for planning and writing the manuscript. Performed the majority of the experiments.
- Paper V: Carried out a part of the bioanalytical method validation and real sample analysis.
- Paper VI: Carried out a part of the bioanalytical method validation and real sample analysis.

ABBREVIATIONS

ACN	acetonitrile
BLQ	below the limit of quantification
CID	collision induced dissociation
CLON01	Clonidine for Sedation of Paediatric Patients in the Intensive Care
	Unit
CNS	central nervous system
DAD	diode-array detector
DFA	difluoro acetic acid
DMSO	dimethyl sulfoxide
EMA	European Medicines Agency
ESI-MS	electrospray mass spectrometry
FA	formic acid
FTIR	Fourier-transform infrared spectroscopy
GABA	gamma-aminobutyric acid
HFIP	1,1,1,3,3,3-hexafluoro-2-propanol
HFTB	1,1,1,3,3,3-hexafluoro-2-methyl- 2-propanol
HPLC	high performance liquid chromatography
ICU	intensive care unit
LC	liquid chromatography
LoD	limit of detection
LLOQ	lower limit of quantification
m/z	mass-to-charge ratio
M3G	morphine-3-glucuronide
M6G	morphine-6-glucuronide
MeOH	methanol
MiOH	1'-hydroxymidazolam
MS	mass spectra/mass spectrometry
NFTB	nonafluoro- <i>tert</i> -butyl alcohol
NMR	nuclear magnetic resonance
NSAID	nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug
ODS	octadecylsilyl group
PD	pharmacodynamics
PDA	photodiode array detector
PFP	pentafluorophenyl stationary phase
РК	pharmacokinetics
PP	perfluoropinacol
RP	reversed phase
SEC	size exclusion chromatography
STD	aqueous standard buffer
TCA	tricyclic antidepressant
TFE	2,2,2-trifluoroethanol
TMS	trimethylsilyl group

- UHPLC
- ultra-high-pressure liquid chromatography ultra-performance liquid chromatography, name trademarked by UPLC® Waters Corporation ultraviolet/visible light
- UV/Vis

INTRODUCTION

Liquid chromatography (LC) is a well-known and much-employed technique by analytical chemists which has undergone significant improvements over the last century. A substantial advancement in the field was the coupling of an LC instrument to mass spectrometry (MS) detector. While this expanded the limits of analytes that can be detected and quantified, it also put a considerable restriction on how the analyte is delivered to the MS – both in terms of the LC mobile phase's volatility, as well as the prepared sample cleanliness.

In order to ensure an easier and often also a better detection of analytes in the MS samples need be separated from any possible lingering matrix and also from each other (in multi-analyte assays). The separation is done via analytical columns, which, due to the chemical properties of silica, historically have been and still are used in combination with acidic eluents. However, these conditions are not suited for pharmaceutical analysis (especially in the bioanalytical field), since the vast majority of analytes have basic properties, which results in them being insufficiently retained and poorly separated on a regular reversed-phase chromatography column.

A potential option to change elution patterns without changing the column or detector is presented by novel fluoroalcoholic eluent additives – weakly acidic compounds with weak ion-pairing capabilities and with a positive influence on analyte ionisation in the MS source. Two additives: 1,1,1,3,3,3-hexafluoro-2-propanol (HFIP) and 1,1,1,3,3,3-hexafluoro-2-methyl-2-propanol (HFTB) are already used in the analysis of oligonucleotides. Other fluorinated alcohols – perfluoropinacol (PP) and nonafluoro-*tert*-butyl alcohol (NFTB) are much less known, but they are no less interesting. Additionally, ammonium fluoride (NH₄F), 2,2,2-trifluoroethanol (TFE) and dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) have been reported to have a positive influence on either the analyte sample clean-up, or ionisation, thus presenting potential for exploration.

It is of interest to research and expand the knowledge about the highlighted compounds as LC-MS eluent additives. Furthermore, to study the influence on analyte retention not only on the C18 stationary phase, but also in the biphenyl and pentafluorphenyl (PFP) columns and to investigate the impact on analyte ionisation when novel additives are used in bioanalytical applications at more favourable mobile phase conditions – namely using a high pH.

As the research focuses on pharmaceutical analytes, two practical applications – method development and validations using a fluorinated eluent additive as a key ingredient for success, have been developed and successfully implemented in the analysis of real patient samples. Additionally, discussion about pharmacokinetically important data obtained from the bioanalytical methods that fall below the limits of quantification has been presented. The importance and perspectives for this data treatment will be outlined.

1. LITERATURE OVERVIEW

1.1. Liquid chromatography and instrumentation

The history of liquid chromatography (LC) begun more than a century ago as "classical column chromatography" when the separation of components from the mixtures was achieved in a glass tube filled with solid particles as the stationary phase. Initially, coloured samples (plant pigments) were analysed, as thus the separation could be monitored visually. While the technique has matured through time, the main principle has remained the same – the separation of a mixture, on the basis of solvent and stationary material, in both cases either polar or nonpolar, with continuous monitoring with a detector at the end. The detector signal is then plotted against time and called a "chromatogram". Modern LC instruments do not rely on gravity anymore, but use a high-pressure pump, to enable a faster and more efficient separation. Due to that, it is called high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC). [1]

In recent years, an even more powerful type of LC has become common, called either ultra-performance liquid chromatography (UPLC® – trademarked by Waters Corporation) or ultra-high-pressure liquid chromatography (UHPLC). The main difference between HPLC and UHPLC is that the latter uses pressures higher than UPLC®; in addition, it incorporates columns, which are packed with sub-2 μ m particles and instruments capable of withstanding pressures of more than 1,000 bars (100 MPa). This shortened the analysis time and an optimised resolution, faster results and a higher sensitivity. The generic term UHPLC focuses only on the high-pressure aspect. [2]

The LC system (Figure 1) in general can be coupled with a vast array of detectors, depending on the analytes in question. The most basic ones are ultraviolet/visible light (UV/Vis) or diode-array detectors (DAD)/photodiode array detectors (PDA) where detection is based on light absorption. While UV/Vis detectors have relatively high sensitivity, they are easy to operate, reliable and cheap, they are not very selective. Other available options include fluorescence, conductivity, refractive index, light-scattering, corona-charged aerosol detectors. [1]



Figure 1. The schematic of an HPLC system, consisting of 1 - solvent reservoirs, 2 - a high-pressure pump, 3 - a sample injection system, 4 - an analytical column, 5 - a detector and 6 - a data acquisition a platform.

The most versatile HPLC addition is a mass spectrometric (MS) detector. This detection type has become a reliable tool in bioanalytical methods, especially when analysing pharmaceuticals in biological matrices (most commonly human blood, plasma or urine). The MS extracts ions according to their mass-to-charge ratio (m/z), quite often protonated molecule [M+H]⁺. More sophisticated tandem-MS or hybrid-MS systems first isolate a precursor ion and fragment it into several product ions, which again are isolated or collectively scanned for. The latter provides the much-needed selectivity, as differently structured compounds can form ions of the same m/z. Other detectors include Fourier-transform infrared spectroscopy (FTIR) and nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR). [1], [3]

1.2. The stationary phase (column) and its role in analyte separation

The modern LC-column is still a tube, packed with particles carrying the stationary phase. Most commonly they are silica particles, but other types (e.g. zirconia or alumina) are also available. Silica particles have "functional groups" attached via siloxane bonds, which together can be considered the column's stationary phase (Figure 2). The functional groups determine what kind of analytes can be selectively retained. Columns with short carbon chains of C3, C4, or C5 functional groups are primarily used for separating proteins, while columns with diol groups are used in size exclusion chromatography (SEC). Traditionally, the columns are categorised by their functional group (C18, biphenyl etc.), particle size, column internal diameter and length. [1]



Figure 2. Different types of reversed phase columns organised according to functional groups (the figure does not show connecting $[-Si(CH_3)_2-]$ silane group). TMS – trimethylsilyl group, ODS – octadecylsilyl group.

1.2.1. Retention time and the retention factor

Retention time (t_R) is the time between the sample injection, and the apex of the peak of an analyte. The shortest retention time is found for compounds unretained on the column under used the chromatographic conditions and is called hold-up time, void volume or dead time t_0 . The retention factor k (sometimes also called the capacity factor) is defined as the time the sample component resides on the stationary phase, relative to the time it is located in the mobile phase (equation 1). [1], [4]

The retention factor is calculated with the following formula (1).

$$k = \frac{t_R - t_0}{t_0} \tag{1}$$

where k – retention factor, $t_{\rm R}$ – retention time, t_0 – dead time

A very precise value for k is usually not required for developing a method or during routine analysis, but it is preferable if the retention factor value lies between the values 1 and 10. If, for all peaks $k \leq 10$, it means there is an efficient use of resources – a shorter analysis run time per one sample and more samples analysed per day. Additionally, the obtained peaks are narrower and higher, which leads to improved detection. However, if k is below 1, analytes elute early in the chromatographic run, may have poor resolution and can be distorted by interferences from the matrix. This parameter can help with the evaluation and comparison of different methods and the analyte retention in the column. [1]

1.2.2. Interactions in the reversed-phase column

Taking into account all stationary phases, 80-90% assays use reversed-phase (RP) chromatography columns [5]. The basis of analyte retention on RP depends on the interactions between the analyte, the non-polar stationary phase (column) and the polar mobile phase (eluent). The column types used in this dissertation include the C18, biphenyl and pentafluorophenyl (PFP) stationary phases and are all representatives of RP chromatography. Altogether these interactions can be divided into eight types (Figure 3) – (1) hydrophobic interaction, (2) steric interaction (exclusion of large analyte molecules from the stationary phase), (3) and (4) are hydrogen bonding – between a donor and acceptor within the stationary phase – where one is basic and the other is acidic, either the analyte or the stationary phase, (5) ionic interaction, (6) dipole-dipole interaction and (7) π - π interactions between aromatic analytes and nitrile or (8) π - π interactions between aromatic analytes and nitrile or (8) π - π interactions between a phenyl group in the stationary phase. [1]



Figure 3. Analyte interactions with the column's stationary phase in RP.

Interactions 1-5 are important in any column; dipole-dipole interactions are relevant only in the case of the cyano-column, π - π interactions are present only for phenyl and cyano-stationary phases. Furthermore, acetonitrile (ACN) as mobile phase component inhibits dipole and π - π interactions. [1], [6] Hydrophobic interactions are deemed to be the most powerful in the C18 column [7], but other interactions can influence the selectivity of the RP column as well [1]. However, unlike the C18, biphenyl stationary phase has a very high hydrogenbonding capacity [7]. Also PFP stationary phases, when compared to alkyl phases, provide alternative retention and selectivity. This is due to the additional interactions (π - π , dipole, hydrogen bonding, and ionic interactions) which are not as dominant in the common alkyl stationary phases. For positively charged analytes, the dominating interaction is often ion-exchange. However, the prevalence of this interaction is very dependent on the column manufacturing process, as it is speculated that the main source of this interaction comes from ionised surface silanol groups, not the PFP ring system itself. In any case, due to the prevalence of ion-exchange interaction in the PFP column, it is especially important to monitor pH conditions. [8], [9]

1.2.3. Reversed phase column and pH

The most popular packing material of the RP phase columns is silica. Silica does not swell or shrink when in contact with organic solvents. Furthermore, it possesses high mechanical strength, which is especially needed for the highpressure conditions in HPLC. By now, both the manufacturing and mechanics of columns are well explored and reproducible [10]. Thus, silica appears to be the ideal substrate for mass production. Unfortunately, it also has a downside – namely, liability to deterioration [10], [11]. Columns with short-chain ligands like C3 are the most unstable at a low (below 2) pH. However, the mobile phase with pH > 8 can lead to the dissolution of silica packings. If the bonded phase is lost, it means that the column performance or so-called "column lifetime" decreases. The manufacturer provided recommendations should always be followed, especially for temperature and the mobile phase pH. [1] The deterioration rate depends on what type of functional groups are bonded to the silica, the eluent's composition, and a myriad of other experimental parameters. However, the process of the column's stationary phase breakdown due to the pH can be divided into two mechanisms [11]: silica dissolves even in the pH 2–7 and reaches saturation of 100 ppm [11], but if the pH rises above 7, the process speeds up considerably [12]. The backbone of silica breaks down, which greatly reduces the column's plate numbers (the parameter describing column's efficiency) and eventually results in the column clogging. In the case of an acidic pH, it is not silica but the covalent siloxane bond responsible for binding the functional groups that undergoes hydrolysis [12]. A high temperature significantly accelerates the degradation processes for both low and high pH mobile phases [1].

While the rapid deterioration in a high pH environment is unavoidable, the rate at which this happens varies greatly depending on the manufacturer. Resistance to a high pH depends primarily on the silica chosen as the substrate at the very beginning of column production, as well as the possible contamination with metals. [10], [11] There are multiple things employed nowadays for expanding the resistance to very high or low pH environments. One of them is obtained through a hybrid organic-inorganic process (silica-silane or zirconia based particles are resistant to a high pH) and results it in endcapping the unbonded silanol groups [1], [13]. If the bonded alkyl chains are longer, the resistance to a high pH increases as well, as long as the temperature remains below 40 °C [1], [10].

1.3. The mobile phase in LC

In RP-LC organic solvents are most common as mobile phases, using methanol (MeOH) and ACN in combination with deionised water. To further improve the analysis efficiency, mobile phase additives are commonly used as easily adjustable parameter. By supplying an extra additive, commonly a buffering agent, it is possible to change various properties of the mobile phase such as the pH, ionic strength or ion-pairing capabilities. The addition of an eluent additive can also influence the retention of the analyte in the column and the ionisation in the MS. [14] While coupling an MS facilitates a more precise detection as well as increases the variety of analytes possible to detect, it also introduces limitations. The greatest limitation of mass spectrometers is the requirement of the mobile phase to be volatile. This excludes many commonly used LC-UV/Vis eluent additives. For LC-MS systems, the most commonly used eluent additives (which are also relatively inexpensive) are thus acetic and formic acids (FA), their ammonium salts, as well as ammonium bicarbonate. The buffering range of ammonium bicarbonate is 6.8 < pH < 11.3. The buffering range of ammonium formate is $2.8 \le pH \le 4.8$ [15], while for ammonium acetate two buffer ranges can be achieved between $3.8 \le pH \le 5.8$ and $8.2 \le pH \le 10.2$. [14]–[16]

1.4. The importance of acid-base equilibrium

In the past, the separation of ionised analytes (containing basic, acidic or both of the functional groups) was rather complex, due to the lack of appropriate columns available and a limited understanding on how best to carry out analyses with these analytes. While these limitations have mostly been overcome, the ionised analytes still present a complex challenge. [1], [14] The charge (protonation) state and thus also the interactions of the analyte with other analytes, eluent additives or the stationary phase are determined by the pH of the environment. It is important that the mobile phase's pH should be both controlled and stable – which is achieved with the use of buffering agents. [14]

When an analyte (acid AH or base B) undergoes ionisation in the mobile phase due to the pH, it becomes more polar – either as a deprotonated acid A^- or a protonated base BH⁺. The retention factor can decrease more than 10 times due to this effect (Figure 4). [1]



Figure 4. The ionisation of acidic (AH) and basic (B) analytes as a function of the mobile phase's pH.

To further complicate matters, the addition of an organic solvent, either constantly or gradually, to the aqueous buffer (the pH of the water phase can be expressed as ^wwpH [17]) alters the pH of the mixture and therefore also the rate of the protonation/deprotonation of bases and acids. Hence, as critical as the pH of the aqueous component, also the pH of the whole eluent is important. This pH can be expressed either as the pH (pH_{abs}) [18] or the solvent-water pH (^swpH) [17]. The ^swpH value is obtained, when the electrode is calibrated in aqueous solutions, but the pH is subsequently measured in the organic-water mixture. This approach does not account for the liquid junction potential (LJP) at the pH-electrode in the eluent. It functions unlike pH_{abs}, which expresses the acidity of the mobile phase in terms of its proton's thermodynamic activity. Thus, the measured pH_{abs} values in different solvents, mixtures, etc. become comparable. [17]

The change in the eluent's pH due to the addition of an organic component, as well as the variation in the analyte's pK_a values, can be modelled. Based on both of these parameters, it is also possible to estimate the degree of the ionisation of the analytes and possibly predict the analyte elution patterns. The extent of changes depends on the organic component and its fraction in the eluent, the concentration of the buffer component and the aqueous pH, as well as the nature of the buffering system. For both MeOH and ACN, the pH alteration has a linear relationship with the volume fraction of the organic phase and the aqueous pH. The pK_a values of neutral or anionic acids, e.g. phenols, aliphatic and aromatic carboxylic acids, increase with the addition of an organic solvent. In contrast, the pK_a values of pyridines and amines, as cationic acids, decrease. [17]

Another important parameter that is influenced is the buffering capacity. It describes how much of a strong base or acid has to be added to a system to achieve one pH unit change in the solution. The highest buffer capacity is reached if the acid and the conjugated base species are in equal concentration – meaning that the pH of the solution is equal to the pK_a . The addition of the organic solvent to the mixture shifts the maximums of buffer capacities, however the scope of this influence is unique to every buffer. For anionic or neutral buffers (citric, acetic and phosphoric systems) this maximum is moved to a higher ^s_wpH, but for cationic acid buffers (ammonia) it is shifted to lower ^wwpH. Furthermore, the increase in the volume fraction of the MeOH in the eluent decreases the ^wwpH value for ammonia buffers. [17]

1.5. Novel eluent additives

The requirement of volatility for an eluent additive vastly decreased the number of usable buffers applicable with the LC-MS systems. Furthermore, analytes which can be ionised in the eluent demand careful consideration of their mobile phases. Thus, the need for novel eluent additives, compatible with MS systems has never been greater. One prospective group of novel eluent additives is fluoroalcohols (Table 1), which can also alter the selectivity of both mobile and stationary phases in LC.

The proposed way of action for fluoroalcohols is as follows – the fluorinated compounds cover the stationary phase, in the case of C18, and create a hydrophilic layer exposing their polar hydroxy (-OH) group to the mobile phase, which becomes a possible hydrogen bond donor. If the pH of the mobile phase is higher than the pK_a , the OH group becomes deprotonated and the anions of fluoroalcohols can create ion pairs with the protonated basic species both in the eluent and on the stationary phase. This results in an increase in retention. Acidic ionic analytes, however, are hindered due to a competition with fluoroalcohols for the surface on the stationary phase, as well as the repulsion by the deprotonated (-OH) groups. Thus, the retention of acidic analytes decreases. [25]

Name	Abb- reviation	CAS number	Structure	pK _a	p <i>K</i> _a reference
1,1,1,3,3,3- hexafluoro-2- propanol	HFIP	920-66-1	F ₃ C CF ₃	9.3	[19]
1,1,1,3,3,3- hexafluoro-2- methyl- 2- propanol	HFTB	1515-14-6	$H_{3}C \xrightarrow{OH}_{CF_{3}}C$	9.6	[20]
2,2,2- trifluoroethanol	TFE	75-89-8	F ₃ C ^{CH2} OH	12.5	[21]
perfluoropinacol	РР	918-21-8	$F_{3}C \xrightarrow{OH CF_{3}} CF_{3}CF_{3}$	$pK_{a1} = 5.95$ $pK_{a2} = 10.43$	[22]
nonafluoro- <i>tert-</i> butyl alcohol	NFTB	2378-02-1	$F_{3}C \xrightarrow{CF_{3}} CF_{3}$	5.33	[22]
difluoro acetic acid	DFA	381-73-7		0.013	[23]
ammonium fluoride	NH₄F	12125-01-8	$H = F^{-}$	-	-
dimethyl sulfoxide	DMSO	67-68-5	O H ₃ C CH ₃	35	[24]

Table 1. Promising novel eluent additives and their structures.

1.5.1. 1,1,1,3,3,3-Hexafluoro-2-propanol (HFIP)

Fluoroalcohols such as 1,1,1,3,3,3-hexafluoro-2-propanol (HFIP, Table 1) are well known as weakly acidic eluent additives in the analysis of oligonucleotides, mainly due their impressive signal enhancement properties [26]. HFIP also behaves as an ion-pairing reagent and has demonstrated how it can alter selectivity [25] and successfully improved results in the analysis of antibiotics (ofloxacin, ciprofloxacin, sulfadimethoxine, norfloxacin and sulfamethoxazole) in lettuce samples. [27] Just like any other alcohol, HFIP is an excellent solvent. However, it alters the function of cell membrane proteins as well as changes the properties of the lipid bilayers far stronger than its un-fluorinated alcohol counterpart. While unsaturated lipids can bind to HFIP without compromising the membrane's integrity, saturated lipids form particles with HFIP [28], [29]. The unique properties of HFIP, in forming strong hydrogen bonds (there can be many HFIP molecules per one head group of a lipid) and HFIP having a high octanol/water partition coefficient, can be named as reasons for this [28].

1.5.2. 1,1,1,3,3,3-Hexafluoro-2-methyl-2-propanol (HFTB)

Similarly to HFIP, also 1,1,1,3,3,3-hexafluoro-2-methyl- 2-propanol (HFTB, Table 1) is weakly acidic and has ion-pairing capabilities [25]. HFTB has also been used in the analysis for oligonucleotides, and depending on the oligonucleotide type, has produced an even higher signal enhancement than HFIP [26], [30].

1.5.3. Perfluoropinacol (PP)

Perfluoropinacol (PP) or 1,1,1,4,4,4-hexafluoro-2,3-bis(trifluoromethyl)butane-2,3-diol (Table 1) is a promising candidate as a fluorinated eluent additive possessing not one, but two OH groups. However, to the best of the author's knowledge, no previous research has been conducted with PP as an eluent additive.

1.5.4. Nonafluoro-tert-butyl alcohol (NFTB)

Scarce information can be found about nonafluoro-*tert*-butyl alcohol (NFTB, Table 1) as a possible eluent additive, except for one example in oligonucleotide research in which signal suppression was observed [26]. NFTB also has lipid bilayer destabilising properties, even greater than those of HFIP [29].

1.5.5. 2,2,2-Trifluoroethanol (TFE)

The use of the eluent additive 2,2,2-trifluoroethanol (TFE, Table 1) has been demonstrated as suitable for cleaning an LC system as well as columns from proteins and peptides without suppressing the MS signal [31]. Changes in an analyte's signal strength were also observed in oligonucleotide research. Rather than a straightforward enhancement or suppression, a higher charge state of the oligonucleotide is achievable with TFE, in contrast to HFIP, but it lacked good chromatographic properties [26]. Similarly to HFIP, also TFE has been proven to have lipid bilayer disruptive properties, albeit less strong than those of HFIP and NFTB [29].

1.5.6. Dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO)

Dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO, Table 1) is not yet a common eluent additive. However, it became a potential candidate to research when its positive influence on ionisation in the field of proteomics was discovered [32]–[34]. This was observed, when DMSO was used in low (5%) concentrations in the MS detection of peptides derived from trypsin, elastase or pepsin digestion [32].

1.5.7. Ammonium fluoride (NH₄F)

Ammonium fluoride (NH₄F, Table 1) has previously been successfully applied within our research group, and it showed a significant enhancement of the ionisation of steroid-like molecules in the positive ion detection mode [35]. Thus far, however, the research has focused on the effects of ammonium fluoride in the negative detection mode. A study was conducted which aimed to quantify brevetoxins – a polycyclic, lipid-soluble family of toxins originating from algae [36]. In favourable conditions, the algae rapidly reproduce and release brevetoxins, inducing toxicity in marine mammals, fish, and humans who consume contaminated shellfish. Since these analytes are lacking acidic groups, they produce only a very small signal in the negative mode electrospray mass spectrometry (ESI-MS). Multiple anions were researched, and it was discovered that, although brevetoxins formed ion adducts (for example [M+Cl]⁻, [M+Br]⁻, [M+OAc]⁻, [M+HCOO]⁻, [M+NO₃]⁻), it was NH₄F and bicarbonate which provided the necessary further fragmentation for identifying the toxins. Furthermore, NH₄F yielded more fragments and a far higher signal than bicarbonate. [36]

To avoid the usually employed derivatisation to increase the sensitivity for the detection of estrogen (both estrone E1 and oestradiol E2), the influx of fluoride ions was tested. They provided the needed improvement. [37] Similarly, for the two steroid hormones $\Delta 4$ - and $\Delta 7$ -dafachronic acid (isomers), NH₄F was successfully employed [38]. The effect of enhancement still appears to be analyte specific – as signal suppression is also possible [39]. Most probably, the mechanisms of ionisation enhancement in the negative mode originates from the strong basicity fluoride ions possess in the gas phase. This allows them to attract protons from neutral molecules. They produce HF, meanwhile forming [M+FHF]⁻ clusters and [M+F]⁻ ions. Meanwhile enhancements have also been observed in the positive ion detection mode for organic acids, using normal phase chromatography. [36], [40]

1.5.8. Difluoroacetic acid (DFA)

Difluoroacetic acid (DFA) is the only carboxylic acid from all researched eluent additives (Table 1). A promising application note has shown that DFA has both ion-pairing and signal enhancement properties, it additionally provides better peak shapes for peptide analysis when compared to other commonly used eluent additives such as formic acid (FA) and trifluoroacetic acid (TFA). [41]

1.6. Challenges in the bioanalytical applications for small molecules

Basic conditions for RP separation are best suited in the case of pharmaceutical analyte analyses since over 70% of the analytes have basic properties, but only approximately 20% are acids. Basic analytes are protonated when the eluent's pH is lower than the analyte's pK_a value and thus have poor retention in RP conditions [42]. However, because the high pH damages the silica-based analytical columns, acidic mobile phases have been preferred, which means the conditions for the analysis for basic analytes are less than satisfactory [1].

Meanwhile, there is a need for pharmacokinetic (PK) and pharmacodynamic (PD) studies of pharmaceutical analytes – especially in the complicated studies focusing on paediatric patients [43], [44]. Low concentrations of analytes needed to be quantified, and very limited amounts of allowed sampling volumes in term and preterm neonates, which result in a very small final sample volume are ever-present issues increasing the complexity of study management [45]–[47]. While the need for more sensitive and efficient methods increases, the data obtained still require to be reported with the same trustworthiness and strict validation as in other bioanalytical methods [48], [49].

Additionally, regarding the very low concentrations of an analyte and tight guidelines regulating what results can be released, a significant amount of the obtained data for PK/PD studies can and do fall below the limit of quantification (BLQ) and cannot be released – simply because of the BLQ data precision and the data missing accuracy. The reasons, why analyte concentrations fall BLQ are manifold, including that the drug concentration has decreased too much – especially for late time points in the PK studies [50]–[54], and when the parent drug degrades very rapidly [55]. Too low concentrations can also be a result of individual variability (the influence of how the drug is absorbed, excreted or degrades) [56]–[59] and the fact that the administered dose might simply have been too small [60]–[64]. The lack of data BLQ has forced scientist to use statistics to create a smaller bias and more accurate parameter estimates [65], [66].

Two types of medication requiring PK/PD studies in paediatric patients can be taken as examples – sedative and cardiovascular drugs. An area, where sedation is commonly needed, is the intensive care units (ICU). Due to the vulnerable patient population, only limited sample volumes are available. Additionally, the probability to have samples with a very low drug concentrations is large – possibly even below limits of quantification for methods not sensitive enough. [67] Moreover, there is increasing awareness of difficulties presented by oversedation and the simultaneous need to ensure sufficient sedation, while also matching individual needs [68]. Reduction in the usage of benzodiazepines by switching to alpha-2 adrenergic receptor agonists (e.g. clonidine) as an attempt to avoid the side effects (tolerance and withdrawal) are hindered due to a lack of data, research, and the understudied sedative requirements [68], [69]. As for cardiovascular drugs, the amount of paediatric patients (especially infants) who need milrinone has increased by four times since 2005, and there has been a steady increase in the administration of milrinone also in ICUs. The reasons for the administration of milrinone included persistent pulmonary hypertension, low cardiac output syndromes. Additional medication administered alongside milrinone is fentanyl, midazolam, furosemide and dobutamine. [70]

As mentioned previously, benzodiazepines are common in ICUs, the most popular being midazolam, lorazepam, and diazepam [71]. Midazolam has hypnotic, sedative and anxiety preventing properties [72] and, as a gamma-amino-butyric acid (GABA) agonist, it is metabolised in the liver to active metabolites [71]. In the case of midazolam, its primary active metabolite is 1'-hydroxymida-zolam (MiOH) [73].

Commonly used opioids in ICUs include morphine, hydromorphone, fentanyl, and remifentanil [71]. Morphine is highly addictive, and a tolerance to it develops equally fast [74]. More than a half (56%) of a morphine dose is metabolised to the active metabolites morphine-3-glucuronide (M3G) and 10% is converted into morphine-6-glucuronide (M6G). Other metabolites include hydromorphone and the non-active metabolite normorphine. [75] M3G and M6G are hydrophilic, but the latter crosses the blood-brain barrier more readily and has been deemed to have more potency as an analgesic than either M3G or morphine [76]. M3G and M6G especially present a challenge for MS detection, because both have the same molecular mass and fragmentation patterns – and produce a morphine ion $[M+H]^{-}$ during the fragmentation [77], [78]. Multiple bioanalytical methods have been developed with varying success in separation of the M3G and M6G as distinct peaks. Largely separation has been achieved [77], [78], however, in some assays – [74], [79], [80] it has been more problematic, with M3G and M6G eluting early during the chromatographic run and/or with morphine, M3G and M6G peaks close to each other.

The administration of clonidine lowers the blood pressure and decreases the heart rate because it stimulates the alpha (2)-adrenoceptors in the central nervous system (CNS) [81]. Due to this, clonidine is not only used as an antihypertensive drug, but also for analgesia and sedation [82]. However, in ICUs the main use of clonidine is treating withdrawal symptoms as well as the addition of clonidine to the sedation regimen allowed to lower the opioid dosage [71].

Milrinone affects the muscle contractions in the muscle tissue of the heart as well as the vascular smooth muscle by inhibiting the enzyme phosphodiesterase 3. Therefore, the inhibitors of the enzyme have a therapeutic influence also on

the lungs, not only the heart. The elimination half-time for milrinone is 2.3 hours, with two main excretion products (via urine) – milrinone (83%) and its glucuronide metabolite (12%) [83].

Dobutamine lowers central venous and pulmonary artery wedge pressures, increases cardiac output and alleviates congestive heart failure symptoms; however, it can also lead to arrhythmia at high dosages. It is commonly used following heart surgery, as well as for patients, who are suffering a heart attack or are in various states of shock [84]. In paediatric patients (neonates), dobutamine is used to treat circulatory compromise, for example in the case of septic shock or after birth asphyxia, as well as to support the transitional circulation in very preterm infants [85].

2. AIMS OF THE STUDY

The general aim of this dissertation was to further research and expand the selection of different novel eluent additives (such as fluorinated compounds) for bioanalysis using LC-MS or HPLC-UV/Vis systems and to study their influence on analyte retention on different stationary phases, as well as ionisation efficiency (in the case of MS detection).

This objective was achieved through:

- evaluating the suitability of novel eluent additives for analysis using LC-MS and/or HPLC-UV/Vis systems
- comparing novel eluent additives and the conventionally used buffer compositions
- investigating the retention mechanisms for acidic and basic analytes within different column stationary phases, eluent additives and eluent pH values
- conducting a practical application of the novel eluent additives in bioanalytics.

3. EXPERIMENTAL

3.1. Reagents

Analytes

4-nitrobenzoic acid, 4-dimethylaminopyridine, diphenylguanidine, 2,4-dichlorophenol, 2,3,4,5,6-pentafluorophenol, 2-nitrophenol, 2,3,5,6-tetrafluorophenol, phenol, p-cresol, hydroquinone, 3-nitroaniline, 4-chloro-2-nitroaniline, diisopropylamine, piperidine, cyclohexylamine, pyrrolidine, aniline, 4-chloroaniline, 1-naphthylamine, histamine, 4-fluoroaniline, 2,6-dimethylpyridine, 2-methylpyridine and 2-methoxypyridine were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich (Missouri, USA). The following compounds and their respective stable isotope labelled internal standards (IS): M3G, M6G, morphine, clonidine, MiOH, midazolam, M3G-D3, M6G-D3, morphine-D6 and MiOH-D4 were purchased from Cerilliant (Texas, USA). Clonidine-D4 and midazolam-D6 were obtained from the Toronto Research Chemicals Inc. (Toronto, Canada). Milrinone (United States Pharmacopeia Reference Standard) and dobutamine hydrochloride (United States Pharmacopeia Reference Standard) were obtained from Sigma Aldrich (Missouri, USA). Internal standard (IS) dobutamine-D4 hydrochloride was obtained from Toronto Research Chemicals (Ontario, Canada) and milrinone-D3 from TLC Pharmaceutical Standards (Ontario, Canada).

Pregabalin, gabapentin, levetiracetam, zuclopenthixol, aripiprazole, gliclazide, cyclizine hydrochloride, naloxone hydrochloride dihydrate, quinine, atenolol, bisoprolol, cetirizine dihydrochloride, chlorpheniramine maleate salt, chlorprothixene hydrochloride, diclofenac sodium salt, diltiazem hydrochloride, mirtazapine, naproxen, norsertraline hydrochloride solution, phencyclidine hydrochloride, procyclidine hydrochloride, propranolol hydrochloride were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich (Missouri, USA).

LC/MS toxicology submixes: 2, 3, 4, 6, 9A, 9B, 9C and 9D were obtained from Agilent Technologies, Inc. (USA)

Eluent additives

1,1,1,3,3,3-hexafluoro-2-propanol (HFIP), 1,1,1,3,3,3-hexafluoro-2-methyl-2propanol (HFTB), 2,2,2-trifluoroethanol (TFE), 1,1,1,4,4,4-hexafluoro-2,3bis(trifluoromethyl)butane-2,3-diol (PP), 1,1,1,3,3,3-hexafluoro-2-trifluoromethyl-2-propanol (NFTB), dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO), ammonium fluoride (NH₄F), formic acid, ammonium acetate, ammonium bicarbonate and a 25% NH₄OH solution were LC-MS grade and obtained from Sigma-Aldrich (Missouri, USA). IonHanceTM DFA was kindly donated by the Waters Corporation.

Other

Both LC-MS grade and LC-MS Ultra grade MeOH were obtained from Sigma Aldrich (Missouri, USA), the water was purified (18.2 M Ω ·cm at 25 °C and the total organic carbon (TOC) value 2–3 ppb) in-house using a Millipore Advantage A10 system from Millipore (Bedford, USA). The water used for experi-

ments with LC-QTOF was LC-MS grade purchased from Fisher Chemical (Fisher Scientific, Waltham, USA). Ascorbic acid (reagent grade) was obtained from Sigma Aldrich (Missouri, USA). The plasma and whole blood were purchased from the Blood Bank of Tartu University Hospital.

3.2. Instrumentation: chromatographic conditions and detection

3.2.1. Shimadzu LCMS-2020 system [IV]

Chromatographic conditions

The Shimadzu LCMS-2020 system (Shimadzu Corporation, Japan) consisted of an autosampler SIL-30AC (set at 4 °C), a binary pump LC-20AD-XR, and a column compartment CTO-20AC at 40 °C as well as MS and PDA detectors. Before conducting the experiments, the column was equilibrated for 1.5 h, using the chosen aqueous solution with eluent additive/buffer for the experiment. The elution mode was isocratic elution, with 25% of MeOH at the flow rate of 0.2 mL/min for the C18 column (Agilent Zorbax RRHD Extend C18 (2.1 × 100 mm, 1.8 µm), resistant to the pH range from 2.0 to 11.5 (Agilent Technologies, Inc. USA)). The column was thermostated at 40 °C. The analysis run time was determined depending on the analyte. For all experiments, the injection volume of the sample was 5 µL.

Detection

Both PDA and MS detectors were employed for the detection of the analytes. The chosen detection mode (only MS, only UV/Vis or both MS and UV/Vis) depended on the analyte. Shimadzu (Shimadzu Corporation, Japan) PDA detector (SPD-M20A model), recorded between 190 to 700 nm (600 ± 50 nm as a reference wavelength); however, the extracted 254 ± 2 nm wavelength was used for UV chromatograms. The MS operated in scanning mode, with the mass-to-charge (m/z) ranges depending on the analytes in question (m/z 150–700 for the analysis of eluent additives, m/z 50–200 for analytes,). The interface temperature was 350 °C, DL temperature 250 °C, heat block temperature 200 °C. Nebulising gas flow was 1.5 L/min and drying gas flow 15 L/min. Both positive and negative ion modes were used. The analytes were detected either as [M+H]⁺ or [M-H]⁻.

3.2.2. ABSciex API 4000 system [IV]

The TFE MS spectrum was obtained with an ABSciex API 4000 (AB Sciex Pte Ltd, Australia), using negative ionisation. The MS was set to a scanning mode between m/z 40–120. The solution infused with the flowrate 10 uL/min was 1% TFE in a H₂O/MeOH mixture (50/50, v/v) with 0.1 % NH₄OH.

3.2.3. Agilent 1200 Infinity LC system [IV]

The Agilent 1200 Infinity LC system (Agilent Technologies, Inc. USA) consisted of an autosampler, a binary pump, and a UV/Vis detector with 5-channels. Chromatograms were recorded at 254 ± 2 nm wavelength (using 360 ± 50 nm as a reference wavelength).

The column in use was Agilent ZORBAX Extend C18 (2.1×100 mm, 3.5μ m) and was reported to be resistant between pH 2.0 to 11.5 by the manufacturer (Agilent Technologies, Inc., USA). The column was equilibrated for 1.5 h, using the aqueous solution with an eluent additive/buffer depending on the following experiments. The flow rate used was 0.5 mL/min, with isocratic elution with 25% of MeOH. The column was kept at room temperature. For all experiments, the analysis run time was determined depending on the analyte and the injection volume of the sample was 5 μ L.

3.2.4. Agilent Infinity II 1290 LC system with Agilent Ultivo mass spectrometer

Chromatographic conditions

The Agilent Infinity II 1290 LC system consisted of an autosampler, a binary pump and a mini MS detector Ultivo (Agilent Technologies, Inc., USA). Before experiments, the column was equilibrated for 1.5 h, using the chosen eluent. The elution mode was isocratic, with 25% of MeOH at the flow rate of 0.5 mL/min. The column used was Kinetex Biphenyl (2.1×100 mm, 2.6μ m), resistant to the pH range from 1.5 to 10 under isocratic conditions (Phenomenex Inc. USA). The column was thermostated at 40 °C. The analysis run time was determined depending on the analyte. For all experiments, the injection volume of the sample was 5 μ L.

Detection

The Agilent Ultivo MS was used for the detection of the analytes. The MS operated in scanning mode, with the m/z ranges depending on the analytes in question (m/z 150–700 for the analysis of eluent additives, m/z 50–200 for analytes). The simultaneous positive and negative ion detection mode was used. The analytes were detected either as $[M+H]^+$ or $[M-H]^-$.

3.2.5. Agilent Infinity II 1290 LC system with Agilent QTOF 6545B mass spectrometer

Chromatographic conditions

The Agilent with QTOF 6545B (Agilent Technologies, Inc. USA) system consisted of a thermostated column compartment, a binary pump and an isocratic pump (used in the flow rate 1 mL/min, with a splitter for a dual-probe ion source), and an autosampler (kept at 4 °C). Analytical columns with three different stationary phases were used:

- Agilent ZORBAX Eclipse Plus C18 (2.1 × 100 mm, 1.8 μm) resistant to the pH range from 2–9 (Agilent Technologies, Inc. USA);
- Kinetex Biphenyl (2.1 × 100 mm, 2.6 μm) resistant to the pH range from 1.5–10 (Phenomenex Inc. USA);
- Restek Raptor FluoroPhenyl (PFP) resistant to the pH range from 2.0–8.0 (2.1 × 100 mm, 2.7 μm) (donated by Restek Corporation, USA).

The column compartment was maintained at 40 °C. The eluents (both phases A and B) were composed depending on the analysis (Table 2). If needed, the pH was adjusted with a 20% NH_4OH solution.

Column	Aqueous phase A	Organic phase B	
C18	5 mM ammonium formate and 0.01%	MeOH with 5 mM	
	formic acid (v/v)	0.01% formic acid (v/v)	
	5 mM ammonium formate and 0.01% DEA (y/y)	MeOH with 5 mM ammonium formate and	
	DIA(V/V)	0.01% DFA (v/v)	
	0.15% DFA (v/v)	MeOH	
Biphenyl	5 mM ammonium acetate (v/v), pH 8.5		
	5 mM ammonium acetate (v/v), pH 9.0	MaOH	
	5 mM HFTB (v/v), pH 8.5	меон	
	5 mM HFTB (v/v), pH 9.0		
PFP	5 mM ammonium formate and 0.01%	МеОН	
	formic acid (v/v), pH 4.0		
	5 mM HFTB (v/v), pH 8.5		
	5 mM HFTB (v/v), pH 9.0		

Table 2. The eluent composition used with different analytical columns.

The gradient elution patterns can be seen in Table 3 (with 1 min post time). The used flow rate was 0.400 mL/min.

Table 3. The gradient programme for the separation of the analytes included in the toxicology screening experiments.

Time, min	Aqueous phase A, %	Organic phase B (MeOH), %
0	95	5
1	95	5
10	0	100
12	0	100
12.1	95	5
13	95	5

Detection

Agilent QTOF 6545B mass spectrometer (Santa Clara, USA) was used for the detection of the analytes. The spectral data was recorded with these parameters: positive ion scan (30 V) with scan-rate 3 and the m/z scanning range m/z 40–1000. Through the dual-probe ion source a reference ion solution (with ions m/z 121.0509 and 922.0098) was delivered to ensure mass accuracy. The data were compared against in-house standard drug and metabolite libraries, which contain MS/MS spectra, empirical formulae, and retention times from inhouse reference standards.

The following mass analyser settings were used: drying gas flow rate 12 L/min, drying gas temperature 250 °C, nebuliser pressure 35 psi (0.241 MPa), sheath gas flow (12 L/min) and sheath gas temperature 350 °C, nozzle voltage (300 V) and capillary voltage (3,500 V), fragmentor voltage (150 V), skimmer voltage (65 V) and Oct 1 RF Vpp (750 V).

3.2.6. Agilent 1290 Infinity UHPLC system with Agilent 6495 Triple Quadrupole mass spectrometer [I, III, V, VI]

Analysis of morphine, clonidine and midazolam and their metabolites [I]

A detailed description of the chromatographic conditions and detection for the analysis of three sedative drugs (morphine, clonidine and midazolam) and their metabolites (M3G, M6G and MiOH) can be found in the paper [I].

Analysis of milrinone and dobutamine [III; V; VI]

A detailed description of the chromatographic conditions and detection for the analysis of two cardiovascular drugs (milrinone and dobutamine) can be found in the paper [III].

3.3. Methods

3.3.1. Methods for the retention mechanism studies [IV]

Stock solution and working standard solution preparation

Aqueous working standard solutions were prepared in varying concentrations from 0.1, 10 to 50 μ g/mL – depending on the analyte. All analyte standard solutions were prepared in either 0.1 % formic acid and 1 mM ammonium acetate in H₂O/MeOH (8/2, v/v) solution (experiments for C18 columns) or H₂O/MeOH (8/2, v/v) solution (experiments with biphenyl columns). All prepared standard solutions were filtered using a 0.45 μ m regenerated cellulose filter (Captiva Econofilter, Agilent Technologies, Inc., USA) prior to injection to the LC-MS system.

Solutions for the eluent additives retention experiments were prepared with the concentration of a 0.1% eluent additive (HFIP, HFTB, PP and NFTB) in water (v/v).

Buffer composition

An aqueous standard buffer (STD) was prepared with the final concentration of 0.1% formic acid and 1 mM ammonium acetate in water. The pH of the STD buffer was 2.8.

All other aqueous solutions with eluent additive/buffers used for the retention mechanism studies (ammonium bicarbonate, ammonium acetate, NH_4F , HFTB, HFIP, DMSO, PP, NFTB and TFE) had the concentration of 5 mM of the eluent additive (in water). The required pH (8.5, 9.0 or 10.0) was reached with the addition of a sufficient amount (depending on the eluent additive) of NH_4OH solution in water. The buffers containing DFA were prepared, as shown in Table 2.

Dead time acquisition and column's performance

In order to continuously monitor the column's performance and to obtain the value of dead time (t_0) , a mixture of analytes (acetophenone, acetone, benzene, naphthalene and toluene) was injected into the system. The t_0 was recorded as the retention time of the acetone peak, and the value was obtained as the average retention time from further subsequent injections.

The manufacturers recommendations for the best handling of a column were noted. However, since the research focused on expanding the knowledge of retention mechanisms in high pH environment, it was not always possible to adhere to those limitations.

Experimental solvent-water pH $\binom{s}{w}$ pH) and pH_{abs} measurements in mobile phases

Along with the conventional $^{w}_{W}$ pH values, also the ($^{s}_{W}$ pH) and pH_{abs} values were measured. For the $^{s}_{W}$ pH measurements, a Mettler Toledo InLab Micro pH-electrode was used. Before every measurement series, two-point calibration was done, using buffer solutions at pH 7 and pH 10. A glass beaker with a magnetic stirrer and 50 mL of the mobile phase (75% aqueous solution with eluent additive, 25% MeOH, v/v), was covered with a polystyrene foam cap (to avoid evaporation). All mobile phases were measured at least twice and in random order. During the series, also calibration buffer solutions were remeasured to evaluate drift. The standard deviation of all $^{s}_{W}$ pH measurement results was 0.05 pH units, which indicates good consistency. The $^{s}_{W}$ pH readings of the mobile phases for two eluent additives – DMSO and TFE exhibited considerable drift, so readings were taken after a constant time (5 min) from the immersion of the electrode.

A detailed method description of measuring the pH_{abs} and anchoring the ${}^{s}_{w}pH$ measured values can be found in [IV].

In this dissertation, when the term pH is mentioned, it refers to the aqueous phase pH ($^{w}_{w}$ pH), unless stated otherwise.

3.3.2. Separation of common toxicology screening compounds

Preparation of a working standard solution

All analytes in the concentration 0.1 μ g/mL were prepared by the appropriate dilution of previously made sub-stocks (with a concentration 1–100 mg/mL) with MeOH and an LC-MS grade water mixture 20/80 (v/v).

3.3.3. Analysis of morphine, clonidine and midazolam and their metabolites [I]

A detailed description of the preparation of stock solutions, calibrators, quality control and real samples for the analysis of three sedative drugs (morphine, clonidine and midazolam) and their metabolites (M3G, M6G and MiOH) can be found in the paper [I].

3.2.4. Analysis of milrinone and dobutamine [III]

A detailed description about of the preparation of stock solutions, calibrators, quality control and real samples for the analysis of two cardiovascular drugs (milrinone and dobutamine) can be found in the paper [III].
4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

4.1. Retention mechanisms in standard solutions

4.1.1. The set of model analytes on various RP stationary phases

In order to research how novel eluent additives influence analyte retention in different reversed-phase analytical columns, a simple set of analytes with different functional groups, pK_a and logP values were chosen. On the basis of these criteria, the analytes were divided into groups (Figure 5): acids (AH) and bases (B). The two main groups were then further divided into four subgroups, depending on the form in which the analyte is (predominantly) present at the researched eluent pH, in the range of 8.5 to 10.0: either as ionised analytes (A⁻ or BH⁺) or non-ionised/neutral (AH or B) analytes.



Figure 5. The selection of analytes for retention mechanism studies and the division of the analytes into groups and sub-groups based on their acidic and basic properties.

Furthermore, the measurements of the pH, after the addition of methanol were carried out, so see how well the ^w_wpH correspond after the addition of the organic phase – MeOH (^s_wpH). As presented in Table 4, for eluent the additives ammonium acetate and bicarbonate, HFIP, HFTB and PP no value has larger difference than 0.35 units.

Eluent additive	wwwpH	^s pН	pH _{abs}	pH _{abs} – ^w _w pH
Ammonium acetate	8.50	8.39	8.17	-0.33
Ammonium acetate	9.00	8.92	8.70	-0.30
Ammonium acetate	10.00	9.91	9.69	-0.31
Ammonium bicarbonate	8.50	8.56	8.35	-0.15
Ammonium bicarbonate	9.00	9.01	8.80	-0.20
Ammonium bicarbonate	10.00	10.01	9.79	-0.21
HFIP	8.50	9.05	8.83	0.33
HFIP	9.00	9.39	9.18	0.18
HFIP	10.00	10.08	9.87	-0.13
HFTB	8.50	9.07	8.85	0.35
HFTB	9.00	9.42	9.20	0.20
HFTB	10.00	10.15	9.94	-0.06
РР	8.50	8.42	8.20	-0.30
РР	9.00	8.90	8.68	-0.32
РР	10.00	9.93	9.71	-0.29

Table 4. Results of the ${}^{s}_{w}$ pH (the pH of the eluent consisting of 75% aqueous solutions with eluent additive, 25% MeOH, v/v) and pH_{abs} measurements.

The full data set of the measured retention factors is accessible via the supplementary material of paper [IV]. Data were gathered for 25 analytes (Table 5). Out of those, 13 were not ionised at the researched pH values: eight were predominantly neutral basic analytes (B) and five were predominantly neutral acidic analytes (AH). Eleven analytes were predominantly ionised – five deprotonated acidic analytes (A⁻) and six protonated basic analytes (BH⁺). One analyte, due to possessing two functional groups and two p K_a values, falls under both the B and BH⁺ groups.

From the whole data set, the interaction between three analytes (4-nitrobenzoic acid, 4-dimethylaminopyridine and diphenylguanidine) and PP and NFTB eluent additives were studied with a C18 column. **Table 5.** Overview of the 25 studied analytes including aqueous pK_a [86] and $\log P$ [86] values. The analytes in the bold script have also been previously reviewed in Kipper et al. [25]. The analytes in the italic script were researched only with the eluent additives PP and NFTB



4.1.2. Retention mechanisms on the C18 stationary phase [IV]

4.1.2.1. Changes in analyte retention

Conventional eluent additives (ammonium acetate and ammonium bicarbonate)

For the predominantly deprotonated acids (the A⁻ group, analytes with $pK_a < 7.9$), a consistent overall decrease in the retention factors with an increase of the pH (Figure 6) was observed. The reason for the shorter retention factors is the shift in the equilibria between the analyte's deprotonated form A⁻ (which is in the majority, at the researched eluent pH) and that of the neutral AH form. The amount of the AH form decreases with the increase of the pH, which results in the analyte being poorly retained on the C18 phase. Overall, the retention factors obtained with the ammonium bicarbonate were shorter than those obtained when ammonium acetate was used as the eluent additive. The difference arises due to slightly higher ${}^{s}_{w}$ pH values of the analyte is in the AH form and therefore is retained less.







Figure 6. Retention factors of the analytes from the deprotonated acidic (A⁻) group when using ammonium acetate and bicarbonate as eluent additives at the pH values of 8.5, 9.0 and 10.0.

As for neutral acids (the AH group, analytes with $pK_a > 9.9$), the retention factors somewhat decreased with the increase in the pH; however, no significant difference was observed between the eluent additives (Figure 7). The decrease in retention may indicate a decrease in the analyte's AH form (as the pK_a values of the majority of the analytes were around 10), therefore the analyte becomes more polar and is less retained on the non-polar C18 stationary phase.



Figure 7. Retention factors of the analytes from the neutral acidic (AH) group when using different eluent additives at the pH values of 8.5, 9.0 and 10.0. Due to a very low retention factor values for hydroquinone, also the numerical values are shown.

The same as the acids in the AH neutral group, also the neutral basic analytes (B group, analytes with $pK_a \leq 6.6$) showed stable retention factors across the three researched eluent pH values (Figure 8). When ammonium bicarbonate was used as the eluent additive, the variation in retention times was higher; however, no clear relationship could be observed.



□ 1-naphthylamine □ 2,6-dimethylpyridine □ 4-chloroaniline ■ 2-methoxypyridine



Figure 8. Retention factors of the analytes from the neutral basic (B) group when using both conventional (ammonium acetate and bicarbonate) and novel (HFIP, HFTB) eluent additives at the pH values of 8.5, 9.0 and 10.0.

For the basic polar analytes' group (BH⁺, analytes with $pK_a \ge 9.6$), an increase in the retention factors was observed with an increase in the pH (Figure 9). Both conventional buffers (especially ammonium acetate) had a steep increase (4–8 times) in retention factors when comparing values obtained at eluent the pH 9.0 and 10.0. This "jump" can be explained by the change in the majority of analyte's form – to B at the pH 10.0 (which is close to the analyte's pK_a), while at the pH 8.5 and 9.0, the larger part (if not all) of the analyte was in its protonated form BH⁺, thus polar and poorly retained. Ammonium acetate

showed slightly lower retention factors than those obtained with ammonium bicarbonate. The difference in retention can again be explained with difference in ${}^{s}_{w}$ pH values (Table 4) for ammonium acetate and bicarbonate buffers. A higher ${}^{s}_{w}$ pH (in case of ammonium bicarbonate) means larger part of analyte is in B form and thus is retained more on in C18 column.



Figure 9. Retention factors of the analytes from the protonated basic (BH⁺) group when using ammonium acetate and bicarbonate eluent additives at the pH values of 8.5, 9.0 and 10.0.

Fluoroalcohols HFIP and HFTB

When compared to commonly used eluent additives (ammonium acetate and bicarbonate), the retention factors obtained when using HFIP and HFTB as eluent additives created different trends for different analytes and analyte groups. The main trends observed (for the same analyte) were also different between HFIP and HFTB (unlike when ammonium acetate and bicarbonate were used).

Overall, lower retention factors were seen compared to conventional eluent additives (Figure 10) in the deprotonated acid (A⁻) group and mostly a decrease in the retention factors with an increase in the pH was observed). Both of the two analytes – fluorinated phenols – 2,3,4,5,6-pentafluorophenol and 2,3,5,6-tetrafluorophenol – have similar hydrophobicity and the same pK_a value (5.53). Thus, they also display similar behaviour and retention factors. For both analytes, using HFIP as the eluent additive decreased their retention factors by 2–4 times and when HFTB was used as the eluent additive, the retention factors decreased by 1.4–6 times when compared to ammonium acetate at the same pH

value. The overall decrease in retention for acidic analytes, especially those which are ionised, has been observed by Kipper et al. [25]. This supports the proposed theory that acidic analytes both compete with novel eluent additives for a place on the stationary phase and are repelled by the fluorous phase that novel eluent additives create on top of the stationary phase. Furthermore, decrease in retention with increase of the pH of mobile phase arises due to pK_a values of HFIP and HFTB. As acidic analytes larger fraction of HFIP and HFTB becomes deprotonated and thus increasingly repulsed to already deprotonated acidic analytes.



 $\blacksquare 2,3,4,5,6\text{-pentafluorophenol} \blacksquare 2,3,5,6\text{-tetrafluorophenol} \blacksquare 2,4\text{-dichlorophenol}$



Figure 10. Retention factors of the analytes from the deprotonated acidic (A^{-}) group when using both conventional (ammonium acetate and -bicarbonate – greyed out as the data were already presented in Figure 6 and were added here as comparison) and novel (HFIP, HFTB) eluent additives at the pH values of 8.5, 9.0 and 10.0.

As for the neutral acidic analyte group AH, similarly to the conventional eluent additives – ammonium acetate and bicarbonate (Figure 7) – also novel fluorinated eluent additives HFIP and HFTB presented no clear trend of decrease or increase in the retention factors (Figure 11), even if the retention factors presented a larger variation between different eluent pH values. Overall, with fluorinated additives a decrease in the retention factors was observed. This implies that the previously mentioned relationship of competition between the acidic analytes (more apparent in the A⁻ group, Figure 6 and Figure 10) and novel fluoro-alcoholic eluent additives also apply in the case of analytes, which are either in the neutral form or ionised only to a small degree.



Figure 11. Retention factors of the analytes from the neutral acidic (AH) group when using both conventional (ammonium acetate and -bicarbonate – greyed out as the data were already presented in Figure 7 and were added here as comparison) and novel (HFIP, HFTB) eluent additives at the pH values of 8.5, 9.0 and 10.0. Due to the very low retention factor values for hydroquinone, also the numerical values are shown.

In the case of the neutral basic analytes group (B, Figure 8), neither a significant change in the retention factor nor any trends were apparent when HFIP and HFTB were used as eluent additives. The only analyte from the group, which displayed a clear trend of increase in the retention factors with an increase of the pH, only when HFTB was used as the eluent additive, was the strongest basic analyte -2,6-dimethylpyridine (p K_a 6.60) from the B analyte group.

Most of the analytes from the protonated bases group (BH^+) displayed a significant increase in the retention factors with the increase of the eluent pH (Figure 12), as well as presented visually significant differences in elution patterns between different eluent additives. This can be explained by both a change of the mobile phase pH and the ion-pairing properties of fluoroalcohols.



Figure 12. Retention factors of the protonated basic (BH^+ group) analytes when HFIP and HFTB eluent additives are used and the pH is changed from 8.5 to 10.0 as compared to common eluent additives (ammonium acetate and -bicarbonate – greyed out as the data were already presented in Figure 9 and were added here as comparison).

Both HFIP and HFTB strongly increased retention for the protonated basic group (BH⁺) analytes, when compared to ammonium acetate or carbonate at the same pH values. When HFIP is compared to HFTB, the latter demonstrated larger retention factors. The most significant difference in the retention factors was observed for cyclohexylamine – an analyte, which is the weakest base in the group (has the smallest pK_{a} ,). For cyclohexylamine, the retention factor increased by 28 times when HFIP was used and by 35 times when HFTB was used as the eluent additive at the pH 9.0 when compared to the retention factors of ammonium acetate at the same pH.

DMSO and fluoroalcohol TFE

Aqueous solutions made with either TFE or DMSO as eluent additives had very little to no buffering capacity. Thus, TFE and DMSO solutions needed a minimal amount of NH_4OH to reach the needed pH values of 8.5 and 9.0. Initially, the main cause for the instability of the pH over time was deemed to be the evaporation of NH_4OH , and thus, the average stability of the pH for the DMSO/TFE solutions was evaluated (with measurements of the pH over time) to be no more than 3 hours. However, the main cause of the change in the pH,

as well as inexplicable results, was the addition of an organic solvent. It changed the ${}_{w}^{s}$ pH dramatically, as shown in Table 6.

Eluent additive	wwwpH	^s pH	pH _{abs}	$pH_{abs} - {}^w_w pH$
DMSO	8.50	7.68	7.46	-1.04
DMSO	9.00	7.62	7.40	-1.60
DMSO	10.00	9.92	9.70	-0.30
TFE	8.50	7.45	7.23	-1.27
TFE	9.00	7.59	7.38	-1.62
TFE	10.00	9.94	9.73	-0.27

Table 6. Results of the ${}^{s}_{w}pH$ (the pH of the eluent consisting of 75% aqueous solutions with an eluent additive, 25% MeOH, v/v) and pH_{abs} measurements. The concentration of the eluent additive in the water solution was 5 mM.

Both DMSO and TFE essentially behave as neutral compounds at the researched eluent pH values. This is different from other researched eluent additives, which behave as acids. Therefore, DMSO and TFE cannot form a buffer solution, and the only buffering capacity was dependent on the small amounts of added NH₄OH. Since the ^w_wpH and pH_{abs} values of these mobile phases should be considered as dubious, DMSO and TFE are not suited as eluent additives for researching and use as basic buffers with ^w_wpH values below 10.

Novel fluoroalcohols: perfluoropinacol (PP) and NFTB

In parallel, also two additional promising fluorinated eluent additives: PP and NFTB were studied for a smaller set of analytes. For protonated basic (BH⁺) analytes, PP demonstrated a dramatic increase in retention (Figure 13). At the pH 8.5, diphenylguanidine was retained 41 for times longer than when PP was used as the eluent additive (in comparison to ammonium acetate). Additionally, diphenylguanidine's retention decreased at the pH 10.0, which is not the expected relationship for a basic protonated analyte. The likely reason for this is structural differences – unlike HFIP, HFTB and NFTB, which have one hydroxy group, the PP has two, and thus also two pK_a values. At the pH 8.5 and 9.0, the majority of perfluoropinacol in the eluent is in a monoanionic form (because the pK_{a1} value is 5.95 in water). Since PP's second (pK_{a2}) value is 10.42 (in water), it can be assumed that, at the pH 10.0, the second OH group undergoes the loss of a proton, at least partially. Diphenylguanidine's pK_a value is 10.12. At the pH 10.0 also the amount of its deprotonated form increases and thus becomes less attracted to the increasingly anionic PP at pH 10.0.

As for other analyte groups, the relationships observed fell in line with previous conclusions: analytes in the deprotonated acid (A) group had a decrease in the retention factors with an increase in the mobile phases' pH. In





Figure 13. Retention factors of the protonated basic (BH^+ group) analytes when PP and NFTB eluent additives are used, and the pH is changed from 8.5 to 10.0. Novel eluent additives are compared with the common eluent additive ammonium acetate.

When NFTB was used, diphenylguanidine showed an increase in the retention factors by 8 times – (at the eluent's pH 8.5). The large increase in the retention factors was also observed for 4-dimethylaminopyridine (Figure 13). Since PP is retained on the C18 analytical column to a much larger extent than NFTB (which elutes at the beginning of a chromatographical run, Figure 20), it can be theorised that PP (the same as HFIP and HFTB) create a fluorous layer on the stationary phase.

4.1.2.2. Analyte ionisation efficiency

For the analytes, which were detected with an MS, signal intensity changed using different eluent additive buffers. However, the differences (observed by comparing peak areas, Figure 14 and Table 7) depended highly on the analyte, eluent additive and the pH studied. As the focus of research was different retention mechanisms, the MS signal intensities (presented as single measurement peak areas) are provided as additional information to give general impression.



Figure 14. Peak areas of the analytes (presented bar chart format), depending on the eluent additive and the pH of the eluent. For DMSO and TFE solutions "pH values are given, as they represent the precise pH of the mobile phase.

Table 7. Peak areas peaks were detected.	of the anal *For DMS	lytes depend O and TFE 1	ling on the e the ^s pH valu	luent additivies are giver	ve and pH c 1, as they ref	of the eluent. present the pr	Cells with p ecise pH of t	eak area val he mobile ph	ues "0" indic lase.	ate that no
Burrers	UIC	AIR	imonium acei	late	Amn	JOHIUM DICART	onate		HFIF	
hq	2.8	8.5	9.0	10.0	8.5	9.0	10.0	8.5	9.0	10.0
Analytes					Pe	ık area				
Diisopropylamine	74858392	259827791	282304764	325962012	748165281	983435198	617220544	704997132	615654076	496892865
Piperidine	36951200	31829927	435841644	412055740	737456548	874537709	487681984	331672124	421579291	320686646
Cyclohexylamine	43343684	21857296	11579111	84293752	53177938	26238147	172813113	14993795	421579291	15199699
Pyrrolidine	19871073	124472464	225801955	214569904	424734254	489621143	319021394	235068562	245899209	227365482
Aniline	14028476	23930212	10369357	7485969	12633819	8677645	4872316	3438511	4061713	6456661
4-Chloroaniline	3693034	1433397	1623281	663150	1180256	710624	0	453822	35633	544774
1-Naphthylamine	37571474	9192311	11054570	17838959	5829051	4248195	11219666	10369670	1364609	33798754
Histamine	45640498	19966293	37233899	71218374	94795867	21389881	206610641	10374512	14636993	12412524
4-Fluoroaniline	17323060	824948	880179	152739236	704823	24661	666824	65598	29274	40312
2,6-Dimethylpyridine	34076735	18709230	14002765	12784909	15008685	12270164	8648053	7969485	6714204	9648835
2-Methylpyridine	18745688	12801912	11330318	9158476	12105982	8185669	6455491	5556821	5442703	7304771
2-Methoxypyridine	1261010	7494630	4839327	4500942	0	2358877	1679280	2232143	1338285	3943342
Buffers		HF	ΓB			DMSO*			TFE*	
рН	8.5	9.6	0	0.01	7.5	7.4	9.7	7.2	7.4	9.7
Analytes					Pe	ak area				
Diisopropylamine	333312	3378	362293 28	8311488	49717293	42454072	52454315	58018942	81087873	12067577
Piperidine	218435	887 1911	20905 23	4928250	35466015	61936528	96026022	28953597	70110863	82829472
Cyclohexylamine	4507	7696 248	81479 9	2735730	29020517	20504758	22304715	42269804	29229098	33285091
Pyrrolidine	115431	127 1193	85673 7	5687968	16271245	2222751	45193414	13261425	32765691	23676086
Aniline	8667	7960 33	49964	5203304	0	0	0	663413	481335	0
4-Chloroaniline	131	011 3	\$25143	714582	0	108147	0	242552	91390	136394
1-Naphthylamine	297	7066 15	581832 5	1123196	452440	1785694	0	171847	11390666	33285091
Histamine	6326	567 288	325185 19	2703709	21655306	18380756	7513662	37847485	36368431	890799
4-fluoroaniline	24	1872	44896	1125172	536131	309621	841146	591835	735965	33285091
2,6-Dimethylpyridine	110484	1905 66	542802	8427954	8219692	5121554	4807366	29672122	1619305	890799
2-Methylpyridine	127	7683 33	\$69076	5692894	3571338	0	0	11261215	936881	33285091
2-Methoxypyridine	1569	807 22	00200	2524737	0	0	0	255015	495704	33285091

As already stated, the recorded signal varied greatly between analytes, eluent additives and the mobile phase pH. When comparing eluent additives, in general, the largest signals were observed for ammonium bicarbonate-based eluents. This was true for analytes diisopropylamine, pyrrolidine, piperidine, and histamine.

At low pH (STD buffer), the studied basic analytes should be present in the protonated BH^+ form and should be very well ionised. This is true for the analytes in B group, but not for the BH^+ group analytes – they yield much higher signals when mobile phase pH is also high. This observed effect is an example of so-called wrong-way ionisation [87].

As ammonium acetate is one of the most commonly used eluent additives, it was used as a point of reference for the comparison of analyte signal responses. When novel eluent additives HFIP and HFTB were used (at the same pH values), it showed that in 26% of the measurements, there was an increase in the signal (with a range between 1.1 to 36-fold). However, rest of the results showed decrease (up to <10% of signal) in the peak area of the analytes of the area obtained with ammonium acetate.

The majority of the increased signal was observed for ionised basic (BH⁺) analytes when ammonium bicarbonate, HFIP and HFTB were used. Because the BH⁺ group analytes are already protonated in solution, they are more easily converted into gas-phase ions and thus in general have better signal than others. The largest increase was obtained for cyclohexylamine using HFIP, at the pH 9.0 (36-fold), however, for the same analyte – with other HFIP buffer pH values (8.5 and 10.0), the signal was lower than when ammonium acetate was used at respective pH levels.

DMSO as the eluent additive resulted in significant signal suppression – no peaks could be obtained for aniline, 4-chloroaniline, 1-napthylamine and 2-methoxypyridine. Both DMSO and TFE gave the lowest signals when compared to other eluent additives. DMSO has been reported as having a positive influence on the signal intensity in MS; however so far it seems this is observed only in the field of proteomics [32]–[34]. Furthermore, due to the high boiling point of DMSO, the default used ion source parameters, uniform for all analytes and eluent additives, are possibly not optimal for DMSO. TFE has been reported to both increase [26], [88] the analyte signal and suppress it for oligonucleotides [89]. However, the signal enhancement for (hydrophobic) compounds was observed in the working ESI in the negative detection mode or in the presence of other ion-pairing reagents. Additionally, the decreased signal response was observed in these cases for more hydrophilic analytes. [26], [88]

In conclusion – in general higher ionisation efficiency can be obtained with the high pH mobile phases for polar basic analytes and using HFIP and HFTB, however more rigorous experiments should be conducted to obtain more specific conclusions.

4.1.3. Retention mechanisms on the biphenyl stationary phase

The changes in the retention of the analytes on biphenyl columns due to the change of the eluent additive and shift in the eluent pH tended to follow similar patterns as seen previously for the C18 column (Table 8). The patterns were: for non-ionised analytes (such as AH and B at a high mobile phase pH), the retention is not significantly influenced by the change of the eluent pH or eluent additive. For the ionised acidic analytes (A⁻ group) the retention decreased with the increase in the pH and decreased further when novel fluorinated eluent additives were used. For protonated (polar) basic analytes (BH⁺), the influence was opposite to acidic analytes – the retention increased with the increase in the pH and further increased when novel fluorinated eluent additives were used.

Further discussion will highlight the differences in retention between the C18 and biphenyl stationary phases among the four different analyte groups.

×	Amn	nonium ac	etate	Ammor	nium bican	rbonate		HFIP			HFTB	
Analyte	8.5	9.0	10.0	8.5	9.0	10.0	8.5	9.0	10.0	8.5	9.0	10.0
A ⁻ group												
2,4-dichlorophenol	30.62	15.54	2.60	23.30	12.59	2.45	15.04	6.80	0.85	15.74	7.19	0.25
2,3,4,5,6-Pentafluorophenol	2.10	0.95	0.55	1.55	0.80	0.51	0.35	0.30	0.25	0.08	0.15	0.15
2-Nitrophenol	2.07	0.00	0.40	3.70	1.80	0.38	0.55	0.25	0.30	0.45	0.55	0.15
2,3,5,6-Tetrafluorophenol	1.40	0.65	0.35	1.10	0.55	0.36	0.25	0.20	0.20	0.10	0.15	0.10
AHgroup												
Phenol	4.40	3.35	*	4.05	3.55	3.16	4.15	3.55	3.40	3.75	3.55	2.55
p-Cresol	10.44	10.34	9.84	9.79	8.34	8.40	8.94	8.74	7.39	8.93	*	*
Hydroquinone	0.85	0.85	0.65	0.91	0.85	*	0.80	0.80	*	0.80	0.75	*
4-Chloro-2-nitroaniline	0.30	0.10	0.30	0.20	0.10	0.00	0.05	0.10	0.20	0.00	0.00	0.20
BH ⁺ group												
Heptylamine	18.98	43.36	119.70	26.11	54.65	127.84	96.62	129.04	232.23	177.64	172.10	285.35
Octylamine	51.27	121.64	340.26	72.49	146.47	183.72	272.50	348.40	534.07	436.22	439.04	630.87
Diisopropylamine	1.90	5.10	16.89	2.95	6.89	18.60	13.64	15.14	41.01	19.68	20.28	56.05
Piperidine	1.70	6.00	27.93	3.10	7.94	34.68	13.34	16.64	59.74	19.58	22.38	84.22
Cyclohexylamine	2.90	7.34	22.23	4.40	8.94	20.93	20.23	21.58	42.76	29.28	26.88	54.75
Pyrrolidine	1.15	3.60	20.73	1.85	5.60	21.74	9.29	11.94	44.46	10.79	14.89	55.95
B group												
Aniline	3.90	3.45	3.25	3.70	3.25	3.38	3.60	3.45	3.30	3.50	3.35	3.00
4-Chloroaniline	0.20	0.10	0.05	0.15	0.10	0.00	0.00	0.10	0.05	0.00	0.00	0.00
1-Naphthylamine	38.65	32.42	28.83	35.67	30.27	30.83	34.97	32.02	26.73	33.32	30.42	23.68
4-Fluoroaniline	0.77	0.70	0.70	0.85	09.0	0.57	0.60	0.70	0.80	0.75	0.70	0.70
2,6-Dimethylpyridine	1.56	9.19	10.19	9.19	6.19	5.04	7.49	7.79	6.80	14.29	13.14	11.59
2-Methylpyridine	4.90	4.30	5.50	4.50	4.40	4.19	4.80	4.20	*	1.40	4.10	*
2-Methoxypyridine	16.74	15.69	14.29	16.29	14.89	14.84	16.69	16.04	15.47	16.64	15.49	13.29
3-Nitroaniline	0.20	0.10	0.30	0.15	0.10	0.00	0.05	0.00	0.05	0.10	0.00	0.00

Table 8. A list of the detected analytes retention factors in experiments with the biphenyl column using ammonium acetate, ammonium

The deprotonated acids (polar) analyte group

The relationship – decrease in retention with the increase in the pH and a further decrease in retention when HFIP and HFTB were used as eluent additives (Figure 10) remain the same for both the C18 and biphenyl columns.

Two similar A group analytes (2,3,4,5,6-pentafluorophenol and 2.3.5.6-tetrafluorophenol) are far less retained with biphenyl column (Figure 15). The largest difference in the retention factors appear when HFTB is used as the eluent additive, at the eluent pH 8.5. For 2,3,4,5,6-pentafluorophenaol, retention decreased 26 times and for 2,3,5,6-tetrafluorophenaol it decreased 14 times. The halogen and π -bond interaction has been described in the literature with the help of the σ -hole [90] – as intermolecular interaction between an electron-rich aromatic ring and an electron-poor region of bonded halogen [91], it should present itself also in the case of the biphenyl column. Likewise, the biphenyl column has high hydrogen-bond capacity. However, it seems that the ionic interaction of the negatively charged analyte has a more substantial influence on retention.



Figure 15. Obtained retention factors with the C18 and biphenyl analytical column for 2,3,4,5,6-pentafluorophenol and 2,3,5,6-tetrafluorophenol using both conventional (ammonium acetate and bicarbonate) and novel (HFIP, HFTB) eluent additives at the pH values of 8.5, 9.0 and 10.0.

For the analyte 2-nitrophenol the increase in the retention factors was observed when ammonium bicarbonate was used as the eluent additive at the pH 8.5 and 9.0, but lower retention factors when the biphenyl column was used at all other eluent and pH combinations (Table 8). For 2,4-dichlorophenol, a large increase in the retention factor was observed (Figure 16) on the biphenyl column. Possibly having two halogen atoms (chlorine) in the molecule aided the retention of the basis of the halogen and π -bond attraction.



■C18 2,4-dichlorophenol ■Biphenyl 2,4-dichlorophenol

Figure 16. Obtained retention factors with the C18 and biphenyl analytical columns for 2,4-dichlorophenol using both conventional (ammonium acetate and bicarbonate) and novel (HFIP, HFTB) eluent additives at the pH values of 8.5, 9.0 and 10.0. Due to low retention factor values obtained with the C18 column, also the numerical values are shown.

The protonated acids (neutral) analyte group

With the exception of 4-chloro-2-nitroaniline, all other – phenol (Figure 17), p-cresol and hydroquinone from the neutral acidic analytes (AH) group had larger retention when the biphenyl column was used (with the exception of hydroquinone when ammonium acetate was used as the eluent additive at the pH 10.0) due to the additional hydrogen-bond and π - π bonding. While, the increase was rather insignificant and remained within 1.1-1.8 times for all analytes, the difference between retention factors obtained with C18 and biphenyl column was the greatest at the eluent pH 8.5 and decreased for biphenyl with an increase of the pH. This is due the mobile phase pH value nearing the value of the analyte's p K_a . This means both for HFIP and HFTB as well as for acidic analyte that larger fraction of compound becomes deprotonated and thus polar. The repelling interactions outweigh the influence of π - π bonding.



Figure 17. Obtained retention factors with the C18 and biphenyl analytical columns for phenol using both conventional (ammonium acetate and bicarbonate) and novel (HFIP, HFTB) eluent additives at the pH values of 8.5, 9.0 and 10.0. * – no analyte peaks were recorded.

The protonated (polar) basic analyte group

All analytes in the basic protonated analyte group demonstrated an increase in retention factors when the biphenyl column was used (Table 8), even if none of the analytes had an aromatic ring (Table 5) in their structure, thus do not have π - π interactions on biphenyl column. However, all analytes could still act as both hydrogen bond donors and acceptors. The relationship – an increase in retention with an increase of pH of the eluent and then, further increase if HFIP and HFTB were used as eluent additives in comparison to conventional ammonium acetate and bicarbonate – remained the same as for C18 column. However, unlike with C18 column (Figure 9), the retention factors increased more gradually with the increase of eluent pH (Figure 18).

The largest increase in retention factors (when comparing C18 to the biphenyl stationary phase) was observed for analytes diisopropylamine and cyclohexylamine. For cyclohexylamine, 38 times increase in retention factor was observed when using HFTB at pH 8.5, and 16 times increase when comparing ammonium acetate at pH 9.0 as eluent. For diisopropylamine largest increase: 28 times, was observed when HFIP was used as eluent additive at pH 8.5. Both analytes had similar log*P* values – 1.49 for cyclohexylamine and 1.40 for diisopropylamine and thus are more lipophilic than the other 2 analytes in the group – piperidine (log*P* 0.84) and pyrrolidine (log*P* 0.50). Piperidine and pyrrolidine demonstrated an increase in retention, but in the range of 2–7 times.



Figure 18. Obtained retention factors with C18 and biphenyl analytical column for piperidine using both conventional (ammonium acetate and bicarbonate) and novel (HFIP, HFTB) eluent additives at pH values of 8.5, 9.0 and 10.0.

The deprotonated (neutral) basic analyte group

The deprotonated basic analyte group (B) was split – two analytes (4-chloroaniline, and 3-nitroaniline) were more retained on the C18 column, while six analytes (aniline, 4-fluoroaniline, 2,6-dimethylpyridine, 2-methylpyridine, 1-naphtylamine and 2-methoxypyridine) were more retained on the biphenyl column. However, the majority saw no greater difference in the retention factors than by 2 times. Exceptions to that were the analytes which were well retained on the C18 column – 4-chloroaniline and 3-nitroaniline, but eluted around the dead time when the biphenyl column was used.

Additionally, all analytes (except 4-fluoroaniline), which were retained more on the biphenyl column, saw also a subtle decrease in retention times with the increase of the eluents' pH (Figure 19 and Table 8).



■C18, 1-naphthylamine ■Biphenyl, 1-naphthylamine

Figure 19. Obtained retention factors with the C18 and biphenyl analytical column for 1-naphtylamine using both conventional (ammonium acetate and bicarbonate) and novel (HFIP, HFTB) eluent additives at the pH values of 8.5, 9.0 and 10.0.

Summarising remarks regarding the retention mechanisms observed on the biphenyl stationary phase

Since the majority of studied simple model analytes (with the exception of four) have an aromatic ring in their structure (Table 5), it was expected to observe a larger retention due to π - π interactions between aromatic analytes. 16 analytes were retained more on the biphenyl stationary phase – also including those without an aromatic ring (from protonated basic analyte group). The five other analytes, which were better retained with on the C18 column, had either a nitro (-NO₂) group in their structure (4-chloro-2-nitroanailine, 2-nitrophenol and 3-nitroaniline) or multiple halogen atoms (2,3,4,5,6-pentafluorophenol and 2,3,5,6-tetrafluorophenol). Both neutral analyte groups (deprotonated acids and protonated bases) did not have as uniform retention factors as seen before on the C18 column and the majority of analytes demonstrated a decrease in retention with an increase in the pH.

4.1.4. Retention of eluent additives on the C18, biphenyl and PFP stationary phases and ionisation

Changes in the eluent additive retention on the C18 stationary phase

The retention of HFIP and HFTB was strongly influenced by the pH of the mobile phase [25]. Thus the retention of three eluent additives TFE, PP and NFTB on the C18 stationary phase was evaluated also at the different pH values 8.5, 9.0 and 10.0.

A decrease in retention time with an increase in the mobile phase's pH was observed for both NFTB (Figure 20) and PP (Figure 21). NFTB saw the retention time change from 5.7 min at pH 8.5 to 3.5 min at the pH 10.0. The

change was more evident for HFIP and HFTB [25] as their pK_a values are close to the eluent pH than pK_a value of NFTB. For perfluoropinacol change in retention time was observed from 23.1 min at the pH 8.5 to 18.3 min at the pH 10.0. Decrease in the retention with increase of the pH can be observed for NFTB and PP due to their acidic properties – NFTB has one hydroxy group, PP two, which become more deprotonated and thus more polar and less retained on the C18 stationary phase.



Figure 20. Chromatograms of NFTB (as mono-ion and dimer) at pH 8.5, 9.0 and 10.0 using C18 column. Column dead time t_0 =1.38 min.

It can be theorised that, similarly to HFIP and HFTB [25], PP also creates a fluorous layer on the C18 stationary phase. However, the prominent tailing was not present for HFIP and HFTB, whereas it is for PP (Figure 21). Once the C18 stationary phase has been saturated with PP, completely removing it could be rather problematic. The observed strong tailing might be related to the structural properties of PP, as it has two hydroxy groups (unlike other researched novel eluent additives) and possibly due to steric interactions. In contrast, it is unlikely that NFTB (Figure 20) creates a fluorous layer on the C18 stationary phase due to its weak retention (in comparison to HFIP, HFTB and PP)



Figure 21. Chromatograms of perfluoropinacol (as mono-ion and dimer) at the pH 8.5, 9.0 and 10.0 using the C18 column. Column dead time t_0 =1.38 min.

The retention of TFE on the C18 stationary phase is not very strong as it eluted at the beginning (at 2.4 minute, mobile phase pH 9.0) of the chromatographic run (Figure 22). Due to the poor ionisation of TFE (Figure 28) in MS, at the mobile phase pH 8.5 the peak is not even detected.



Figure 22. Chromatograms of the TFE at the pH 8.5, 9.0 and 10.0 using the C18 column. Column dead time t_0 =1.38 min.

Changes in the eluent additive retention on the biphenyl stationary phase

The retention of HFIP and HFTB on the biphenyl stationary phase was not strongly influenced by the pH of the mobile phase (Figure 23). HFIP and HFTB were also retained far less on the biphenyl stationary phase (with HFTB being retained the most at the eluent pH 9.0) – and, unlike with the C18 phase [25], both eluent additives eluted from the column under 5 minutes. Thus the possibility of a fluorous layer covering the biphenyl stationary phase seems less probable than it was in the case of the C18 stationary phase [25].



Figure 23. Chromatograms of HFIP (left) and HFTB (right) as mono-ion and dimer at the pH 8.5, 9.0 and 10.0 using column with the biphenyl stationary phase. The analysis run time was 10 min and column dead time $t_0=0.92$ min.

Similarly to HFIP and HFTB, PP started eluting from the biphenyl column at the beginning of the chromatographic run. However, its interaction with the biphenyl column is stronger and there is significant tailing (Figure 24), especially when the mobile phase pH is 8.5 and 9.0. The decrease in retention for novel fluorinated eluent additives with increase of the mobile phase pH originates from fluoroalcohols becoming more deprotonated (negatively charged), thus less retained.



Figure 24. Chromatograms of perfluoropinacol (as mono-ion and dimer) at the pH 8.5, 9.0 and 10.0 using the biphenyl column. Column dead time t_0 =0.92 min.

Changes in the eluent additive retention on the PFP stationary phase

Similarly to the interactions on the biphenyl stationary phase (Figure 23), the retention of HFIP and HFTB on the PFP stationary phase was not strongly influenced by the pH of the mobile phase (Figure 25). HFIP and HFTB on the PFP column likewise did not demonstrate strong retention.



Figure 25. Chromatogram of HFIP (left) and HFTB (right) as mono-ion and dimer at the pH 8.5, 9.0 and 10.0 using column with the PFP stationary phase. The analysis run time was 10 min and column dead time $t_0=0.65$ min.

PP, similarly to HFIP and HFTB and their interactions with biphenyl and the PFP stationary phases, started eluting from the column at the beginning of the chromatographic run. Tailing was present also with PFP stationary phase; however, only when the mobile phase pH was 8.5 (Figure 26).



Figure 26. Chromatograms of perfluoropinacol (as mono-ion and dimer) at the pH 8.5, 9.0 and 10.0 using the PFP column. Column dead time t_0 =0.65 min.

Ionisation of the eluent additives

Similarly to HFIP and HFTB, both NFTB and PP are forming dimers [2M-H] in the MS spectrum (Figure 27). Unlike other additives, TFE was poorly ionised (Figure 28). Most pharmaceuticals are basic analytes, thus their detection is achieved with positive ionisation mode and at high eluent pH range. The strong signals observed for HFIP, HFTB, NFTB and PP in negative ionisation mode can hinder detection of analytes, which would also ionise in negative detection mode. Based on this, TFE would be suited to use, however it has poor chromatographic behaviour.



Figure 27. Mass spectra of PP (above) and NFTB (below) at the pH 10.0.



Figure 28. Mass spectra of TFE at the pH 10.0.

4.1.5. Separation of common toxicology screening compounds

An in-house method for screening (and quantifying) toxicology drugs (Table 9) in blood samples consists of a combination of a vast analyte library, as well as calibration and QC samples for quantification and verification. The routine screening and quantifying method uses both positive and negative ionisation modes; however, the vast majority of analytes are detected with the positive ionisation mode. The analytical column used is the C18 column for the separation of the analytes, and the eluent consists of 0.01% formic acid with 5 mM ammonium formate, both in the aqueous and organic (MeOH) phase. In order to compare the influence of different stationary phases as well as eluent additives better, only the columns and eluents are changed, the gradient elution pattern, as well as detection, remained the same and more technical information on that can be found in the chapter 3.2.5. The dilution for the compound mixture is described in the chapter 3.3.2.

Table 9. Ove	erview of the	detected an	alytes inc	luding aque	eous pK _a ai	nd logP va	alues.
Constants in	italic have be	een experime	entally me	easured. The	e rest have	been estin	nated
with ChemAy	on software.	[92], [93]					

Analyte	pK _{a1}	pK _{a2}	Log <i>P</i>	Brief description
7-Aminoclonazepam	3.03	4.99	0.49	benzodiazepine, metabolite of
				clonazepam
7-Aminoflunitrazepam	3.32		1.79	benzodiazepine, metabolite of
				flunitrazepam
Alfentanil	7.50		2.81	potent opioid analgesic
alpha-Hydroxyalprazolam	4.97	13.72	1.52	benzodiazepine, metabolite of both alprazolam and adinazolam
alpha-Hydroxymidazolam	4.99	13.95	2.48	benzodiazepine, metabolite of midazolam
alpha-Hydroxytriazolam	4.24	13.75	2.04	benzodiazepine, metabolite of triazolam
Alprazolam	5.08		2.37	a short-acting benzodiazepine, tradename Xanax
Amisulpride	7.05		1.06	antipsychotic medication
Amoxapine	8.83		3.08	tricyclic antidepressant (TCA)
Aripiprazole	7.60		4.90	antipsychotic medication
Atenolol	9.60	14.08	0.16	beta blocker, used for cardiovascular
				conditions
Atropine	9.43	15.15	1.83	belladonna alkaloid, muscarinic antagonist (muscle relaxant)
Benzoylecgonine	9.54	3.15	-0.59	major metabolite of cocaine
Bisoprolol	9.67	14.09	2.20	medication used to treat heart
				diseases
Bromazepam	2.68		2.05	benzodiazepine, anti-anxiety
				medication
Buprenorphine	8.31		4.98	opioid

Analyte	pK _{a1}	pK _{a2}	LogP	Brief description
Carbamazepine	-3.80		2.77	anticonvulsant, analgesic
Carisoprodol		15.06	2.10	muscle relaxant
Cetirizine	8.27	2.92	0.86	antihistamine
Chlordiazepoxide	4.80		2.44	benzodiazepine, sedative
Chlorpheniramine	9.13		3.38	antihistamine
Chlorprothixene	9.76		5.18	antipsychotic
Citalopram	9.78		3.76	antidepressant
Clomipramine	9.20		5.19	TCA
Clonazepam	1.86	11.89	2.41	benzodiazepine
Clozapine	7.50		3.23	antipsychotic medication
Cocaethylene	8.77		2.60	metabolite of cocaine
Cocaine	8.61		2.30	strong stimulant, used as a recreational drug
Cotinine	4.79		0.07	alkaloid found in tobacco,
Cyclizine	8.51		3.55	medication to prevent nausea,
				vomiting and dizziness due to motion sickness or vertigo
Desalkylflurazepam	1.80	12.29	3.35	benzodiazepine, active metabolite for several benzodiazepines (midazolam, flurazepam, quazepam etc)
Dextromethorphan	9.85		3.49	cough suppressant
Diazepam	3.40		2.82	benzodiazepine, tradename Valium
Diclofenac	4.15		4.51	nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug (NSAID)
Dihydrocodeine	9.33	14.15	1.55	opioid analgesic
Diltiazem	8.18	12.86	2.73	medication used to treat high blood
				pressure and certain heart arrhythmias
Diphenhydramine	8.98		3.27	antihistamine, trade name Benadryl
Dothiepin	9.76		4.52	TCA
Doxepin	8.96		4.29	antidepressant and anxiolytic properties
Fenazepam	2.89		3.30	benzodiazepine
Fentanyl	8.99		4.05	powerful synthetic opioid analgesic
Flumazenil	3.27		1.00	imidazobenzodiazepine derivative and a potent benzodiazepine receptor antagonist
Fluoxetine	9.80		4.05	antidepressant, trade name Prozac
Flupentixol	8.43	15.59	4.51	antipsychotic
Flurazepam	8.71		3.95	benzodiazepine
Fluvoxamine	8.86		2.80	antidepressant
Gabapentin	9.91	3.70	1.25	anti-epileptic medication
Gliclazide	1.38	4.07	1.73	anti-diabetic medication
Haloperidol	8.66	13.96	4.30	antipsychotic medication
Imipramine	9.40		4.80	ТСА
Ketamine	7.50		3.12	potent anaesthetic

Analyte	pK _{a1}	pK _{a2}	LogP	Brief description
Lamotrigine	5.70		1.93	anticonvulsant for epilepsy and bipolar disorder
Levetiracetam	-1.60	16.09	-0.59	epilepsy medication
Lidocaine	8.01		2.44	anaesthetic
Lorazepam	1.53		2.39	benzodiazepine
MDEA	1		2.50	3,4-methylenedioxy-N-
				ethylamphetamine, illegal
				psychoactive drug.
MDMA	10.14		1.86	hallucinogen, synthetic drug
Medazepam	9.57		4.21	benzodiazepine
Methadone	9.20		3.93	potent synthetic analgesic, an opioid
				used for opioid maintenance therapy
				in opioid dependence and for chronic
				pain
Mianserin	6.92		3.83	tetracyclic antidepressant
Mirtazapine	7.70		2.90	tetracyclic antidepressant
M6G	9.12	2.87	-3.00	morphine-6-glucunoride, metabolite
				of morphine
Naloxone	7.84	10.07	2.09	a medication used to block the effects
				of opioids, tradename Narcan,
Naproxen		4.15	3.18	NSAID
Nicotine	8.50		1.17	stimulant and potent
				parasympathomimetic alkaloid
Nitrazepam	2.61	11.30	2.25	benzodiazepine, hypnotic drug
Norbuprenorphine	10.49	9.80	3.19	major active metabolite of
				buprenorphine
Norclozapine	8.83		3.02	major active metabolite of clozapine
Nordiazepam	2.85		3.21	1,4-benzodiazepine derivative
Norfentanyl	10.03		1.42	major metabolite of fentanyl
norsertraline	9.73		4.72	desmethylsertraline, an active
				metabolite of sertraline
O-Desmethyltramadol	8.97	9.62	2.26	opioid analgesic, the main active
	10.55			metabolite of tramadol
Olanzapine	10.57		4.09	antipsychotic, primarily used to treat
	- 0.6	1		schizophrenia and bipolar disorder
Opipramol	7.86	15.59	3.24	anxiolytic and antidepressant
Oxycodone	8.77	13.57	0.70	opioid, used for the treatment of
	0.17	10.07	0.02	moderate to severe pain
Oxymorphone	8.17	10.07	0.83	semisynthetic narcotic analgesic
D-12	076	12.74	1.76	related
Paliperidone	8.70	13.74	1.70	antipsychotic medication, also
				primary active metabolite of
Baravatina	0.00		2.52	antidopressent
Dhonovoliding	9.90 8 20		2.33	drug "angel dust" a hallusinggen
1 nencychume	0.29		4.09	formerly used as a votorinery
				anesthetic
Pentazocine	8 80		1 61	opioid
1 VIIIIIU	0.00	1	7.07	opioid

Analyte	pK _{a1}	pK _{a2}	LogP	Brief description
Pipamperone	8.69		1.87	antipsychotic
Prazepam	3.06		3.73	benzodiazepine
Pregabalin	10.23	4.80	-1.30	inhibitory neurotransmitter
Procyclidine	9.45	13.84	3.79	a muscarinic antagonist, used in the
				treatment of parkinsonism.
Propoxyphene	9.52		4.18	opioid pain reliever
Quetiapine	7.06	15.12	2.81	antipsychotic
Quinine	9.05	13.89	3.44	alkaloid, used to treat malaria and
				babesiosis
Risperidone	8.76		2.63	antipsychotic
Ritalinic acid	10.08	3.73	-0.36	α-phenyl-2-piperidine acetic acid,
				inactive major metabolite of
				methylphenidate and ethylphenidate
Sertraline	9.16		5.51	antidepressant
Trazodone	6.74		3.13	antidepressant
Triazolam	4.32		2.42	CNS depressant tranquiliser in the
				triazolobenzodiazepine
Trimipramine	9.42		4.76	TCA
Venlafaxine	8.91	14.42	2.74	antidepressant
Zolpidem	5.65		3.02	sedative, trade name Ambien
Zopiclone	6.89		0.81	hypnotic agent used in the treatment
				of insomnia
Zuclopentixol	8.03	15.59	4.22	antipsychotic medication
Propranolol	9.42	14.09	2.58	hypertension medication

4.1.5.1. Experiments with the C18 column and DFA as the eluent additive

Changes in analyte retention

In order to evaluate the influence of DFA on the mixture of toxicology screening compounds, two variations of eluent were compared to the routinely used eluent. Firstly, formic acid was replaced with DFA, and the mobile phase composition and ionic strength remained the same in the aqueous and organic phases. Secondly, to recreate the settings provided in the Waters Application note [41] conditions: the 0.15% DFA in the aqueous phase and no additives in the organic (MeOH) phase were used. In total, 90 analytes were detected in distinct peaks (Table 10).

Table 10. A list of detected analytes' retention factors and peak areas in experiments with the C18 column using ammonium formate with formic acid and DFA, and DFA in water as eluent additives.

	5 mM Am	monium	5 mM Am	monium		
	formate an	nd 0.01%	formate an	nd 0.01%	0.15% DI	FA pH 1.7
Analyte	formic aci	d pH 4.0	DFA p	H 4.2		•
	Retention	Peak	Retention	Peak	Retention	D 1
	factor k	area	factor k	area	factor k	Peak area
7-Aminoclonazepam	9.43	2898111	9.19	3226292	6.32	1213856
7-Aminoflunitrazepam	10.31	5584733	10.05	5104383	7.31	2050422
Alfentanil	13.24	4125875	12.98	3998531	11.23	2536162
alpha-Hydroxyalprazolam	13.60	416346	13.28	858637	12.72	201321
alpha-Hydroxymidazolam	14.23	2291446	13.91	2996012	10.89	1123637
alpha-Hydroxytriazolam	13.32	380647	13.00	862205	12.62	389660
Alprazolam	14.00	3272805	13.68	3510174	13.04	716944
Amisulpride	7.26	4448202	7.14	4157488	7.19	2298851
Amoxapine	13.19	2043230	12.89	2719911	11.97	2211673
Atenolol	5.17	3956536	5.14	4097209	5.35	1899336
Atropine	7.92	4478535	7.77	4418069	7.85	1536139
Benzoylecgonine	8.56	5937965	8.35	5901723	8.20	1221250
Bisoprolol	11.19	5073517	10.92	4667873	10.82	2184952
Bromazepam	12.79	678413	12.47	1443736	10.74	621045
Buprenorphine	13.87	2106072	13.64	2545872	11.73	1721386
Carbamazepine	13.13	3880139	12.80	4210212	12.45	1651171
Carisoprodol	13.80	634915	13.49	820270	13.12	305707
Cetirizine	14.52	2817693	14.20	2982567	13.15	760476
Chlordiazepoxide	14.48	1732148	14.20	2380218	10.22	1185540
Chlorpheniramine	11.40	6480189	11.12	6246459	8.27	3943451
Chlorprothixene	14.45	4960057	14.16	4377551	13.73	2331608
Citalopram	11.74	5438985	11.45	4937412	11.27	2023637
Clomipramine	14.50	5430649	14.20	4892023	13.80	2487783
Clonazepam	13.26	213301	12.93	350344	12.52	254690
Clozapine	12.57	5642586	12.27	5256498	9.18	2674605
Cocaine	9.21	4777938	9.02	4573040	9.00	3283941
Cotinine	5.98	4848657	5.87	4577323	4.71	1743976
Desalkylflurazepam	14.21	737459	13.90	1579661	13.25	954509
Dextromethorphan	11.82	6548884	11.53	5896432	11.37	2955243
Diazepam	15.12	4055338	14.81	4043785	13.52	2144827
Diclofenac	16.10	133121	15.84	246611	15.63	167893
Dihydrocodeine	5.70	3606878	5.65	3485945	5.87	1168357
Diltiazem	12.67	5524331	12.38	4903950	12.02	3015642
Dothiepin	12.90	5887618	12.60	5586179	12.32	3578583
Doxepin	12.18	6852201	11.88	6425650	11.66	4308421
Fenazepam	14.73	616854	14.42	1268581	13.96	728745
Fentanyl	11.41	5672059	11.16	5260491	10.90	3379788
Flumazenil	11.61	1179185	11.31	1671296	10.87	330774
Fluoxetine	13.89	2819739	13.60	2614956	13.28	1327125
Flupentixol	15.55	3723187	15.29	3134092	14.38	1280288
Flurazepam	11.95	5075711	11.67	4783261	11.37	2729252
Fluvoxamine	13.76	1432032	13.47	1614421	13.16	731714
Gabapentin	5.79	596866	5.72	1088017	6.91	354499

	5 mM Am	monium	5 mM Am	monium		
	formate an	nd 0.01%	formate an	nd 0.01%	0.15% DI	FA pH 1.7
Analyte	formic aci	d pH 4.0	DFA p	H 4.2		
	Retention	Peak	Retention	Peak	Retention	Deals area
	factor k	area	factor k	area	factor k	I Cak alca
Gliclazide	14.44	1260623	14.12	1616483	13.63	500252
Haloperidol	12.50	4863119	12.21	4386258	11.97	2922277
Imipramine	13.37	6430744	13.06	6038065	12.76	4051905
Ketamine	8.71	5484688	8.53	5208540	8.48	3212965
Lamotrigine	9.61	4522006	9.37	4711889	9.24	2150707
Lidocaine	8.18	6177367	8.03	5883682	7.96	3864092
Lorazepam	13.96	190585	13.64	403574	13.29	192197
M6G	2.17	44229	2.05	46906	3.27	9218
MDEA	7.82	4673536	7.68	4466032	7.84	2489198
MDMA	7.16	3640393	7.04	3631693	7.25	1411205
Medazepam	15.33	7348932	15.03	6859679	11.12	4239890
Methadone	13.49	7134119	13.19	6720527	12.90	5374065
Mianserin	12.19	5346787	11.90	4708806	11.39	1630936
Mirtazapine	10.13	6359476	9.91	5990665	6.86	2037238
Naloxone	6.67	2046617	6.58	2221185	6.68	914145
Nicotine	1.56	2286200	1.59	2408091	0.27	2355572
Nitrazepam	13.30	251755	12.95	521185	11.65	599627
Norbuprenorphine	11.19	417167	10.93	662643	10.81	424529
Norclozapine	12.52	3365070	12.22	3650665	8.77	2301619
Nordiazepam	14.82	1576423	14.51	3452460	12.40	2666949
Norfentanyl	8.78	4393091	8.59	4525236	8.67	2117357
Norsertraline	14.55	23227	14.26	20478	13.83	23279
O-Desmethyltramadol	7.21	4899159	7.09	4945684	7.24	3087007
Olanzapine	9.59	5170484	9.40	3884694	6.83	1551837
Opipramol	13.30	4899212	13.00	4664611	11.42	2520311
Oxycodone	6.16	2414654	6.08	2465491	6.25	910652
Oxymorphone	3.42	953072	3.52	1356655	3.88	702579
Paliperidone	10.24	3175865	10.01	2872411	9.52	1559899
Paroxetine	13.10	1586154	12.80	1726109	12.52	960584
Pentazocine	10.57	6547758	10.33	6075655	10.23	3955781
Phencyclidine	10.90	4146554	10.65	3873744	10.56	3371744
Pipamperone	11.26	4441772	11.00	4104455	7.11	2106017
Prazepam	16.24	3722100	16.00	3795695	15.41	1932855
Pregabalin	3.94	272905	5.76	582639	6.77	221855
Procyclidine	13.21	7321863	12.91	6986987	12.64	5651227
Propranolol	11.66	5150872	11.37	5151344	11.20	2904844
Ouetiapine	12.82	5890978	12.53	5319024	10.15	2939052
Ouinine	10.55	4352073	10.30	4197781	6.98	1439155
Risperidone	10.98	4558812	10.73	4025677	9.19	2453862
Ritalinic acid	8.59	1061092	8.37	2024201	8.37	616767
Sertraline	14.31	1890917	14.02	1813934	13.64	741367
Trazodone	11.57	5132553	11.30	4537790	10.21	2470427
Triazolam	13.90	2445262	13.59	2632013	13.19	1096095
Trimipramine	13.80	7007815	13.51	6675749	13.15	4688637
Venlafaxine	11.25	6865708	10.97	6485294	10.85	4870681
Zolpidem	10.93	6105804	10.69	5833387	9.62	4265537
Zopiclone	9.21	927412	8.98	1046577	8.67	204155
Roughly a half of the analytes studied (42 analytes out of 90, Table 10) showed a consistent decrease in retention factors when the 0.01% formic acid was replaced with the 0.01% DFA and an even further decrease in retention with an increase in concentration to the 0.15% DFA. Most of these analytes were benzodiazepines. Analytes with a difference in retention times higher than 1.5 minutes can be seen in Figure 29. Three analytes which had the largest decrease were chlordiazepoxide pK_a 4.8, $\log P$ 2.44, medazepam pK_a 9.57, $\log P$ 4.21 and pipamperone pK_a 8.69, $\log P$ 1.87. The pK_a values or $\log P$ do not explain why there is such a large change in the case of exactly these three analytes.



■ 0.01% Formic Acid ■ 0.01% DFA ■ 0.15% DFA

Figure 29. Retention factors of 11 analytes when the 0.01% formic acid with 5 mM ammonium formate and the 0.01% DFA with 5 mM ammonium formate and the 0.15% DFA were used as eluent additives.

The other large part of the analytes (44, Table 10) had little to no change in retention when DFA was used as the eluent additive. However, even then, the vast majority (34 analytes out of 44) showed a small (not larger than 0.3 units) decrease in the retention factors when formic acid was replaced with DFA and then a larger (but not exceeding change of 0.5 units) decrease when the DFA concentration was increased and ammonium formate was not present in the eluent. Because all analysed drugs have either basic functional groups or both basic and acidic functional groups with an increased acidity (the pH of the 0.01% formic acid solution was 4.0, the pH for the 0.01% DFA solution was 4.2, and for the 0.15% DFA the pH was 1.7) of the eluent, basic analytes become more protonated, thus more polar and thus they elute faster.

Only a small group – four analytes (Figure 30) – showed different relationships either an increase in retention when formic acid was replaced with DFA in the mobile phase (for analyte pregabalin) or an increase when the 0.15% DFA was used – the analytes gabapentin and M6G (morphine-6-gluconiride, one of the morphine metabolites). The only analyte showing a notable decrease in retention only when the 0.15% DFA was used (but not for the 0.01% DFA), was nicotine. All four analytes have pK_a values either between 8.5 and 10.23, which means the majority of basic functional groups are present in the protonated BH⁺ form. Pregabalin also has the carboxylic acid (-COOH) functional group (with pK_a 4.8), which means that with a decrease in the pH, the acidic group shifts equilibria from A⁻ towards AH, becoming less polar and more retained on the C18 stationary phase – which can be seen as an increase in retention time. Similarly, M6G has glucuronic acid in its structure, which is why an increase in retention can be seen with the 0.15% DFA as the eluent.



Figure 30. Retention factors of four analytes when the 0.01% formic acid with 5 mM ammonium formate and the 0.01% DFA with 5 mM ammonium formate and the 0.15% DFA were used as eluent additives.

Changes in analyte ionisation

For 48 analytes the highest MS signal was obtained when the routine eluent (the 0.01% formic acid with 5mM ammonium formate both in the aqueous and organic phases) was used. For 40 analytes, the highest signal MS signal was obtained when the 0.01% formic acid in routine eluent was replaced with the 0.01% DFA. However, the difference in peak areas between mobile phase containing 0.01% of formic acid or 0.01% DFA was insignificant (changes in retention were evident only by 1–1.5 times). Only five analytes: alpha-hydroxyalprazolam, bromazepam, gabapentin, ritalinic acid and pregabalin had larger increase in the signal (by 1.8–2.4 times), when the 0.01% DFA was used as the eluent additive instead of the 0.01% formic acid.

The eluent, which consisted of the 0.15% DFA and MeOH, consistently gave the lowest MS signal (on average by 2.3 times) for the majority (78) of the detected analytes when compared to eluent compositions containing 0.01% formic acid or 0.01% DFA.

Only for two analytes (nitrazepam and norsertraline) the MS signal was the highest when the 0.15% DFA was in use. For nitrazepam increase in signal when DFA was used was by 2.1–2.5 times, but for analyte norsertraline peak areas were overall small and differed only 1.002–1.1 times.

4.1.5.2. Experiments with biphenyl column and HFTB as eluent additive

Changes in analyte retention

In total 81 analytes were detected as distinct peaks (Table 11), when using the biphenyl column and two eluent additives: ammonium acetate and HFTB, both at the pH values 8.5 and 9.0. Slightly less than a half of the analytes (33) were not influenced (or were influenced minimally) by the change of the eluent additive or pH value. 26 out of the 33 of not influenced analytes had low (less than 8) pK_a values, meaning that at a high pH, they are predominantly in the non-protonated form (B) and therefore not largely influenced by changes of the pH or eluent additive.

TIF I D as clucill adding ves.								
	Ammonium a	acetate pH 8.5	Ammonium a	cetate pH 9.0	HFTB	pH 8.5	HFTB	5 pH 9.0
Analyte	Retention factor k	Peak area	Retention factor k	Peak area	Retention factor <i>k</i>	Peak area	Retention factor <i>k</i>	Peak area
7-Aminoclonazepam	8.97	8519507	8.96	8066090	8.79	14471814	8.79	12032251
7-Aminoflunitrazepam	9.81	12586585	9.79	13435619	9.66	18600428	9.66	13064050
Alfentanil	15.11	12792373	15.12	13602000	15.12	15143401	15.12	11354683
alpha-Hydroxyalprazolam	13.02	1168278	13.00	1194047	12.99	3009326	12.99	2403595
alpha-Hydroxymidazolam	13.83	5549452	13.83	5954047	13.82	12365017	13.83	12199303
alpha-Hydroxytriazolam	12.75	1320263	12.75	1182301	12.71	3386766	12.71	2820154
Alprazolam	13.45	4389688	13.70	2322739	13.45	7853359	13.77	2692937
Amisulpride	10.15	3830671	11.04	10172875	14.66	5357799	12.55	14036995
Amoxapine	15.25	2079838	15.54	1653556	15.92	1161273	15.84	1921046
Atenolol	7.53	1782837	8.43	5040760	9.82	2708730	9.01	11207309
Atropine	10.72	2363992	11.62	972325	14.00	3322521	16.35	5176286
Benzoylecgonine	8.08	12955466	8.07	13303453	8.15	22714797	8.12	19177365
Bisoprolol	13.68	890114	13.04	9577916	16.28	534344	14.89	8092157
Bromazepam	12.20	2811700	12.22	3005301	12.13	6714461	12.16	6785525
Carbamazepine	12.52	5360336	12.80	2463568	12.47	10382265	12.48	7730123
Carisoprodol	13.24	1152329	13.23	1052928	13.21	1925940	13.20	1452074
Cetirizine	14.19	5255007	14.29	5489270	13.15	15502466	12.84	16308960
Chlordiazepoxide	14.13	2351711	14.13	2305204	14.09	4604146	14.10	4828124
Chlorpheniramine	13.94	8320829	16.00	2043774	16.22	5286886	17.68	2459464
Chlorprothixene	18.36	988411	17.99	4136506	18.23	3851425	18.27	2806127
Citalopram	13.36	7621254	14.31	6326085	15.41	3311996	15.48	5935724
Clomipramine	17.18	5909047	17.72	6704308	18.14	6821872	18.21	6916868
Clonazepam	12.64	555072	12.63	529630	12.47	1206040	12.48	1129666
Clozapine	15.75	8403892	15.86	9677772	16.03	4277979	16.33	3919378
Cotinine	6.57	4648700	6.56	4665357	6.70	11708349	6.66	9393136
Desalkylflurazepam	13.75	1224864	13.66	1388862	13.64	2976986	13.64	3346575

Table 11. A list of detected analytes, retention factors and peak areas in experiments with the biphenyl column using ammonium acetate and

	Ammonium a	cetate pH 8.5	Ammonium a	cetate pH 9.0	HFTB	pH 8.5	HFTB	pH 9.0
Analyte	Retention factor k	Peak area	Retention factor k	Peak area	Retention factor <i>k</i>	Peak area	Retention factor k	Peak area
Dextromethorphan	15.25	2792435	18.41	1412778	17.87	809093	17.15	18441037
Diazepam	14.72	3139385	14.63	4142117	14.62	5875126	14.63	5000601
Diclofenac	13.12	293597	12.94	285878	11.12	1094211	10.99	859055
Dihydrocodeine	11.11	3049156	12.64	2398915	13.46	1043960	12.82	8329567
Diltiazem	15.69	5336383	15.73	6281920	15.91	6352049	16.00	4558701
Diphenhydramine	14.95	3379808	15.38	4004869	17.87	2823249	18.28	1527254
Dothiepin	17.12	1236720	17.94	1645830	18.44	2930241	18.33	1860155
Doxepin	17.45	886452	17.97	2211569	17.64	4507377	17.59	8573298
Fenazepam	14.22	5803580	14.21	795119	14.29	1043628	14.19	2055902
Fentanyl	16.43	7265612	16.24	13467947	16.94	5378728	16.93	2940709
Flumazenil	10.99	1912952	10.99	1641191	10.97	4831219	10.97	3878813
Flupentixol	17.45	2561149	17.52	946329	17.53	2561148	17.43	1943591
Flurazepam	15.99	4776237	15.94	11353116	16.49	4138991	16.47	4202693
Fluvoxamine	14.65	1343227	15.12	1043607	16.17	1100078	16.07	2170909
Gliclazide	11.42	939477	11.11	1128181	9.28	1620691	9.05	1324291
Haloperidol	16.48	711072	17.16	1058329	17.02	4075645	17.76	1206834
Imipramine	16.98	1412127	16.83	6197775	17.51	10867445	17.64	12959449
Ketamine	13.68	2043165	13.73	1936014	13.63	9346142	13.51	12377606
Lamotrigine	9.60	11721231	9.57	11658137	9.13	19728633	9.14	16768510
Lidocaine	14.74	11287537	14.93	7494978	15.14	6579772	15.01	6583781
Lorazepam	13.38	457005	13.38	344903	13.32	877548	13.33	659878
MDMA	8.43	5507932	9.47	5573390	11.21	7310203	12.01	624546
Methadone	14.62	16512259	15.54	16385625	17.58	18892521	17.57	28624258
Mianserin	16.64	4185960	17.15	1022395	16.79	4317389	16.81	6609312
Mirtazapine	14.93	8906263	15.03	10593185	15.41	4484571	15.10	5998939
Morphine-6-glucuronide	6.91	1054699	7.67	780178	5.48	2533671	5.58	2030744
Naloxone	10.91	5278670	11.43	3144005	11.41	4786381	11.48	8964268
Naproxen	10.74	69742	10.53	89737	7.80	125353	7.87	145483
Nitrazepam	12.64	760277	12.63	877574	12.44	2081078	12.45	1889485

	Ammonium a	icetate pH 8.5	Ammonium a	cetate pH 9.0	HFTB	pH 8.5	HFTB	pH 9.0
Analyte	Retention factor <i>k</i>	Peak area	Retention factor <i>k</i>	Peak area	Retention factor <i>k</i>	Peak area	Retention factor <i>k</i>	Peak area
Norclozapine	14.04	2806365	14.42	2820428	15.02	1477430	14.88	2452086
Nordiazepam	14.29	2966166	14.44	1159122	14.27	5908223	14.27	6147324
Norfentanyl	9.76	7070897	10.23	6608377	12.27	7987083	12.31	5965890
Opipramol	16.07	2543064	16.13	2279071	16.89	3644718	16.64	2049648
Oxycodone	11.64	1903232	12.28	3406394	14.12	1038731	12.95	5306756
Oxymorphone	9.03	2789446	10.27	2203545	10.45	3630470	10.58	6546171
Paliperidone	13.72	8993928	14.41	6336468	14.60	4694787	14.82	1045831
Paroxetine	14.25	1474876	14.79	1361482	16.40	1176881	16.47	1872242
Pentazocine	12.54	15474784	14.74	2177553	15.53	6128845	15.95	17847884
Pipamperone	13.81	11882241	15.18	1785265	16.01	3925415	15.82	1356184
Prazepam	15.89	4781703	15.88	4073769	15.89	4386592	15.88	3210724
Pregabalin	4.58	1324925	4.62	968639	4.37	3132713	4.27	2731591
Procyclidine	18.10	2434090	17.81	2911626	17.61	20773699	18.04	24514573
Propoxyphene	16.30	4223292	16.77	3691312	17.27	3196354	17.93	2769852
Propranolol	16.99	1003293	13.85	6631697	16.73	1428377	15.56	4362198
Quetiapine	15.63	4436609	15.52	11004173	15.46	13369601	15.42	14367343
Quinine	14.98	3146375	14.73	8475291	15.22	2870541	15.29	5901170
Risperidone	15.03	6281823	15.19	10061792	15.68	4296285	15.80	2426934
Ritalinic acid	8.12	3039281	8.18	3485278	8.01	7523065	7.99	6063910
Sertraline	16.26	1182922	16.94	731058	17.72	1673954	17.85	1321330
Trazodone	15.22	11348491	15.24	9984959	15.24	12033824	15.76	1058734
Triazolam	13.36	3870165	13.36	4749645	13.38	7981609	13.37	6973330
Trimipramine	17.76	6093679	17.76	9974653	18.13	12743146	18.25	14042538
Venlafaxine	13.03	14298408	14.29	13136037	15.79	7404792	16.02	18380371
Zolpidem	13.60	22232933	13.59	22402009	13.64	28921803	13.64	25561318
Zopiclone	12.40	230007	12.43	182823	12.41	352798	12.41	211306

Analytes which were retained less on the biphenyl column when HFTB was used as the eluent additive (Figure 31) also had low pK_a values (between 1.38–4.15, Figure 32), except for cetirizine (an antihistamine) and M6G, which have pK_a values of 8.27 and 9.12, respectively. However, these analytes also have carboxylic and glucuronic acid groups in the molecules' structure, which are deprotonated at a high pH. HFTB as an ion-pairing reagent presents competition to acidic deprotonated (polar) analytes in the column. Thus, it is also possible to see shorter retention times as well as repulsive forces between the anion and π -systems.

There were three analytes, which had carboxylic group in their structure, however, their retention did not decrease when HFTB was used (ritalinic acid, pregabalin and benzoylecgonine). These three analytes also have high pK_a values (9.54–10.23), meaning they are protonated at used mobile phase pH.



■Ammonium acetate pH 8.5 ■Ammonium acetate pH 9.0 ■HFTB pH 8.5 ■HFTB pH 9.0

Figure 31. Retention time of six analytes when using ammonium acetate and HFTB as the eluent additives using biphenyl column at the pH values of 8.5 and 9.0.

There were 26 analytes which presented a clear increase in retention factors when HFTB was used as the eluent additive. All of them had high pK_a values (group "increase" in Figure 32) – in pK_a the interval was 7.5–10.14. The analytes which had stronger retention also had higher log*P* values when compared to those of the rest of the detected analytes. Only one analyte – oxymorphone had a log*P* value less than 1. All of that combined makes an analyte less polar, and therefore it elutes late when the organic phase (MeOH) content is higher.

Likewise, 16 analytes which displayed a change in the retention factors when the eluent additives and the pH values changed also had higher pK_a values (Figure 32). However, no clear pattern was observed. Largest part, 33 analytes

in total, demonstrated no change in retention times (group "no change in retention" in Figure 32)



Figure 32. Box plots for the pK_a values of the analytes, which are grouped into four categories according to the observed relationship of the retention factors, eluent additive and pH. Analytes with either observed an increase or no clear relationship had higher pK_a values with a narrower range. Analytes, which saw either a decrease or no change in retention had a wide range of pK_a values. However, the majority of them had lower pK_a values.

Changes in analyte ionisation

Both an increase and decrease in the MS signal were observed between different eluent additives and pH values. All signal values were compared to those obtained when ammonium acetate, the pH 8.5, was used as the eluent additive:

- when ammonium acetate was used at the pH 9.0, 41 analytes had a decrease in the signal, 30 analytes had a signal increase in the range of 1–2 times and 10 analytes saw a more than two-fold signal increase. The biggest increase in signal intensity, 10.8 times, was observed for the analyte bisoprolol;
- when HFTB was used at the pH 8.5, 26 analytes saw a decrease in the signal, 30 analytes saw a signal increase in the range of 1–2 times and 25 analytes saw a more than two-fold signal increase. The biggest increase in signal intensity, 8.5 times, was observed for the analyte procyclidine;
- when HFTB was used at the pH 9.0, 25 analytes had a decrease in the signal, 25 analytes saw a signal increase in range of 1–2 times and 31 analytes saw a more than two-fold signal increase. The biggest increase in signal intensity, 10.1 times, was observed for the analyte procyclidine.

Thus, while there is little difference between the ammonium acetate eluent at the pH values 8.5 and 9 (roughly a half of the analytes saw an increase and the other half – a decrease), there is mostly a significant signal improvement when HFTB is used as the eluent additive, especially at the pH 9.0 – when 31 analytes experienced a signal that was at least two times larger. Seven analytes: atenolol, bispropol, dextromethorphan, doxepine, procyclidine, imipramine and ketamine demonstrated an increase in signal intensity by 5-10 times.

The majority of signal improvement when HFTB was used as the eluent additive was for the analytes which had either consistent retention times or saw a decrease in retention times when HFTB was used as the eluent additive. A possible explanation for that is if analytes eluted faster from the column, the amount of the aqueous phase % was larger and thus, also the concentration of HFTB, which has proven to help with signal enhancement.

4.1.5.3. Experiments with the PFP column and HFTB as the eluent additive

Experiments performed with the PFP column comparing results obtained when the routine eluent (the 0.01% formic acid 5mM ammonium formate both in the aqueous and organic phases) were compared to those obtained when the eluent used had 5mM HFTB as the eluent additive, at the pH values: 8.5 and 9.0. The change in a previously used reference buffer for the biphenyl column (5mM ammonium acetate, the pH 8.5 and 9.0) was made to obtain a better comparison between the in-house method and change in the retention and ionisation when the PFP column was used. Altogether, data were recorded for 42 analytes as distinct peaks (Table 12) – other analytes either retained too poorly or too strongly on the PFPF stationary phase. Generally, observed retention patterns fell into three groups:

- 1. for 14 analytes little to no change in retention factors was observed
- 2. for 14 analytes an increase when HFTB was used as the eluent additive was observed, with the largest retention factors recorded when the eluent pH was 8.5
- 3. for 9 analytes the retention factors were the largest when the routine eluent was used.

	5 mM Aı	nmonium				
	formate a	and 0.01%	HFTB	pH 8.5	HFTB	oH 9.0
Analyte	formic ac	cid pH 4.0			-	
	Retention	D 1	Retention	Peak	Retention	Peak
	factor k	Peak area	factor <i>k</i>	area	factor <i>k</i>	area
Alfentanil	14.69	10790304	14.78	3933509	14.71	2836261
Alprazolam	13.91	7043462	13.91	908388	13.87	1052439
Aripiprazole	17.36	8194655	17.58	1558059	17.37	929312
Bisoprolol	13.73	13297416	22.98	2923078	18.78	2131095
Carbamazepine	11.65	7472914	11.64	1227111	11.62	895109
Cetirizine	13.90	9190298	11.92	1595905	11.26	1090408
Clonazepam	12.80	948621	12.70	133499	12.63	78442
7-Aminoclonazepam	9.40	11193642	9.24	780776	9.25	441199
Clozapine	14.71	9568414	16.70	1754431	16.44	1052899
Cocaethylene	13.84	163881	19.42	122807	18.73	72455
Cocaine	12.66	11982865	18.51	7278681	17.85	4586762
Benzoylecgonine	10.62	5853895	9.64	637814	9.59	604409
Cyclizine	14.73	6885393	18.03	2364137	17.54	1415069
Diazepam	14.22	9766308	14.24	1021489	14.21	832108
Diclofenac	14.30	609696	4.12	47208	4.12	5545
Dihydrocodeine	8.32	7972539	18.94	2294721	18.42	1755607
Diltiazem	15.50	13965430	16.86	5240261	16.55	3574891
Fentanyl	15.15	1286859	17.28	561681	16.83	341064
Norfentanyl	10.93	4329364	22.27	1981760	19.01	998341
7-Aminoflunitrazepam	10.81	11265844	10.71	1822722	10.66	1365965
Gabapentin	5.21	2524287	2.93	497166	2.84	291184
Gliclazide	13.57	2592383	4.34	200272	4.65	179890
Ketamine	11.11	7871376	13.87	1985194	13.46	1234050
Lamotrigine	10.89	26715395	9.30	2977406	9.21	2655654
Levetiracetam	5.12	2889124	5.23	159410	5.09	19192
Lidocaine	10.63	9441405	15.10	3073209	14.82	1618922
Lorazepam	12.35	869623	12.34	102072	12.34	100088
Mirtazapine	12.63	10706870	16.53	2641459	16.32	2021736
Naproxen	13.82	588068	1.68	37807	1.97	16721
Nitrazepam	12.78	1155330	12.65	215367	12.58	136624
Nordiazepam	13.37	3020351	13.37	623960	13.35	551707
Oxycodone	8.90	5328067	17.10	969006	16.22	534135
Paliperidone	13.59	10809380	17.01	4114550	16.20	2709541
Pregabalin	5.84	1491399	2.55	230995	2.44	222991
Procyclidine	15.41	13426668	21.62	8136229	18.33	4187546
Quetiapine	14.64	12702296	14.93	3234697	14.71	1901231
Quinine	14.61	8926433	19.06	3038643	18.46	1769459
Risperidone	14.97	12592250	17.75	6929731	17.27	3845949
Trazodone	14.58	11658604	15.47	3236148	15.35	2661362
Zolpidem	14.01	16871378	14.30	6562196	14.22	4093063
Zopiclone	11.72	3057176	14.06	175172	13.93	200131
Zuclopentixol	18.46	1147058	18.26	601426	17.78	255559

Table 12. A list of the detected analytes' retention factors and peak areas in experiments with the PFP column using ammonium acetate and HFTB as the eluent additives.

The majority of analytes with the constant retention times also had low pK_a values (below 7.6, group "no change in retention" in Figure 33). Also, addition of organic solvent (MeOH) lowers the pK_a values of basic analytes [17]. If the basic analyte's pK_a value is below that of eluent's pH, the majority of the basic functional groups in the analytes are presented in the deprotonated B form. As neutral analytes, these did not interact with HFTB and are not influenced by the change of a high pH.



Figure 33. Box plots for pK_a values of the analytes, which are grouped into three categories according to the observed relationship between the retention factors and eluent additive as well as the pH of the aqueous phase.

Analytes which demonstrated an increase in retention time when the novel eluent additive HFTB was used, especially at the pH 8.5 (Figure 34), all had relatively high pK_a values – in the range between 6.7 and 9.7 (Figure 33), which means the basic groups in analytes are influenced by the change in the used pH range of 8.5 and 9.0.



■0.01% formic acid, 5 mM ammonium formate, pH 4.0 ■HFTB, pH 8.5 ■HFTB, pH 9.0

Figure 34. The retention time of 15 analytes when using the 0.01% formic acid with 5mM ammonium acetate at pH 4.0 and HFTB as eluent additives at the pH values of 8.5 and 9.0.

The nine analytes, which were less retained on the PFP column when HFTB was used as the eluent additive, have the largest variation (Figure 33) of pK_a values. However, these are the only six detected analytes (benzoylecgonine, cetirizine, diclofenac, gabapentin, naproxen and pregabalin) that have the carboxylic (-COOH) group in their structure. Out of the other two analytes, one has a hydroxy group (zuclopentixol), one an -SO₂ group (gliclazide). The last analyte in the group, which does not have a carboxylic group, is lamotrigine. At a high pH, the carboxylic group would be present in the polar deprotonated (A⁻) form, while the basic functional groups would be in equilibria between the polar (BH⁺) and deprotonated B forms (depending on the pK_a values), but with the protonated form in the majority. HFTB has additional ion-pairing properties, however it can still form ion-pairs with protonated basic analytes in the mobile phase. It is possible that due to deprotonated acidic functional group, these pairs are not formed.



Figure 35. Retention time of 9 analytes when using 0.01% formic acid with 5mM ammonium acetate and HFTB as eluent additives at pH values of 8.5 and 9.0.

Changes in ionisation

For all analytes, the undoubtedly best signal intensity was obtained using the routine eluent system, at times giving even a 100-fold increase when compared to the MS signal obtained when HFTB was used. Between the HFTB pH 8.5 and 9.0, on average the signal obtained at the pH 8.5 was 1.6 times higher than that obtained at the pH 9.0. Few exceptions were observed: three cases – alprazolam, lorazepam and zopiclone – when a better signal was obtained at the pH 9.0, and two cases – diclofenac and levetiracetam – which saw an increase in signal intensity by 6.8 and 8.5, respectively, when the HFTB 8.5 was used as an aqueous phase.

4.2. Practical applications

In order to research the possible influence of novel eluent additives in real-life applications, two bioanalytical methods with the aim to obtain data usable in PK/PD studies were developed and fully validated according to the European Medicines Agency (EMA) guideline [49]. The main reason for using novel eluent additives was that these methods were aimed to achieve incredibly low lower limits of quantification (LLOQ) of the pharmaceutical compounds in a very small volume of the sample. The need for low concentrations and sample volumes arose from the larger clinical study design, as the population consisted of paediatric patients and neonates.

4.2.1. Challenges of the data below the analytical limit of quantitation in pharmacokinetic analysis [II]

When developing a bioanalytical method, it is important to choose calibration range fit for the purpose of the study. For quantification of well-known pharmaceuticals there is information available, which describes the usually encountered concentration ranges in blood plasma in humans. Those are called the therapeutic drug ranges and they describe how much of analyte is needed to achieve the therapeutic effect. However, the situation becomes considerably more complex in case of PK/PD studies, where sometimes only an inkling of possible ranges is available and furthermore, when PK/PD study sampling population is paediatric patients (meaning analyte concentration can be very low). Addition instrumentation that lacks good sensitivity increase the risk of choosing too high LLOQ values. This can lead to significant amount of measured samples producing results that fall below LLOQ values.

Due to the rules set by different bioanalytical method validation guidelines [94]–[97], the data which are obtained during the quantification of an analyte using a bioanalytical method, but falls below the limit of quantification, cannot be released as it lacks the required precision evaluation. Usually, these data points are simply marked as BLQ. However, the inclusion of the data can contribute to a smaller imprecision and bias in model-based PK analyses [65]. Additionally, since no numerical value is provided, a statistical treatment for BLQ data points must be used. The most common methods of this include the exclusion of BLQ data, partial exclusion, or substitution with the halved value of LLOQ, the actual value of LLOQ or zero.

It is important to note that there always can be data that fall below the limits of quantification. If that happens, the best way to deal with BLQ data would be to minimise the impact of its occurrence but in order to achieve that, there has to be cooperation between PK modellers and bioanalytical scientists. This would improve study protocols by ensuring the most suited and needed concentration ranges and that assay sensitivity parameters are met. If there are many BLQ data points in an assay, a re-assessment of the assay should be done and the LLOQ should be lowered, which is both a time- and resource consuming process and should be avoided.

Likewise, an introduction of a harmonised limit of detection (LoD) definition in the validation guidelines, which is not dependant on the signal to noise ratio, should be encouraged. From the already acquired data, the LoD can be calculated using formula (2):

$$LoD = 3.3 * \frac{SD(LLOQ)}{S}$$
(2)

SD(LLOQ) in the formula marks the standard deviation of the analyte response measured from the replicate measurements in the LLOQ sample (or the analyte and internal standard response ratio). S stands for the slope of a line drawn between the origin and the mean response of the replicates at the nominal LLOQ concentration.

Using the formula (2), LoD estimations are quite conservative. There are alternative LoD estimation techniques [98], [99], which lead to more statistically accurate LoD value due to less assumptions made, however they require additional experiments, which are not included in the validation guidelines. Still, using the LoD should be encouraged as it can both demonstrate analytical performance and give data analysts the chance to make the final decision about the inclusion or exclusion of BLQ data in a model.

4.2.2. Method development and validation for the analysis of morphine, clonidine and midazolam and their metabolites [I]

All six analgesic analytes (morphine, it's two metabolites M3G and M6G, clonidine, midazolam and its metabolite MiOH) in the CLON01 ("Clonidine for Sedation of Paediatric Patients in the Intensive Care Unit) study have basic properties, as shown by their pK_a values (Table 13).

The eluent's aqueous phase was chosen to fit those basic analytes' requirements – 5mM HFIP and the pH was adjusted to 9 (with ammonium hydroxide), as HFIP is a weak acid (pK_a 9.3 [19]). A chromatogram obtained under these conditions can be seen in Figure 36.

Name	Abbreviation	pK_{a}	pK _a reference	$\log P$	log <i>P</i> reference
morphine-3-glucuronide	M3G	$pK_{a1} = 9.12* \ pK_{a2} = 2.87*$	[03]	-3*	[98]
morphine-6-glucuronide	M6G	$pK_{a1} = 9.12* pK_{a2} = 2.87*$	[دبر]	2.99*	[86]
morphine		8.2	[100]	0.93	[101]
clonidine		8.05	[102]	1.59	[103]
1'-hydroxymidazolam	MiOH	4.99*	[104]	2.48*	[93]
midazolam		6.15	[105]	3.33*	[86]
Cartimated values					

Table 13. Analytes researched for the CLON01 study, their pK_a and $\log P$ values.

'estimated values



Figure 36. A typical chromatogram obtained at analytes' concentration of 0.5 ng/mL. (1 – M3G, 2 – M6G, 3 – morphine, 4 – clonidine, 5 – MiOH, 6 – midazolam).

In order to simultaneously detect morphine as well as its two metabolites, they all had to be chromatographically separated. The reason for this is that both M3G and M6G undergo in-source collision induced dissociation (CID) that results in the loss of the glucuronic acid component. Without it, the fragment m/z remaining is identical to that of morphine (m/z 286). If the three analytes are not chromatographically separated, glucuronides would contribute to the morphine signal [78].

As a novel fluorinated eluent additive, the HFIP in the basic mobile phase acts as a weak ion-pairing additive. Due to the glucuronic acid group with pK_{a2} 2.87, at the used eluent pH it is completely deprotonated, thus making analytes polar and not well retained on the RP column. Furthermore, as seen by results described in 4.1.5.3, an acid group in the molecule decreases the retention of the analyte if a novel fluorinated eluent additive is used. As a result, both M3G and M6G elute early during the chromatographic run (Figure 36), even if their basic group has the highest pK_a value of the studied analytes (Figure 37). Clonidine and morphine have similar pK_a values; however, morphine is less lipophilic based on their log*P* values; thus it elutes faster. Both MiOH and midazolam should be in a completely protonated form in the aqueous solution; however, midazolam is more lipophilic. It also elutes when the MeOH content is 100% (Figure 37).

The use of HFIP as a novel eluent additive also helped to reach the needed lowest limits of quantification (50 pg/mL) by increasing instrument sensitivity.

The developed and validated (according to the EMA guideline [49]) method has been successfully applied to samples collected under the CLON01 ("Clonidine for Sedation of Paediatric Patients in the Intensive Care Unit") study. The CLON01 study was a randomised, double-blind controlled clinical trial, funded by the European Commission Seventh Framework Programme with the aim to compare the use of clonidine with midazolam in paediatric and neonatal ICUs. In addition to clonidine or midazolam, patients also received an analgesic component – morphine. The goal of the study was to analyse PK for all three drugs and to develop dosage guidelines for sedation in ICUs for paediatric and neonatal patients.



Figure 37. Gradient composition over time with corresponding analytes' pK_a values in the order of analyte elution – M3G, M6G, morphine, clonidine, MiOH and midazolam.

4.2.3. Method development and validation for analysis of milrinone and dobutamine [III, V, VI]

Analysis of milrinone and dobutamine

A very sensitive and selective method for the simultaneous determination of milrinone and dobutamine (Figure 38) was developed and validated for simultaneous measurement in neonatal plasma samples, using only a sample volume of 20 μ L (the lowest known reported). To reach the needed sensitivity with the minimal amount of sample, NH₄F was used as an eluent additive. While it is not uncommon to see a positive influence on the signal of NH₄F in the negative ion mode, the same cannot be said about the positive ion mode. A comparison of different eluent compositions (the 0.1% formic acid versus NH₄F) showed a signal increase for both analytes. For milrinone, the signal increased two times, but for dobutamine – seven.



Figure 38. Chromatogram of a patient's sample. Milrinone's concentration is 113 ng/mL and dobutamine's concentration is 4 ng/mL. IS concentration is 44 ng/mL. Interfering peaks on the dobutamine chromatogram were baseline separated from the dobutamine peak and did not interfere with quantitation.

Results from clinical studies

The method was developed and validated according to the EMA guideline [49], and successfully applied to measuring samples from a two-centre study in Estonia (Tallinn Children's Hospital and Tartu University Hospital): no. 2015-004836-36 (the registered number in the EU Clinical Trials Register). The obtained results were further used to describe the PK of milrinone and dobutamine in neonates in papers [V] and [VI].

Ionisation of model analytes when using NH₄F with the biphenyl column

In order to test the influence on ionisation and dependence on either pK_a or $\log P$ values in the positive ion detection mode, the peak areas of the analytes were compared between using ammonium acetate and the NH₄F eluent at the pH 8.5 with the model analytes from Table 5. However, the results were inconclusive mainly due to the fact that peak areas varied greatly between injections, which led to large standard deviations (Figure 39).



Figure 39. Comparison between peak areas for basic polar analytes group BH+ and milrinone and dobutamine when ammonium acetate and NH_4F was used as eluent additives at pH 8.5.

While both milrinone and dobutamine saw increase (2 times for milrinone and 1.3 for dobutamine), when NH_4F was used as eluent additive at pH 8.5, the increase or decrease remained analyte specific and there was no relationship between analytes logP and pK_a values. Thus it can be seen while NH_4F increased signal for some analytes, the enhancement was not as significant as it was seen for acidic conditions.

SUMMARY

This work aimed to expand different novel eluent additives for use mainly in HPLC-MS systems. Another aim was to further research the retention mechanisms on reversed-phase columns and any influence had on the analyte ionisation on MS detection when different eluent additives at a predominantly high mobile phase pH were used.

As eluent additives, three fluoroalcohols (HFIP, HFTB and PP) are well retained on the C18 stationary phase, therefore it can be theorised that they create an anionic fluorous layer, which is very attractive for basic polar analytes, but repels acidic polar analytes. NFTB is not well retained; however, due to its low pK_a value it is completely deprotonated at a high pH and can still create ion-pairs with basic protonated analytes in the mobile phase. As for biphenyl and the PFP stationary phases – HFIP, HFTB are not retained on these stationary phases and thus most likely do not create the fluorous layer. PP is the only additive which presented a long tailing (even if it eluted quickly) and thus could possibly create a fluorous layer also on the biphenyl stationary phase.

Thus, for retention on the C18 stationary phase there is a possibility of dual interaction – between the analyte and fluorous layer created by the fluorinated eluent additive and the interaction of the eluent additive with the analyte in the mobile phase. For common eluent additives (ammonium acetate, bicarbonate and formate), change in retention is only due to the change in equilibria between the analyte's polar (A⁻ or BH⁺) and non-polar (AH and B) forms. This is especially well demonstrated for polar basic analytes – when a sharp increase in all analytes' retention from the pH 8.5 and 9.0 to the pH 10.0 was observed. Since there is little to no change between the ionised and non-ionised forms of an analyte due to their pK_a values, then for the two neutral analyte groups retention changed very little, as they are not influenced by the change of the mobile phase pH.

While the changes in retention when novel eluent additives are used to large extent follow the same patterns already observed with conventional eluent additives, as they are also dependent on the equilibria between polar and non-polar analyte form, these changes are amplified. For non-polar analytes, the retention factors varied more, and as most of the AH group analytes have pK_a values around 10 and thus are partly protonated at a higher eluent pH, the retention was overall smaller when HFIP and HFTB were used. In general for acidic analytes, smaller retention factors (on top of the decrease in retention with the increase of the mobile phase pH) were observed when compared to conventional eluent additives. This is due to the fact that acidic polar analytes not only have to compete for a place on the stationary phase, but they are also additionally repelled by the deprotonated HFIP, HFTB, NFTB and PP eluent additives. Due to the pK_a values of HFIP, HFTB and PP with increase of the eluent pH, also these novel eluent additives become more deprotonated and increasingly repelling to acidic analytes. For basic neutral analytes, a simply

larger variation in retention factors was present, without a clear increase or decrease. However, the largest influence of novel eluent additives was undoubtedly observed for basic polar analytes. The increase in retention with the increase of the pH eluent observed when HFIP and HFTB were used was more gradual than when conventional eluent additives were used and with overall larger retention factors. For some analytes, the retention increased 28 and 35 times when using novel eluent additives. For one basic protonated analyte fluoroalcohol PP increased the retention factor by 41 times. PP is especially promising due to its structural properties – two hydroxy groups, which means PP also has two pK_a values. Thus PP has good potential to be used as an ion-pairing reagent also in the case of the low mobile phase pH values. NFTB showed the same influence patterns on basic analytes as other novel eluent additives.

As for TFE and DMSO – due to their minimal buffering capacity, it was impossible to achieve the stable mobile phase pH 8.5 and 9.0. Likewise, considerably lower analyte signal was observed – either due to suppression or non-optimal source parameters in case of DMSO. Thus, both are deemed not to be suitable for further use in bioanalytical methods.

Overall, the retention of analytes on the biphenyl stationary phase was greater due to the π - π interactions, but there were some exceptions – all analytes containing a nitro group were very poorly retained, even if they had a benzene ring in their structure. Furthermore, both neutral analyte groups – the protonated acidic analytes and deprotonated basic analytes – were more influenced by changes in the pH of the mobile phase than when the C18 column was used. The largest difference in retention between the C18 and biphenyl stationary phases for acidic analytes was observed at the eluent pH 8.5 – when a smaller part of the analyte is deprotonated and thus due to the additional π - π or halogen- π interactions, the analyte is better retained on the biphenyl column. For basic polar analytes, even without clear π - π interactions (as none of the BH⁺ group analytes had an aromatic ring in its structure), the retention was stronger than that seen with the C18 column. A higher log*P* value also ensured better retention for polar basic analytes.

In order to expand this research into the practical field, the separation of a large set of common toxicology analytes (all with at least one basic functional group) was studied. An in-house method for screening with gradient elution (thus influence of pH was decreased) was used as a comparison to novel eluent additives. Firstly, the influence of DFA was tested in comparison with the inhouse method on the C18 stationary phase column. While the change from formic acid to DFA in the in-house buffer (where also ammonium formate is added) did not make a significant difference in retention or ionisation, using the eluent only with DFA did. 42 analytes out of 90 showed a significant decrease in retention, mainly due to a decrease in the eluent's pH. The increase of retention when DFA was used could be seen for analytes with acidic functional groups in their structures. As for analyte ionisation, DFA gave a consistently

lower signal if compared with the obtained peak areas when formic acid was used.

The change to a different stationary phase (biphenyl) demonstrated a decrease in number of the analytes detected. A half of the analytes were not influenced by the change of the eluent additives (ammonium acetate and HFTB), nor were they affected by a change in the pH from 8.5 to 9.0. Analytes which demonstrated a decrease in retention when HFTB was used as the eluent additive had either low pK_a values or a carboxylic functional group in their structure. Analytes which showed an increase in retention when HFTB was used as the eluent additive also had higher pK_a as well as higher log*P* values, meaning a larger part of the basic analyte was in the polar form and thus interacting more readily with HFTB by forming ion-pairs with the fluoroalcohol. When HFTB was used as the eluent additive, the majority of analytes showed an increase in the MS signal, especially when the eluent's pH was 9.0.

The biggest difference in retention was presented when the PFP column was used as only 42 analytes were recorded as distinct peaks – other analytes either retained too poorly or too strongly on the PFP stationary phase, even if the inhouse acidic mobile phase conditions were used. Analytes with pK_a values below 7.6 saw no change in retention when HFTB was used as the eluent additive. Again, analytes which were retained less when HFTB was used, also had a carboxylic acid functional group in their structure. Just like with the biphenyl column, the acidic functional group, which is deprotonated at the used high eluent pH, demonstrated that ionic interaction between the negatively charged functional group in the analyte and the likewise deprotonated novel fluorinated eluent additive is more important in terms of influence on retention than the attraction of the protonated basic functional group.

In this doctoral dissertation, two practical applications were presented: method development and validation for pharmaceutical analytes with the aim to obtain data usable for PK/PD studies. Both methods were fully validated according to the EMA guideline and reached incredibly low limits of quantification with a minimal sample amount used. One method was created to quantify three sedative drugs – morphine, clonidine and midazolam with their metabolites M3G, M6G and MiOH. Using HFIP as the eluent additive enabled the separation of M3G and M6G and morphine analytes, which have the same fragmentation patterns. The other method, which focused on the cardiovascular drugs milrinone and dobutamine, demonstrated an increase in the signal: two times for milrinone and seven times for dobutamine when NH₄F was used as the eluent additive. An increase in the signal observed ensured less data being marked as BLQ, which cannot be realised due to the guidelines and has a detrimental influence on PK/PD modelling. Further research on the NH₄F influence on analyte ionisation in the positive detection mode was done; however, the results remained very analyte dependant.

REFERENCES

- [1] L. R. Snyder *et al.*, *Introduction to modern liquid chromatography*, Third Edit. Hoboken, New Jersey: John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 2010.
- [2] D. Guillarme and J.-L. Veuthey, *UHPLC in Life Sciences*. Cambridge: The Royal Society of Chemistry, 2012.
- [3] K. K. Murray, R. K. Boyd, M. N. Eberlin, G. J. Langley, L. Li, and Y. Naito, "Definitions of terms relating to mass spectrometry (IUPAC Recommendations 2013)," *Pure Appl. Chem.*, vol. 85, no. 7, pp. 1515–1609, 2013.
- [4] R. E. Majors and J. Hinshaw, "The Chromatography & Sample Preparation Terminology Guide," *LCGC North America*, vol. 36, Feb-2018.
- [5] U. D. Neue, *HPLC Columns: Theory, Technology, and Practice*. New York: Wiley Analytical Science, 1997.
- [6] K. Croes, A. Steffens, D. H. Marchand, and L. R. Snyder, "Relevance of π-π and dipole-dipole interactions for retention on cyano and phenyl columns in reversedphase liquid chromatography," *J. Chromatogr. A*, vol. 1098, no. 1–2, pp. 123–130, Dec. 2005.
- [7] C. David S., D. Bell, and S. Hugh, "Evaluation of Retention and Selectivity Using Biphenyl Stationary Phases," *LCGC North America*, pp. 360–365, 2017.
- [8] D. S. Bell and A. D. Jones, "Solute attributes and molecular interactions contributing to 'U-shape' retention on a fluorinated high-performance liquid chromatography stationary phase," *J. Chromatogr. A*, vol. 1073, no. 1–2, pp. 99–109, May 2005.
- [9] C. T. S. D. S. Bell, "Mechanisms of Interaction Responsible for Alternative Selectivity of Fluorinated Stationary Phases," *LCGC North America*, vol. 32, no. 2, pp. 92–105, Feb-2016.
- [10] H. A. Claessens and M. A. Van Straten, "Review on the chemical and thermal stability of stationary phases for reversed-phase liquid chromatography," J. Chromatogr. A, vol. 1060, pp. 23–41, 2004.
- [11] K. K. Unger, J. N. Kinkel, B. Anspach, and H. Giesche, "Evaluation of advanced silica packings for the separation of biopolymers by high-performance liquid chromatography. I. Design and properties of parent silicas," *J. Chromatogr. A*, vol. 296, no. C, pp. 3–14, Jul. 1984.
- [12] J. J. Kirkland, M. A. van Straten, and H. A. Claessens, "High pH mobile phase effects on silica-based reversed-phase high-performance liquid chromatographic columns," *J. Chromatogr. A*, vol. 691, no. 1–2, pp. 3–19, Feb. 1995.
- [13] K. K. Unger, N. Becker, and P. Roumeliotis, "Recent developments in the evaluation of chemically bonded silica packings for liquid chromatography," J. *Chromatogr. A*, vol. 125, no. 1, pp. 115–127, Sep. 1976.
- [14] S. C. Moldoveanu and V. David, "Solvents, Buffers, and Additives Used in the Mobile Phase," in *Selection of the HPLC Method in Chemical Analysis*, Elsevier, 2017, pp. 393–450.
- [15] M. C. McMaster, "Appendix B: Solvents and Volatile Buffers for LC/MS," in LC/MS: A Practical User's Guide, Hoboken, NJ, USA: John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 2005, pp. 139–142.
- [16] E. De Hoffmann and V. Stroobant, Mass Spectrometry. Principles and Applications, Third Edit. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd, 2007.

- [17] X. Subirats, M. Rosés, and E. Bosch, "On the Effect of Organic Solvent Composition on the pH of Buffered HPLC Mobile Phases and the pKa of Analytes—A Review," Sep. Purif. Rev., vol. 36, no. 3, pp. 231–255, 2007.
- [18] A. Suu et al., "Unified pH Values of Liquid Chromatography Mobile Phases," Anal. Chem., vol. 87, no. 5, pp. 2623–2630, Mar. 2015.
- [19] A. Apffel, J. A. Chakel, S. Fischer, K. Lichtenwalter, and W. S. Hancock, "Analysis of Oligonucleotides by HPLC-Electrospray Ionization Mass Spectrometry," *Anal. Chem.*, vol. 69, no. 7, pp. 1320–5, Apr. 1997.
- [20] E. P. Serjeant and B. Dempsey, "Ionisation Constants of Organic Acids in Aqueous Solution. International Union of Pure and Applied Chemistry (IUPAC)," IUPAC Chemical Data Series, Ed. New York: Pergamon Press, 1979, p. 989.
- [21] C. W. Roberts, E. T. McBee, and C. E. Hathaway, "The Potentiometric Titration of Fluorinated Alcohols in Aqueous and Non-Aqueous Systems," *J. Org. Chem.*, vol. 21, no. 12, pp. 1369–1370, Dec. 1956.
- [22] E. Parman, L. Toom, S. Selberg, and I. Leito, "Determination of pKa values of fluorocompounds in water using 19F NMR," J. Phys. Org. Chem., p. e3940, Feb. 2019.
- [23] European Chemicals Agency, "Difluoroacetic acid Registration Dossier ECHA." [Online]. Available: https://echa.europa.eu/registration-dossier/-/registered-dossier/ 11679/4/22. [Accessed: 08-May-2020].
- [24] W. S. Matthews *et al.*, "Equilibrium acidities of carbon acids. VI. Establishment of an absolute scale of acidities in dimethyl sulfoxide solution," *J. Am. Chem. Soc.*, vol. 97, no. 24, pp. 7006–7014, Nov. 1975.
- [25] K. Kipper, K. Herodes, and I. Leito, "Fluoroalcohols as novel buffer components for basic buffer solutions for liquid chromatography electrospray ionization mass spectrometry: retention mechanisms.," J. Chromatogr. A, vol. 1218, no. 45, pp. 8175–80, Nov. 2011.
- [26] B. Basiri *et al.*, "The Role of Fluorinated Alcohols as Mobile Phase Modifiers for LC-MS Analysis of Oligonucleotides," *Am. Soc. Mass Spectrom.*, vol. 28, no. 28, pp. 190–198, 2017.
- [27] K. Kipper, K. Herodes, I. Leito, and L. Nei, "Two fluoroalcohols as components of basic buffers for liquid chromatography electrospray ionization mass spectrometric determination of antibiotic residues," *Analyst*, vol. 136, no. 21, pp. 4587–4594, 2011.
- [28] S. M. Ennaceur and J. M. Sanderson, "Micellar aggregates formed following the addition of hexafluoroisopropanol to phospholipid membranes," *Langmuir*, vol. 21, no. 2, pp. 552–561, Jan. 2005.
- [29] M. Zhang et al., "Fluorinated Alcohols' Effects on Lipid Bilayer Properties," *Biophys. J.*, vol. 115, no. 4, pp. 679–689, Aug. 2018.
- [30] R. Liu, Y. Ruan, Z. Liu, and L. Gong, "The role of fluoroalcohols as counter anions for ion-pairing reversed-phase liquid chromatography/high-resolution electrospray ionization mass spectrometry analysis of oligonucleotides," *Rapid Commun. Mass Spectrom.*, vol. 33, no. 7, pp. 697–709, Apr. 2019.
- [31] G. Mitulović et al., "Preventing Carryover of Peptides and Proteins in Nano LC-MS Separations," Anal. Chem., vol. 81, no. 14, pp. 5955–5960, Jul. 2009.
- [32] H. Hahne et al., "DMSO enhances electrospray response, boosting sensitivity of proteomic experiments," Nat. Methods, vol. 10, no. 10, pp. 989–992, 2013.

- [33] D. Strzelecka, S. W. Holman, and C. E. Eyers, "Evaluation of dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) as a mobile phase additive during top 3 label-free quantitative proteomics," *Int. J. Mass Spectrom.*, vol. 391, pp. 157–160, 2015.
- [34] P. Judák, J. Grainger, C. Goebel, P. Van Eenoo, and K. Deventer, "DMSO Assisted Electrospray Ionization for the Detection of Small Peptide Hormones in Urine by Dilute-and-Shoot-Liquid-Chromatography-High Resolution Mass Spectrometry," J. Am. Soc. Mass Spectrom., vol. 28, no. 8, pp. 1657–1665, Aug. 2017.
- [35] K. Takkis *et al.*, "Signal Enhancement in the HPLC-ESI-MS/MS analysis of spironolactone and its metabolites using HFIP and NH4F as eluent additives," *Anal. Bioanal. Chem.*, vol. 409, no. 12, pp. 3145–3151, May 2017.
- [36] W. Wang, R. B. Cole, J. J. Pesek, M. T. Matyska, W. Wang, and R. B. Cole, "Enhanced Collision-Induced Decomposition Efficiency and Unraveling of Fragmentation Pathways for Anionic Adducts of Brevetoxins in Negative Ion Electrospray Mass Spectrometry," *Anal. Chem.*, vol. 81, pp. 8826–8838, 2009.
- [37] T. Fiers, B. Casetta, B. Bernaert, E. Vandersypt, M. Debock, and J.-M. Kaufman, "Development of a highly sensitive method for the quantification of estrone and estradiol in serum by liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry without derivatization," *J. Chromatogr. B*, pp. 57–62, 2012.
- [38] M. Witting, H.-C. Rudloff, M. Thondamal, H. Aguilaniu, and P. Schmitt-Kopplin, "Fast separation and quantification of steroid hormones 4-and 7-dafachronic acid in Caenorhabditis elegans," *J. Chromatogr. B*, pp. 118–121, 2015.
- [39] L. Yin *et al.*, "Simultaneous determination of carboprost methylate and its active metabolite carboprost in dog plasma by liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry with positive/negative ion-switching electrospray ionization and its application to a pharmacokinetic study," *J. Chromatogr. B*, pp. 8–14, 2015.
- [40] J. J. Pesek and M. T. Matyska, "Ammonium fluoride as a mobile phase additive in aqueous normal phase chromatography," J. Chromatogr. A, vol. 1401, pp. 69–74, 2015.
- [41] J. Kellett, R. Birdsall, and Y. Qing Yu, "Application of Difluoroacetic Acid to Improve Optical and MS Performance in Peptide LC-UV/MS," 2019.
- [42] I. J. Wells, Pharmaceutical Preformulation: The Physicochemical Properties of Drug Substances. New York: Ellis Horwoord, 1988.
- [43] C. I. S. Barker *et al.*, "Pharmacokinetic studies in children: recommendations for practice and research," *Archives of disease in childhood*, vol. 103, no. 7. NLM (Medline), pp. 695–702, 01-Jul-2018.
- [44] R. Coppini, S. H. P. Simons, A. Mugelli, and K. Allegaert, "Clinical research in neonates and infants: Challenges and perspectives," *Pharmacological Research*, vol. 108. Academic Press, pp. 80–87, 01-Jun-2016.
- [45] L.-T. Heidmets, T. Metsvaht, M.-L. Ilmoja, H. Pisarev, K. Oselin, and I. Lutsar, "Blood Loss Related to Participation in Pharmacokinetic Study in Preterm Neonates," *Neonatology*, vol. 100, no. 2, pp. 111–115, 2011.
- [46] Committee for medicinal products for human use (CHMP) and Paediatric comittee (PDCO), "Guideline on the investigation of medicinal products in the term and preterm neonate." European Medicines Agency, London, p. 21, 2008.
- [47] K. O'Hara, J. H. Martin, and J. J. Schneider, "Barriers and Challenges in Performing Pharmacokinetic Studies to Inform Dosing in the Neonatal Population," *Pharmacy*, vol. 8, no. 1, p. 16, Feb. 2020.
- [48] Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, "The role and responsibilities of the study director in GLP studies," *OECD*, 1999. [Online].

Available: http://www.oecd.org/officialdocuments/publicdisplaydocumentpdf/?doclanguage=en&cote=env/jm/mono(99)24.

- [49] Committee for Medicinal Products for Human Use (CHMP), "Guideline on bioanalytical method validation." European Medicines Agency, London, p. 22, 2011.
- [50] T. Russell, M. Stoltz, and S. Weir, "Pharmacokinetics, pharmacodynamics, and tolerance of single- and multiple-dose fexofenadine hydrochloride in healthy male volunteers," *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.*, vol. 64, no. 6, pp. 612–621, Dec. 1998.
- [51] B. A. Chen *et al.*, "Phase 1 Safety, Pharmacokinetics, and Pharmacodynamics of Dapivirine and Maraviroc Vaginal Rings: a Double-Blind Randomized Trial," J. Acquir. Immune Defic. Syndr., vol. 70, no. 3, p. 242, Nov. 2015.
- [52] J.-E. Chang-Lin *et al.*, "Pharmacokinetics and Pharmacodynamics of a Sustained-Release Dexamethasone Intravitreal Implant," *Investig. Opthalmology Vis. Sci.*, vol. 52, no. 1, p. 80, Jan. 2011.
- [53] C. van Kesteren *et al.*, "Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of the novel marine-derived anticancer agent ecteinascidin 743 in a phase I dose-finding study.," *Clin. Cancer Res.*, vol. 6, no. 12, pp. 4725–32, Dec. 2000.
- [54] M. G. Hall, M. F. Wilks, W. M. Provan, S. Eksborg, and B. Lumholtz, "Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of NTBC (2-(2-nitro-4-fluoromethylbenzoyl)-1,3cyclohexanedione) and mesotrione, inhibitors of 4-hydroxyphenyl pyruvate dioxygenase (HPPD) following a single dose to healthy male volunteers," *Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol.*, vol. 52, no. 2, pp. 169–177, Dec. 2001.
- [55] J. Kirchheiner *et al.*, "Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of rosiglitazone in relation to CYP2C8 genotype," *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.*, vol. 80, no. 6, pp. 657– 667, Dec. 2006.
- [56] G. E. Blakey *et al.*, "Pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic assessment of a fiveprobe metabolic cocktail for CYPs 1A2, 3A4, 2C9, 2D6 and 2E1," *Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol.*, vol. 57, no. 2, pp. 162–169, Oct. 2003.
- [57] W. M. Bagchus, R. Hust, F. Maris, P. G. Schnabel, and N. S. Houwing, "Important Effect of Food on the Bioavailability of Oral Testosterone Undecanoate," *Pharmacotherapy*, vol. 23, no. 3, pp. 319–325, Mar. 2003.
- [58] K. W. Garey, E. Tesoro, V. Muggia, O. Pasquier, and K. A. Rodvold, "Cerebrospinal Fluid Concentrations of Quinupristin-Dalfopristin in a Patient with Vancomycin-Resistant *Enterococcus faecalis* Ventriculitis," *Pharmacotherapy*, vol. 21, no. 6, pp. 748–750, Jun. 2001.
- [59] A. M. Worm and A. Osterlind, "Azithromycin levels in cervical mucus and plasma after a single 1.0g oral dose for chlamydial cervicitis.," *Genitourin. Med.*, vol. 71, no. 4, pp. 244–6, Aug. 1995.
- [60] J. Stangier, K. Rathgen, H. Stähle, D. Gansser, and W. Roth, "The pharmacokinetics, pharmacodynamics and tolerability of dabigatran etexilate, a new oral direct thrombin inhibitor, in healthy male subjects," *Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol.*, vol. 64, no. 3, pp. 292–303, Sep. 2007.
- [61] R. Teng and K. Butler, "Pharmacokinetics, pharmacodynamics, tolerability and safety of single ascending doses of ticagrelor, a reversibly binding oral P2Y12 receptor antagonist, in healthy subjects," *Eur. J. Clin. Pharmacol.*, vol. 66, no. 5, pp. 487–496, May 2010.
- [62] T. Heise, E. U. Graefe-Mody, S. Hüttner, A. Ring, D. Trommeshauser, and K. A. Dugi, "Pharmacokinetics, pharmacodynamics and tolerability of multiple oral

doses of linagliptin, a dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitor in male type 2 diabetes patients," *Diabetes, Obes. Metab.*, vol. 11, no. 8, pp. 786–794, Aug. 2009.

- [63] P. J. Bergen *et al.*, "Synergistic killing of multidrug-resistant Pseudomonas aeruginosa at multiple inocula by colistin combined with doripenem in an in vitro pharmacokinetic/pharmacodynamic model.," *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.*, vol. 55, no. 12, pp. 5685–95, Dec. 2011.
- [64] P. J. Bergen, J. B. Bulitta, A. Forrest, B. T. Tsuji, J. Li, and R. L. Nation, "Pharmacokinetic/pharmacodynamic investigation of colistin against Pseudomonas aeruginosa using an in vitro model.," *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.*, vol. 54, no. 9, pp. 3783–9, Sep. 2010.
- [65] R. J. Keizer *et al.*, "Incorporation of concentration data below the limit of quantification in population pharmacokinetic analyses," *Pharma Res Per*, vol. 3, no. 2, p. e00131, Mar. 2015.
- [66] S. L. Beal, "Ways to Fit a PK Model with Some Data Below the Quantification Limit," *J. Pharmacokinet. Pharmacodyn.*, vol. 28, no. 5, pp. 481–504, 2001.
- [67] S. E. Kern, A. Professor of Pharmaceutics, P. Chemistry, and A. Associate Professor of Pediatrics, "Challenges in conducting clinical trials in children: approaches for improving performance," *Expert Rev Clin Pharmacol*, vol. 2, no. 6, pp. 609–617, 2009.
- [68] N. Pathmanathan and J. McClure, "Sedation and delirium in the intensive care unit," *Anaesth. Intensive Care Med.*, vol. 17, no. 1, pp. 17–23, Jan. 2016.
- [69] S. Arenas-López *et al.*, "Use of oral clonidine for sedation in ventilated paediatric intensive care patients," *Intensive Care Med.*, vol. 30, no. 8, pp. 1625–9, 2004.
- [70] S. Samiee-Zafarghandy et al., "Safety of milrinone use in neonatal intensive care units," Early Hum. Dev., vol. 91, no. 1, pp. 31–35, Jan. 2015.
- [71] C. G. Hughes, S. McGrane, and P. P. Pandharipande, "Sedation in the intensive care setting," *Clinical Pharmacology: Advances and Applications*, vol. 4, no. 1. Dove Press, pp. 53–63, 2012.
- [72] S. P. Nordt and R. F. Clark, "Midazolam: A review of therapeutic uses and toxicity," J. Emerg. Med., vol. 15, no. 3, pp. 357–365, May 1997.
- [73] D. S. Streetman, J. S. Bertino, and A. N. Nafziger, "Phenotyping of drug-metabolizing enzymes in adults: a review of in-vivo cytochrome P450 phenotyping probes.," *Pharmacogenetics*, vol. 10, no. 3, pp. 187–216, Apr. 2000.
- [74] D. Sartori, T. Lewis, A. Breaud, and W. Clarke, "The development of a highperformance liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometric method for simultaneous quantification of morphine, morphine-3-β-glucuronide, morphine-6β-glucuronide, hydromorphone, and normorphine in serum," *Clin. Biochem.*, vol. 48, no. 18, pp. 1283–1290, 2015.
- [75] C. Skarke and J. Lötsch, "Morphine Metabolites: Clinical Implications," Semin. Anesth. Perioper. Med. Pain, vol. 21, no. 4, pp. 258–264, 2002.
- [76] S. De Gregori, M. De Gregori, G. N. Ranzani, M. Allegri, C. Minella, and M. Regazzi, "Morphine metabolism, transport and brain disposition," *Metab. Brain Dis.*, vol. 27, no. 1, pp. 1–5, Mar. 2012.
- [77] M. H. Slawson, D. J. Crouch, D. M. Andrenyak, D. E. Rollins, J. K. Lu, and P. L. Bailey, "Determination of Morphine, Morphine-3-glucuronide, and Morphine-6-glucuronide in Plasma after Intravenous and Intrathecal Morphine Administration Using HPLC with Electrospray Ionization and Tandem Mass Spectrometry," J. Anal. Toxicol., vol. 23, pp. 468–473, 1999.

- [78] W. Naidong, J. W. Lee, X. Jiang, M. Wehling, J. D. Hulse, and P. P. Lin, "Simultaneous assay of morphine, morphine-3-glucuronide and morphine-6glucuronide in human plasma using normal-phase liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry with a silica column and an aqueous organic mobile phase," J. Chromatogr. B Biomed. Sci. Appl., vol. 735, no. 2, pp. 255–269, Dec. 1999.
- [79] S. Ghassabian, S. M. Moosavi, Y. G. Valero, K. Shekar, J. F. Fraser, and M. T. Smith, "High-throughput assay for simultaneous quantification of the plasma concentrations of morphine, fentanyl, midazolam and their major metabolites using automated SPE coupled to LC–MS/MS," *J. Chromatogr. B*, vol. 903, pp. 126–133, 2012.
- [80] M. Mabuchi, S. Takatsuka, M. Matsuoka, and K. Tagawa, "Determination of morphine, morphine-3-glucuronide and morphine-6- glucuronide in monkey and dog plasma by high-performance liquid chromatography-electrospray ionization tandem mass spectrometry," *J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal.*, vol. 35, no. 3, pp. 563–573, May 2004.
- [81] S. A. Parekh, A. Pudage, S. S. Joshi, V. V Vaidya, and N. A. Gomes, "Rapid and sensitive liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) method for the determination of clonidine in human plasma," *J. Chromatogr. B. Analyt. Technol. Biomed. Life Sci.*, vol. 867, no. 2, pp. 172–8, May 2008.
- [82] C. Müller, M. Ramic, S. Harlfinger, C. Hünseler, M. Theisohn, and B. Roth, "Sensitive and convenient method for the quantification of clonidine in serum of pediatric patients using liquid chromatography/tandem mass spectrometry," J. Chromatogr. A, vol. 1139, no. 2, pp. 221–227, 2007.
- [83] R. Feneck, "Phosphodiesterase inhibitors and the cardiovascular system," Contin. Educ. Anaesthesia, Crit. Care Pain, vol. 7, no. 6, pp. 203–207, Dec. 2007.
- [84] T. C. Majerus, J. F. Dasta, J. L. Bauman, L. H. Danziger, and R. R. Ruffolo, "Dobutamine: Ten Years Later," *Pharmacother. J. Hum. Pharmacol. Drug Ther.*, vol. 9, no. 4, pp. 245–259, Jul. 1989.
- [85] H. Rabe and H. Rojas-Anaya, "Inotropes for preterm babies during the transition period after birth: friend or foe?," *Arch. Dis. Child. – Fetal Neonatal Ed.*, vol. 102, no. 6, pp. F547–F550, Nov. 2017.
- [86] S. Kim et al., "PubChem 2019 update: improved access to chemical data," Nucleic Acids Res., vol. 47, no. D1, pp. D1102–D1109, Jan. 2019.
- [87] S. Zhou and K. D. Cook, "FOCUS: ELECTROSPRAY Protonation in Electrospray Mass Spectrometry: Wrong-Way-Round or Right-Way-Round?," 2000.
- [88] Z. Wu, W. Gao, M. A. Phelps, D. Wu, D. D. Miller, and J. T. Dalton, "Favorable Effects of Weak Acids on Negative-Ion Electrospray Ionization Mass Spectrometry," *Anal. Chem.*, vol. 76, no. 3, pp. 839–847, Feb. 2004.
- [89] B. Chen, S. F. Mason, and M. G. Bartlett, "The Effect of Organic Modifiers on Electrospray Ionization Charge-State Distribution and Desorption Efficiency for Oligonucleotides," J. Am. Soc. Mass Spectrom, vol. 24, pp. 257–264, 2013.
- [90] M. H. Kolář and P. Hobza, "Computer Modeling of Halogen Bonds and Other σ-Hole Interactions," *Chemical Reviews*, vol. 116, no. 9. American Chemical Society, pp. 5155–5187, 11-May-2016.
- [91] E. Kanao *et al.*, "Separation of halogenated benzenes enabled by investigation of halogen-π interactions with carbon materials," *Chem. Sci.*, vol. 11, no. 2, pp. 409– 418, Jan. 2020.
- [92] D. S. Wishart *et al.*, "HMDB 4.0: the human metabolome database for 2018," *Nucleic Acids Res.*, vol. 46, 2018.

- [93] D. S. Wishart *et al.*, "DrugBank 5.0: A major update to the DrugBank database for 2018," *Nucleic Acids Res.*, vol. 46, no. D1, pp. D1074–D1082, Jan. 2018.
- [94] Committee for Medicinal Products for Human Use (CHMP), "European Medicines Agency (EMA) guideline on bioanalytical method validation," 2011. [Online]. Available: www.ema.europa.eu/docs/en_GB/document_library/ Scientific_guideline/2011/08/WC500109686.pdf.
- [95] Food and Drug Administration, "Guidance for Industry Bioanalytical Method Validation Draft Guidance," *Communications Staff*, 2013. [Online]. Available: http://www.fda.gov/Drugs/GuidanceComplianceRegulatoryInformation/Guidanc es/default.htm.
- [96] The Brazilian Health Regulatory Agency (Anvisa), "RDC 27/2012," 2012. [Online]. Available: http://portal.anvisa.gov.br/legislacao#/visualizar/28854.
- [97] Ministry of Health Labour and Welfare, "Guideline on bioanalytical method validation in pharmaceutical development," 2013. [Online]. Available: http://www.nihs.go.jp/drug/BMV/BMV_draft_130415_E.pdf.
- [98] H. Evard, A. Kruve, and I. Leito, "Tutorial on estimating the limit of detection using LC-MS analysis, part I: Theoretical review," *Anal. Chim. Acta*, vol. 942, pp. 23–39, Oct. 2016.
- [99] H. Evard, A. Kruve, and I. Leito, "Tutorial on estimating the limit of detection using LC-MS analysis, part II: Practical aspects," *Anal. Chim. Acta*, vol. 942, pp. 40–49, Oct. 2016.
- [100] P. M. Dewick, Essentials of organic chemistry: for students of pharmacy, medicinal chemistry and biological chemistry. J. Wiley, 2006.
- [101] K. Mazák, B. Noszál, and S. Hosztafi, "Advances in the Physicochemical Profiling of Opioid Compounds of Therapeutic Interest," *ChemistryOpen*, vol. 8, no. 7. Wiley-VCH Verlag, pp. 879–887, 01-Jul-2019.
- [102] K. Kontturi and L. Murtomaki, "Electrochemical determination of partition coefficients of drugs," J. Pharm. Sci., vol. 81, no. 10, pp. 970–975, Oct. 1992.
- [103] P. H. Howard and W. M. Meylan, Handbook of physical properties of organic chemicals. Lewis Publishers, 1997.
- [104] D. S. Wishart *et al.*, "DrugBank: a comprehensive resource for in silico drug discovery and exploration. Morphine-6-glucuronide," *Nucleic Acids Res*, 01-Jan-2006. [Online]. Available: http://www.hmdb.ca/metabolites/HMDB61089.
- [105] A. Walser, L. E. Benjamin, T. Flynn, C. Mason, R. Schwartz, and R. I. Fryer, "Quinazolines and 1,4-benzodiazepines. Synthesis and reactions of imidazo [1,5a][1,4]benzodiazepines," J. Org. Chem., vol. 43, pp. 936–944.

SUMMARY IN ESTONIAN

Uudsed eluendilisandid LC-MS baasil bioanalüütilistele metoodikatele

Käesoleva töö eesmärk oli laiendada teadmisi uudsete eluendilisandite kasutamise kohta peamiselt kõrgrõhu vedelikkromatograafia-massispektromeetria (HPLC-MS) meetodites. Lisaks uuriti põhjalikumalt retentsioonimehhanisme kasutades erinevate pöördfaaskromatograafilisi statsionaarseid faase ja lisandite mõju analüütide ionisatsioonile nende määramisel massispektromeetriga. Lisandeid kasutati peamiselt kõrgete mobiilfaasi pH'de juures.

Uuritud eluendilisanditest kinnitusid kolm fluoroalkoholi (heksafluoroisopropanool – HFIP, heksafluoro-*tert*-butanool – HFTB ja perfluoropinakool – PP) tugevalt C18 statsionaarse faasi pinnale, neist tugevaima interaktsiooniga oli PP. Seega võib eeldada, et uuritud eluendilisandid moodustavad anioonse fluoriühendite kihi statsionaarse faasi pinnale, mis on väga ligitõmbav aluselistele polaarsetele analüütidele, aga samas eemale tõukav happeliste polaarsete analüütide jaoks. Uuritud lisand nonafluoro-tert-butanool (NFTB) ei kinnitud statsionaarse faasi pinnale eriti hästi, samas on ühend madala pKa väärtuse tõttu kõrgel eluendi pH-l täielikul deprotoneeritud ja seetõttu omab võimet moodustada mobiilfaasis aluseliste protoneeritud analüütidega ioonpaare. Bifenüül ja pentafluorofenüül (PFP) statsionaarsete faaside korral ei kinnitu HFIP ja HFTB statsionaarse faasi pinnale ja seega ei moodusta need lisandid fluoroalkoholide kihti uuritava statsionaarse faasi pinnale. PP on ainuke eluendilisand. mille puhul oli näha piikide pikka 'sabatamist' (seda ka juhul kui lisandi retentsiooniaeg statsionaarsel faasil ei olnud pikk) ja seetõttu on võimalik, et see lisand moodustab fluoreeritud lisandikihi ka bifenüüli ja PFP statsionaarsete faasi pinnale.

Seega on C18 statsionaarse faasi korral kaks põhilist vastasmõju – (1) analüüdi vastasmõju fluoroalkoholi kihiga statsionaarsel faasi pinnal ning (2) analüüdi vastasmõju eluendilisandiga mobiilses faasis. Tavapäraste levinu eluendilisandite (nagu ammoonium atsetaat, ammoonium bikarbonaat ja ammoonium formiaat) korral tuleneb muutus retentsioonis vaid muutusest analüüdi polaarse [näiteks deprotoneeritud happed (A-) või protoneeritud alused (BH+)] ja mittepolaarse [protoneeritud hapete (AH) ja deprotoneeritud aluste (B)] vormi tasakaalus. Seda on eriti hästi näha polaarsete aluseliste analüütide korral, kui analüütide retentsioon kasvas järsult koos eluendi pH muutusega 8.5-lt 10.0-ni. Kuna ioniseeritud ja mitte-ioniseeritud analüüdi vormid ei muutunud pH muutusega, siis kahe neutraalsete analüütide grupi ühendite (AH ja B) retentsioon muutus väga vähe. Polaarsete happeliste analüütide jaoks tähendas pH tõus ka deprotoneeridud vormi kasvu mobiilfaasis, millega kaasnes analüütide retentsiooniaja kahanemine mittepolaarsel C18 faasi.

Muutused analüütide retentsioonis järgivad üldiselt samu mustreid ka uudsete eluendi komponentide korral sõltudes peaasjalikult tasakaalust polaarse ja mittepolaarse analüüdi vormi vahel. Samas olid uudsete eluendilisandite puhul

retentsiooniaja muutused selgemad ning sageli võimendatud. Mittepolaarsete analüütide korral varieerusid analüütide retentsioonifaktorid rohkem ja kuna enamusel uuritud protoneeritud hapetel on pKa väärtused 10 ligidal ning analüüdid on seega osaliselt protoneeritud just kõrgel eluendi pH-l. Samal ajal olid HFIP ja HFTB kasutamisel nimetatud ühendite retentsioon üldiselt madalam. Happelistel anaüütidel olid uudsete eluendilisanditega madalamad retentsioonifaktorid võrreldes tavapäraste eluendi komponentidega. See tuleneb sellest, et happelised polaarsed analüüdid peavad lisaks statsionaarse faasi nimel konkureerimisele ka täiendalat eemale tõukama eluendi koostises olevaid deprotoneerunud lisandeid HFIP, HFTB, NFTB ja PP. Aluseliste neutraalsete analüütide korral täheldati suuremat vaarieeruvust retentsioonifaktorites, ilma selge kasvu või vähenemise trendita. Seejuures, uudsete eluendi komponentide vaieldamatult suurimat mõju märgati aluseliste polaarsete analüütide puhul. HFIP ja HFTB kasutamisel eluendi pH kasvuga kaasnenud tugevam retentsioon oli selgemalt näha oluliselt pikemates retentsiooniaegades võrreldes tavapäraste eluendilisanditega. Oluline on märkida, et uudsete eluendilisandite kasutamsel kasvas valitud analüütide retentsiooniaeg suisa 28 ja 35 korda. Fluoroalkohol perfluoropinakool kasutamisel suurenes ühe aluselise protoneeritud analüüdi retentsioonifaktor 41 korda. Perfluoropinakool on üks huvitavamaid lisandeid kuna omab kahte hüdroksüülrühma, mistõttu perfluoropinakool omab ka kahte pKa väärtust. See omakorda tähendab, et perfluoropinakooli on sobilik ioonpaar reagent ka madalate mobiilfaasi pH väärtuste juures. NFTB näitas samuti eelnevate fluoroalkoholidega sarnast mõju aluseliste analüütide jaoks.

Oma madala puhverdamisvõime tõttu ei olnud trifluoroetanool (TFE) ja dimetüülsulfoksiid (DMSO) kasutatavad soovitud kõrgete mobiilfaasi pH-de 8.5 ja 9.0 juures, ning lisaks nähti ka olulist analüüdi signaali mahasurumist massispektromeetriga analüütide detekteerimisel. Eelnimetatud kahe probleemi tõttu ei sobi TFE ja DMSO bioanalüütiliste metoodikate puhul eluendilisanditeks.

Üldiselt oli analüütide retentsioon bifenüül statsionaarsel faasil tugevam *piipii* vastasmõjude tõttu, aga on ka erandeid – näiteks analüüdid, mis sisaldavad nitro rühma seostusid statsionaarse faasiga väga nõrgalt, isegi juhul kui nende struktuuris oli benseenituum, millel omakorda peaks olema tugev interaktsioon bifenüül statsionaarse faasiga. Kasutades C18 ja bifenüül statsionaarset faasi happeliste analüütide korral esines suurim erinevus retentsioonis eluendi pH-l 8.5 – kui väiksem osa analüüdist on deprotoneeritud ja täiendava pii-pii või halogeen-pii vastasmõju tõttu seostub analüüt tugevamalt bifenüülse statsionaarse faasiga. Aluseliste polaarsete analüütide korral, isegi ilma selge pii-pii vastasmõjuta (kuna ühelgi protoneeriud aluselisel analüüdil ei ole aromaatset tuuma struktuuris) oli retentsioon bifenüül faasil tugevam võrreldes C18 kolonniga. Kõrgem logP väärtus tagas ka parema retentsiooni polaarsete aluseliste analüütide jaoks.

Selleks, et rakendada antud uurimustööd praktikasse, uuriti suurt hulka (üle 100 ühendi) üldlevinud ühendeid (narkootikumid, ravimid), mida kasutatakse toksikoloogia sõeluuringutes. Uuritud analüütidel on igal ühel vähemalt üks aluseline funktsionaalrühm. Sellise analüütide seguga kasutati difluoroäädikhappe (DFA) eluendilisandina ning prooviti ühendeid lahutada C18 statsionaarse faasiga. Kui tavapärases puhverlahuses (kuhu on lisatud ka ammoonium formiaat) vahetati metaanhape DFA vastu, ei muutunud ainete retentsioon ega ionisatsiooni oluliselt. Samas vähenes retentsioon oluliselt 42 analüüdi jaoks 91-st kui eluendilisandina kasutati DFAd ilma ammoonium formiaadina, antud efekt oli tingitud peamiselt eluendi pH langusest. DFA kasutamisel kasvas retentsioon analüütidel, mille struktuuris oli happeline funktsionaalrühm. Analüütide ionisatsiooni uurimisel täheldati, et DFA andis järjepidevalt madalamat signaali võrreldes metaanhappe kasutamisega.

Bifenüülse statsionaarse faasi korral aga vähenes detekteerivate analüütide hulk. Pooli analüütidest ei mõjutanud eluendi komponendi vahetamine (ammoonium atsetaadi vahetamine HFTB vastu) ega pH muutus 8.5-lt 9.0-le. HFTB kasutamisel eluendi koostises vähenes retentsioon analüütidel, millel on kas madal pKa väärtus või mis sisaldavad karboksüülrühma. Analüütidel, mille retentsioon kasvas HFTB kasutamisel eluendi koostises, oli kõrgem pKa ja ka kõrgem logP väärtus, mis tähendab, et suurem osa analüüdist oli mobiilfaasis polaarses vormis ja seega rohkem ligi tõmmatud HFTB poolt. Kui HFTB kasutati eluendi komponendina, siis enamus analüütide signaal kasvas võrreldes ammoonium atsetaadi kasutamisega, eriti suur kasv oli närgatav eluendi pH 9.0 juures.

Suurim erinevus retentsioonis esines PFP kolonni kasutamisel, kuna vaid 42 analüüdi piigid olid detekteeritavad ja seda ka esialgse happelise mobiilfaasi kasutamisel. Analüütidel, mille pKa väärtus on alla 7.6, ei muutunud retentsioon oluliselt HFTB kasutamisel eluendilisandina. Taaskord, HFTB kasutamisel omavad nõrgemat retentsiooni analüüdid, millel on struktuuris karboksüülrühmad. Just nagu varasemalt bifenüül kolonniga, happeliste funktsionaalrühmadega analüüdid, mis on deprotoneeritud kõrge pH juures, omavad tugevat tõukumist deprotoneeritud uudsete fluorineeritud eluendilisanditega ning tugevat tõmbumist protoneeritud aluselise analüütidega.

Töös esitleti kahte praktilist rakendust – arendati välja ja valideeriti analüüsimetoodikad, et määra ravimite kontsentratsioone vereplasmast farmakokineetiliste uuringute jaoks. Mõlemad metoodikad valideeriti täielikul järgides Euroopa Ravimiameti bioanalüütiliste määramismetoodikate valideerimise juhendmaterjali ja saavutades äärmiselt madalad määramispiirid. Lisaks sellele olid kasutusel ka äärmiselt väikesed proovikogused. Üks metoodika loodi kolme uinutina kasutatava ravimi (morfiini, klonidiini ja midasolaami ning nende metaboliite) kvantifitseerimiseks. HFIP-i kasutamine eluendi komponendina võimaldas kromatograafiliselt eraldada morfiini ja morfiini metaboliite. Teine määramismetoodika, mis keskendus südame ja veresoonkonna haiguste ravimitele milrinoon ja dobutamiin, näitas NH₄F kasutamine võimaldab kasvatada oluliselt massispektromeetris detekteeritud signaali tugevust (kaks korda milrinooni ja seitse korda dobutamiini puhul). Nähtud signaali kasv võimaldas saavutada madalamaid määramispiire metoodikale. Täiendavalt viidi läbi ka uurimus NH₄F mõjust analüüdi ionisatsioonile positiivses detekteerimisrežiimis. Alla määramispiiri jäävaid kontsentratsioone määramismetoodikates ei oli rahvusvaheliste juhendmaterjalide alusel lubatud laborist väljastada, kuna nende usaldusväärsus on kaheldav. Töös pakuti ka lahendus selliste määramispiirialuste tulemuste hindamiseks kui uudsed eluendilisandid ei pruugi lahendusi pakkuda.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to thank the University of Tartu and the Institute of Chemistry for the chance to spend almost 6 years in the most wonderful place in the world, to bring myself to new heights and open possibilities I never knew existed. I want to express my sincerest gratitude to my supervisors Karin Kipper, PhD – who was always there for me, as well as to Associate Professor Koit Herodes for the support and proof-reading.

I would like to thank the love of my life – Max, I would never have done this without your unwavering support. I am thankful to my family, my in-laws and Triin – for the never-ending aid and supply of hugs. I would like to thank Eliise and Anna who were always there to provide the realness, a good laugh, and a friendly ear.

I would like to thank all the people who helped me with my research or by simply expanding my greater understanding of life (and) science – Karl, Fanis, Rudolf, Sofia, Asko, Maarja-Liisa, Krit, Ivo, Ernesto, Tõiv, Hanno and Ester. I want to thank Anca, Ellie, Trevor, Lewis, Leon and Gemma for helping me create the best memories of my time in London. I am grateful to Janne, Anneli & Kalle, Kalev, Flo & Cara, Ilze, Ragne, Maarja, Siret, Kulla-Karin, Kristin and Anni for support, inspiration and motivation.

For financial support, I would like to thank the CLON01 ("Clonidine for Sedation of Paediatric Patients in the Intensive Care Unit") study funded by the European Union's Seventh Framework Programme for research, technological development and demonstration under the grant agreement nº 602453, the People Programme (Marie Curie Actions) of the European Union's Seventh Framework Programme (FP7/2007-2013) under the REA grant agreement n° 608765, for the institutional research grant of the Ministry of Education and Research of Estonia IUT20-14 (TLOKT14014I), the EU through the European Regional Development Fund (TK141), the UnipHied project (uniphied.eu), funded from the EMPIR programme (project 17FUN09) co-financed by the Participating States and from the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme and the Estonian Research Council from PUTJD 22, PUT1589 and PUT1197. Likewise, financial support from the Graduate School "Functional materials and technologies" and the Archimedes Foundation – Dora Plus PhD student mobility grants are much appreciated. I thank the Restek Corporation for the International Restek Academic Support Program (RASP) grant. This work was carried out using the instrumentation of the Estonian Center of Analytical Chemistry (www.akki.ee).

Last, I would like to thank Skyrim for providing hours upon hours of ambient soundtrack that kept my motivation up in order to finish writing this dissertation.
PUBLICATIONS

CURRICULUM VITAE

Name:	Ruta (Veigure) Hecht
Date of birth:	February 27, 1992
Citizenship:	Latvian
Address:	Institute of Chemistry, Ravila 14a, 50411, Tartu, Estonia
E-mail:	rutahecht@gmail.com

Education:

2016–…	University of Tartu, Institute of Chemistry, PhD student
	(Chemistry)
2014–2016	University of Tartu, Institute of Chemistry, MSE cum laude
	(Applied Measurement Science)
2011–2014	University of Latvia, Faculty of Chemistry, BSc (Chemistry)

Professional employment:

2019	Analytical Services International, London (UK),
	Visiting scientist
2019	TICTAC Communications Ltd, London (UK),
	On-site drug analysis at festivals
2017-2018	University of Tartu, Institute of Biomedicine and Translation
	Medicine, Tartu (Estonia), specialist
2015	PharmaSynth OÜ, Tartu, (Estonia), chemist (internship)
2012-2013	Latvian Institute of Organic Synthesis, Riga (Latvia), chemist

Scientific publications

- 1. **R. Veigure**, R. Aro, T. Metsvaht, J.F. Standing, I. Lutsar, K. Herodes, K. Kipper, A highly sensitive method for the simultaneous UHPLC–MS/MS analysis of clonidine, morphine, midazolam and their metabolites in blood plasma using HFIP as the eluent additive, J. Chromatogr. B. 1052 (2017) 150–157. doi:10.1016/j.jchromb.2017.03.007
- M. Hecht, H. Evard, K. Takkis, R. Veigure, R. Aro, R. Lohmus, K. Herodes, I. Leito, K. Kipper, Sponge Spray – Reaching New Dimensions of Direct Sampling and Analysis by MS, Anal. Chem. 89 (2017) 11592–11597. doi:10.1021/acs.analchem.7b02957
- M. Hecht, R. Veigure, L. Couchman, C.I. S Barker, J.F. Standing, K. Takkis, H. Evard, A. Johnston, K. Herodes, I. Leito, K. Kipper, Utilization of data below the analytical limit of quantitation in pharmacokinetic analysis and modeling: promoting interdisciplinary debate, Bioanalysis. (2018) bio-2018-0078. doi:10.4155/bio-2018-0078
- 4. K. Takkis, **R. Veigure**, T. Metsvaht, M. Hallik, M.-L. Ilmoja, J. Starkopf, K. Kipper, A Sensitive Method for the Simultaneous UHPLC-MS/MS Analysis of Milrinone and Dobutamine in Blood Plasma Using NH4F as the Eluent

Additive and Ascorbic Acid as a Stabilizer, Clin. Mass Spectrom. (2019). doi:10.1016/J.CLINMS.2019.03.003

- R. Veigure, K. Lossmann, M. Hecht, E. Parman, R. Born, I. Leito, K. Herodes, & K. Kipper, Retention of acidic and basic analytes in reversed phase column using fluorinated and novel eluent additives for liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry. Journal of Chromatography A. (2019). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chroma.2019.460667
- Hallik M, Ilmoja M-L, Tasa T, Standing JF, Takkis K, Veigure R, Kipper K, Jalas T, Raidmäe M, Uibo K, Starkopf J, Metsvaht T (2019) Population Pharmacokinetics and Dosing of Milrinone After Patent Ductus Arteriosus Ligation in Preterm Infants. Pediatr Crit Care Med 1. doi: 10.1097/PCC. 000000000001879
- Mallik, M., Ilmoja, M., Standing, J. F., Soeorg, H., Jalas, T., Raidmäe, M., Uibo, K., Köbas, K., Sõnajalg, M., Takkis, K., Veigure, R., Kipper, K., Starkopf, J., & Metsvaht, T. (2019). Population Pharmacokinetics and Pharmacodynamics of Dobutamine in Neonates on the First Days of Life. British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology, 2015, 1–11. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/bcp.14146

ELULOOKIRJELDUS

Nimi:	Ruta (Veigure) Hecht
Sünniaeg:	27. veebruar 1992, Riia
Kodakondsus:	Läti
Aadress:	keemia instituut, Ravila 14a, 50411, Tartu, Estonia
E-post:	rutahecht@gmail.com

Haridus

2016–	Tartu Ülikool, keemia instituut, keemia doktorant
2014–2016	Tartu Ülikool, keemia instituut, rakendusliku mõõteteaduse
	magistrikraad
2011–2014	Läti Ülikool, keemia teaduskond, keemia bakalaureusekraad

Teenistuskäik

2019	Analytical Services International, London (Suurbritannia),
	külalisteadur
2019	TICTAC Communications Ltd, London (Suurbritannia),
	analüütik muusikafestivalidel
2017-2018	Tartu Ülikool, meditsiiniteaduste valdkond, bio- ja
	siirdemeditsiini instituut, Tartu (Eesti), spetsialist
2015	PharmaSynth OÜ, Tartu, (Eesti), keemia praktikant
2012-2013	Latvian Institute of Organic Synthesis, Riia (Läti), keemik

Teaduspublikatsioonid

- 1. **R. Veigure**, R. Aro, T. Metsvaht, J.F. Standing, I. Lutsar, K. Herodes, K. Kipper, A highly sensitive method for the simultaneous UHPLC–MS/MS analysis of clonidine, morphine, midazolam and their metabolites in blood plasma using HFIP as the eluent additive, J. Chromatogr. B. 1052 (2017) 150–157. doi:10.1016/j.jchromb.2017.03.007
- M. Hecht, H. Evard, K. Takkis, R. Veigure, R. Aro, R. Lohmus, K. Herodes, I. Leito, K. Kipper, Sponge Spray – Reaching New Dimensions of Direct Sampling and Analysis by MS, Anal. Chem. 89 (2017) 11592–11597. doi: 10.1021/acs.analchem.7b02957
- 3. M. Hecht, **R. Veigure**, L. Couchman, C.I. S Barker, J.F. Standing, K. Takkis, H. Evard, A. Johnston, K. Herodes, I. Leito, K. Kipper, Utilization of data below the analytical limit of quantitation in pharmacokinetic analysis and modeling: promoting interdisciplinary debate, Bioanalysis. (2018) bio-2018-0078. doi:10.4155/bio-2018-0078
- 4. K. Takkis, **R. Veigure**, T. Metsvaht, M. Hallik, M.-L. Ilmoja, J. Starkopf, K. Kipper, A Sensitive Method for the Simultaneous UHPLC-MS/MS Analysis of Milrinone and Dobutamine in Blood Plasma Using NH4F as the Eluent Additive and Ascorbic Acid as a Stabilizer, Clin. Mass Spectrom. (2019). doi:10.1016/J.CLINMS.2019.03.003

- 5. **R. Veigure,** K. Lossmann, M. Hecht, E. Parman, R. Born, I. Leito, K. Herodes, & K. Kipper, Retention of acidic and basic analytes in reversed phase column using fluorinated and novel eluent additives for liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry. Journal of Chromatography A. (2019). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chroma.2019.460667
- Hallik M, Ilmoja M-L, Tasa T, Standing JF, Takkis K, Veigure R, Kipper K, Jalas T, Raidmäe M, Uibo K, Starkopf J, Metsvaht T (2019) Population Pharmacokinetics and Dosing of Milrinone After Patent Ductus Arteriosus Ligation in Preterm Infants. Pediatr Crit Care Med 1. doi: 10.1097/ PCC.000000000001879
- Mallik, M., Ilmoja, M., Standing, J. F., Soeorg, H., Jalas, T., Raidmäe, M., Uibo, K., Köbas, K., Sõnajalg, M., Takkis, K., Veigure, R., Kipper, K., Starkopf, J., & Metsvaht, T. (2019). Population Pharmacokinetics and Pharmacodynamics of Dobutamine in Neonates on the First Days of Life. British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology, 2015, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1111/ bcp.14146

DISSERTATIONES CHIMICAE UNIVERSITATIS TARTUENSIS

- 1. **Toomas Tamm.** Quantum-chemical simulation of solvent effects. Tartu, 1993, 110 p.
- 2. **Peeter Burk.** Theoretical study of gas-phase acid-base equilibria. Tartu, 1994, 96 p.
- 3. Victor Lobanov. Quantitative structure-property relationships in large descriptor spaces. Tartu, 1995, 135 p.
- 4. Vahur Mäemets. The ¹⁷O and ¹H nuclear magnetic resonance study of H₂O in individual solvents and its charged clusters in aqueous solutions of electrolytes. Tartu, 1997, 140 p.
- 5. Andrus Metsala. Microcanonical rate constant in nonequilibrium distribution of vibrational energy and in restricted intramolecular vibrational energy redistribution on the basis of slater's theory of unimolecular reactions. Tartu, 1997, 150 p.
- 6. Uko Maran. Quantum-mechanical study of potential energy surfaces in different environments. Tartu, 1997, 137 p.
- 7. Alar Jänes. Adsorption of organic compounds on antimony, bismuth and cadmium electrodes. Tartu, 1998, 219 p.
- 8. **Kaido Tammeveski.** Oxygen electroreduction on thin platinum films and the electrochemical detection of superoxide anion. Tartu, 1998, 139 p.
- 9. Ivo Leito. Studies of Brønsted acid-base equilibria in water and nonaqueous media. Tartu, 1998, 101 p.
- 10. **Jaan Leis.** Conformational dynamics and equilibria in amides. Tartu, 1998, 131 p.
- 11. **Toonika Rinken.** The modelling of amperometric biosensors based on oxidoreductases. Tartu, 2000, 108 p.
- 12. Dmitri Panov. Partially solvated Grignard reagents. Tartu, 2000, 64 p.
- 13. Kaja Orupõld. Treatment and analysis of phenolic wastewater with microorganisms. Tartu, 2000, 123 p.
- 14. Jüri Ivask. Ion Chromatographic determination of major anions and cations in polar ice core. Tartu, 2000, 85 p.
- 15. Lauri Vares. Stereoselective Synthesis of Tetrahydrofuran and Tetrahydropyran Derivatives by Use of Asymmetric Horner-Wadsworth-Emmons and Ring Closure Reactions. Tartu, 2000, 184 p.
- 16. **Martin Lepiku.** Kinetic aspects of dopamine D₂ receptor interactions with specific ligands. Tartu, 2000, 81 p.
- 17. **Katrin Sak.** Some aspects of ligand specificity of P2Y receptors. Tartu, 2000, 106 p.
- 18. **Vello Pällin.** The role of solvation in the formation of iotsitch complexes. Tartu, 2001, 95 p.
- 19. Katrin Kollist. Interactions between polycyclic aromatic compounds and humic substances. Tartu, 2001, 93 p.

- 20. **Ivar Koppel.** Quantum chemical study of acidity of strong and superstrong Brønsted acids. Tartu, 2001, 104 p.
- 21. Viljar Pihl. The study of the substituent and solvent effects on the acidity of OH and CH acids. Tartu, 2001, 132 p.
- 22. **Natalia Palm.** Specification of the minimum, sufficient and significant set of descriptors for general description of solvent effects. Tartu, 2001, 134 p.
- 23. Sulev Sild. QSPR/QSAR approaches for complex molecular systems. Tartu, 2001, 134 p.
- 24. **Ruslan Petrukhin.** Industrial applications of the quantitative structureproperty relationships. Tartu, 2001, 162 p.
- 25. **Boris V. Rogovoy.** Synthesis of (benzotriazolyl)carboximidamides and their application in relations with *N* and *S*-nucleophyles. Tartu, 2002, 84 p.
- 26. Koit Herodes. Solvent effects on UV-vis absorption spectra of some solvatochromic substances in binary solvent mixtures: the preferential solvation model. Tartu, 2002, 102 p.
- 27. Anti Perkson. Synthesis and characterisation of nanostructured carbon. Tartu, 2002, 152 p.
- 28. **Ivari Kaljurand.** Self-consistent acidity scales of neutral and cationic Brønsted acids in acetonitrile and tetrahydrofuran. Tartu, 2003, 108 p.
- 29. Karmen Lust. Adsorption of anions on bismuth single crystal electrodes. Tartu, 2003, 128 p.
- 30. **Mare Piirsalu.** Substituent, temperature and solvent effects on the alkaline hydrolysis of substituted phenyl and alkyl esters of benzoic acid. Tartu, 2003, 156 p.
- 31. Meeri Sassian. Reactions of partially solvated Grignard reagents. Tartu, 2003, 78 p.
- 32. **Tarmo Tamm.** Quantum chemical modelling of polypyrrole. Tartu, 2003. 100 p.
- 33. Erik Teinemaa. The environmental fate of the particulate matter and organic pollutants from an oil shale power plant. Tartu, 2003. 102 p.
- 34. Jaana Tammiku-Taul. Quantum chemical study of the properties of Grignard reagents. Tartu, 2003. 120 p.
- 35. Andre Lomaka. Biomedical applications of predictive computational chemistry. Tartu, 2003. 132 p.
- 36. Kostyantyn Kirichenko. Benzotriazole Mediated Carbon–Carbon Bond Formation. Tartu, 2003. 132 p.
- 37. **Gunnar Nurk.** Adsorption kinetics of some organic compounds on bismuth single crystal electrodes. Tartu, 2003, 170 p.
- 38. **Mati Arulepp.** Electrochemical characteristics of porous carbon materials and electrical double layer capacitors. Tartu, 2003, 196 p.
- 39. **Dan Cornel Fara.** QSPR modeling of complexation and distribution of organic compounds. Tartu, 2004, 126 p.
- 40. **Riina Mahlapuu.** Signalling of galanin and amyloid precursor protein through adenylate cyclase. Tartu, 2004, 124 p.

- 41. **Mihkel Kerikmäe.** Some luminescent materials for dosimetric applications and physical research. Tartu, 2004, 143 p.
- 42. Jaanus Kruusma. Determination of some important trace metal ions in human blood. Tartu, 2004, 115 p.
- 43. Urmas Johanson. Investigations of the electrochemical properties of polypyrrole modified electrodes. Tartu, 2004, 91 p.
- 44. **Kaido Sillar.** Computational study of the acid sites in zeolite ZSM-5. Tartu, 2004, 80 p.
- 45. Aldo Oras. Kinetic aspects of dATP α S interaction with P2Y₁ receptor. Tartu, 2004, 75 p.
- 46. Erik Mölder. Measurement of the oxygen mass transfer through the airwater interface. Tartu, 2005, 73 p.
- 47. **Thomas Thomberg.** The kinetics of electroreduction of peroxodisulfate anion on cadmium (0001) single crystal electrode. Tartu, 2005, 95 p.
- 48. Olavi Loog. Aspects of condensations of carbonyl compounds and their imine analogues. Tartu, 2005, 83 p.
- 49. Siim Salmar. Effect of ultrasound on ester hydrolysis in aqueous ethanol. Tartu, 2006, 73 p.
- 50. Ain Uustare. Modulation of signal transduction of heptahelical receptors by other receptors and G proteins. Tartu, 2006, 121 p.
- 51. Sergei Yurchenko. Determination of some carcinogenic contaminants in food. Tartu, 2006, 143 p.
- 52. **Kaido Tämm.** QSPR modeling of some properties of organic compounds. Tartu, 2006, 67 p.
- 53. Olga Tšubrik. New methods in the synthesis of multisubstituted hydrazines. Tartu. 2006, 183 p.
- 54. Lilli Sooväli. Spectrophotometric measurements and their uncertainty in chemical analysis and dissociation constant measurements. Tartu, 2006, 125 p.
- 55. Eve Koort. Uncertainty estimation of potentiometrically measured ph and pK_a values. Tartu, 2006, 139 p.
- 56. Sergei Kopanchuk. Regulation of ligand binding to melanocortin receptor subtypes. Tartu, 2006, 119 p.
- 57. Silvar Kallip. Surface structure of some bismuth and antimony single crystal electrodes. Tartu, 2006, 107 p.
- 58. Kristjan Saal. Surface silanization and its application in biomolecule coupling. Tartu, 2006, 77 p.
- 59. **Tanel Tätte.** High viscosity Sn(OBu)₄ oligomeric concentrates and their applications in technology. Tartu, 2006, 91 p.
- 60. **Dimitar Atanasov Dobchev**. Robust QSAR methods for the prediction of properties from molecular structure. Tartu, 2006, 118 p.
- 61. Hannes Hagu. Impact of ultrasound on hydrophobic interactions in solutions. Tartu, 2007, 81 p.
- 62. **Rutha Jäger.** Electroreduction of peroxodisulfate anion on bismuth electrodes. Tartu, 2007, 142 p.

- 63. **Kaido Viht.** Immobilizable bisubstrate-analogue inhibitors of basophilic protein kinases: development and application in biosensors. Tartu, 2007, 88 p.
- 64. Eva-Ingrid Rõõm. Acid-base equilibria in nonpolar media. Tartu, 2007, 156 p.
- 65. **Sven Tamp.** DFT study of the cesium cation containing complexes relevant to the cesium cation binding by the humic acids. Tartu, 2007, 102 p.
- 66. Jaak Nerut. Electroreduction of hexacyanoferrate(III) anion on Cadmium (0001) single crystal electrode. Tartu, 2007, 180 p.
- 67. Lauri Jalukse. Measurement uncertainty estimation in amperometric dissolved oxygen concentration measurement. Tartu, 2007, 112 p.
- 68. Aime Lust. Charge state of dopants and ordered clusters formation in CaF₂:Mn and CaF₂:Eu luminophors. Tartu, 2007, 100 p.
- 69. **Iiris Kahn**. Quantitative Structure-Activity Relationships of environmentally relevant properties. Tartu, 2007, 98 p.
- 70. **Mari Reinik.** Nitrates, nitrites, N-nitrosamines and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in food: analytical methods, occurrence and dietary intake. Tartu, 2007, 172 p.
- 71. **Heili Kasuk.** Thermodynamic parameters and adsorption kinetics of organic compounds forming the compact adsorption layer at Bi single crystal electrodes. Tartu, 2007, 212 p.
- 72. Erki Enkvist. Synthesis of adenosine-peptide conjugates for biological applications. Tartu, 2007, 114 p.
- 73. **Svetoslav Hristov Slavov**. Biomedical applications of the QSAR approach. Tartu, 2007, 146 p.
- 74. Eneli Härk. Electroreduction of complex cations on electrochemically polished Bi(*hkl*) single crystal electrodes. Tartu, 2008, 158 p.
- 75. **Priit Möller.** Electrochemical characteristics of some cathodes for medium temperature solid oxide fuel cells, synthesized by solid state reaction technique. Tartu, 2008, 90 p.
- 76. **Signe Viggor.** Impact of biochemical parameters of genetically different pseudomonads at the degradation of phenolic compounds. Tartu, 2008, 122 p.
- 77. Ave Sarapuu. Electrochemical reduction of oxygen on quinone-modified carbon electrodes and on thin films of platinum and gold. Tartu, 2008, 134 p.
- 78. Agnes Kütt. Studies of acid-base equilibria in non-aqueous media. Tartu, 2008, 198 p.
- 79. **Rouvim Kadis.** Evaluation of measurement uncertainty in analytical chemistry: related concepts and some points of misinterpretation. Tartu, 2008, 118 p.
- 80. Valter Reedo. Elaboration of IVB group metal oxide structures and their possible applications. Tartu, 2008, 98 p.
- 81. Aleksei Kuznetsov. Allosteric effects in reactions catalyzed by the cAMPdependent protein kinase catalytic subunit. Tartu, 2009, 133 p.

- 82. Aleksei Bredihhin. Use of mono- and polyanions in the synthesis of multisubstituted hydrazine derivatives. Tartu, 2009, 105 p.
- 83. Anu Ploom. Quantitative structure-reactivity analysis in organosilicon chemistry. Tartu, 2009, 99 p.
- Argo Vonk. Determination of adenosine A_{2A}- and dopamine D₁ receptorspecific modulation of adenylate cyclase activity in rat striatum. Tartu, 2009, 129 p.
- 85. **Indrek Kivi.** Synthesis and electrochemical characterization of porous cathode materials for intermediate temperature solid oxide fuel cells. Tartu, 2009, 177 p.
- 86. **Jaanus Eskusson.** Synthesis and characterisation of diamond-like carbon thin films prepared by pulsed laser deposition method. Tartu, 2009, 117 p.
- 87. **Marko Lätt.** Carbide derived microporous carbon and electrical double layer capacitors. Tartu, 2009, 107 p.
- 88. Vladimir Stepanov. Slow conformational changes in dopamine transporter interaction with its ligands. Tartu, 2009, 103 p.
- 89. Aleksander Trummal. Computational Study of Structural and Solvent Effects on Acidities of Some Brønsted Acids. Tartu, 2009, 103 p.
- 90. **Eerold Vellemäe.** Applications of mischmetal in organic synthesis. Tartu, 2009, 93 p.
- 91. **Sven Parkel.** Ligand binding to 5-HT_{1A} receptors and its regulation by Mg²⁺ and Mn²⁺. Tartu, 2010, 99 p.
- 92. **Signe Vahur.** Expanding the possibilities of ATR-FT-IR spectroscopy in determination of inorganic pigments. Tartu, 2010, 184 p.
- 93. **Tavo Romann**. Preparation and surface modification of bismuth thin film, porous, and microelectrodes. Tartu, 2010, 155 p.
- 94. Nadežda Aleksejeva. Electrocatalytic reduction of oxygen on carbon nanotube-based nanocomposite materials. Tartu, 2010, 147 p.
- 95. **Marko Kullapere.** Electrochemical properties of glassy carbon, nickel and gold electrodes modified with aryl groups. Tartu, 2010, 233 p.
- 96. Liis Siinor. Adsorption kinetics of ions at Bi single crystal planes from aqueous electrolyte solutions and room-temperature ionic liquids. Tartu, 2010, 101 p.
- 97. **Angela Vaasa.** Development of fluorescence-based kinetic and binding assays for characterization of protein kinases and their inhibitors. Tartu 2010, 101 p.
- 98. **Indrek Tulp.** Multivariate analysis of chemical and biological properties. Tartu 2010, 105 p.
- 99. **Aare Selberg.** Evaluation of environmental quality in Northern Estonia by the analysis of leachate. Tartu 2010, 117 p.
- 100. **Darja Lavõgina.** Development of protein kinase inhibitors based on adenosine analogue-oligoarginine conjugates. Tartu 2010, 248 p.
- 101. Laura Herm. Biochemistry of dopamine D_2 receptors and its association with motivated behaviour. Tartu 2010, 156 p.

- 102. **Terje Raudsepp.** Influence of dopant anions on the electrochemical properties of polypyrrole films. Tartu 2010, 112 p.
- 103. **Margus Marandi.** Electroformation of Polypyrrole Films: *In-situ* AFM and STM Study. Tartu 2011, 116 p.
- 104. **Kairi Kivirand.** Diamine oxidase-based biosensors: construction and working principles. Tartu, 2011, 140 p.
- 105. Anneli Kruve. Matrix effects in liquid-chromatography electrospray mass-spectrometry. Tartu, 2011, 156 p.
- 106. **Gary Urb.** Assessment of environmental impact of oil shale fly ash from PF and CFB combustion. Tartu, 2011, 108 p.
- 107. Nikita Oskolkov. A novel strategy for peptide-mediated cellular delivery and induction of endosomal escape. Tartu, 2011, 106 p.
- 108. **Dana Martin.** The QSPR/QSAR approach for the prediction of properties of fullerene derivatives. Tartu, 2011, 98 p.
- 109. Säde Viirlaid. Novel glutathione analogues and their antioxidant activity. Tartu, 2011, 106 p.
- 110. Ülis Sõukand. Simultaneous adsorption of Cd²⁺, Ni²⁺, and Pb²⁺ on peat. Tartu, 2011, 124 p.
- 111. Lauri Lipping. The acidity of strong and superstrong Brønsted acids, an outreach for the "limits of growth": a quantum chemical study. Tartu, 2011, 124 p.
- 112. **Heisi Kurig.** Electrical double-layer capacitors based on ionic liquids as electrolytes. Tartu, 2011, 146 p.
- 113. **Marje Kasari.** Bisubstrate luminescent probes, optical sensors and affinity adsorbents for measurement of active protein kinases in biological samples. Tartu, 2012, 126 p.
- 114. Kalev Takkis. Virtual screening of chemical databases for bioactive molecules. Tartu, 2012, 122 p.
- 115. Ksenija Kisseljova. Synthesis of $aza-\beta^3$ -amino acid containing peptides and kinetic study of their phosphorylation by protein kinase A. Tartu, 2012, 104 p.
- 116. **Riin Rebane.** Advanced method development strategy for derivatization LC/ESI/MS. Tartu, 2012, 184 p.
- Vladislav Ivaništšev. Double layer structure and adsorption kinetics of ions at metal electrodes in room temperature ionic liquids. Tartu, 2012, 128 p.
- 118. **Irja Helm.** High accuracy gravimetric Winkler method for determination of dissolved oxygen. Tartu, 2012, 139 p.
- 119. Karin Kipper. Fluoroalcohols as Components of LC-ESI-MS Eluents: Usage and Applications. Tartu, 2012, 164 p.
- 120. Arno Ratas. Energy storage and transfer in dosimetric luminescent materials. Tartu, 2012, 163 p.
- 121. **Reet Reinart-Okugbeni**. Assay systems for characterisation of subtypeselective binding and functional activity of ligands on dopamine receptors. Tartu, 2012, 159 p.

- 122. Lauri Sikk. Computational study of the Sonogashira cross-coupling reaction. Tartu, 2012, 81 p.
- 123. Karita Raudkivi. Neurochemical studies on inter-individual differences in affect-related behaviour of the laboratory rat. Tartu, 2012, 161 p.
- 124. **Indrek Saar.** Design of GalR2 subtype specific ligands: their role in depression-like behavior and feeding regulation. Tartu, 2013, 126 p.
- 125. Ann Laheäär. Electrochemical characterization of alkali metal salt based non-aqueous electrolytes for supercapacitors. Tartu, 2013, 127 p.
- Kerli Tõnurist. Influence of electrospun separator materials properties on electrochemical performance of electrical double-layer capacitors. Tartu, 2013, 147 p.
- 127. Kaija Põhako-Esko. Novel organic and inorganic ionogels: preparation and characterization. Tartu, 2013, 124 p.
- 128. **Ivar Kruusenberg.** Electroreduction of oxygen on carbon nanomaterialbased catalysts. Tartu, 2013, 191 p.
- 129. Sander Piiskop. Kinetic effects of ultrasound in aqueous acetonitrile solutions. Tartu, 2013, 95 p.
- 130. **Ilona Faustova**. Regulatory role of L-type pyruvate kinase N-terminal domain. Tartu, 2013, 109 p.
- 131. **Kadi Tamm.** Synthesis and characterization of the micro-mesoporous anode materials and testing of the medium temperature solid oxide fuel cell single cells. Tartu, 2013, 138 p.
- 132. Iva Bozhidarova Stoyanova-Slavova. Validation of QSAR/QSPR for regulatory purposes. Tartu, 2013, 109 p.
- 133. Vitali Grozovski. Adsorption of organic molecules at single crystal electrodes studied by *in situ* STM method. Tartu, 2014, 146 p.
- 134. Santa Veikšina. Development of assay systems for characterisation of ligand binding properties to melanocortin 4 receptors. Tartu, 2014, 151 p.
- 135. Jüri Liiv. PVDF (polyvinylidene difluoride) as material for active element of twisting-ball displays. Tartu, 2014, 111 p.
- 136. Kersti Vaarmets. Electrochemical and physical characterization of pristine and activated molybdenum carbide-derived carbon electrodes for the oxygen electroreduction reaction. Tartu, 2014, 131 p.
- 137. Lauri Tõntson. Regulation of G-protein subtypes by receptors, guanine nucleotides and Mn²⁺. Tartu, 2014, 105 p.
- 138. Aiko Adamson. Properties of amine-boranes and phosphorus analogues in the gas phase. Tartu, 2014, 78 p.
- 139. **Elo Kibena**. Electrochemical grafting of glassy carbon, gold, highly oriented pyrolytic graphite and chemical vapour deposition-grown graphene electrodes by diazonium reduction method. Tartu, 2014, 184 p.
- Teemu Näykki. Novel Tools for Water Quality Monitoring From Field to Laboratory. Tartu, 2014, 202 p.
- 141. Karl Kaupmees. Acidity and basicity in non-aqueous media: importance of solvent properties and purity. Tartu, 2014, 128 p.

- 142. **Oleg Lebedev**. Hydrazine polyanions: different strategies in the synthesis of heterocycles. Tartu, 2015, 118 p.
- 143. Geven Piir. Environmental risk assessment of chemicals using QSAR methods. Tartu, 2015, 123 p.
- 144. **Olga Mazina.** Development and application of the biosensor assay for measurements of cyclic adenosine monophosphate in studies of G protein-coupled receptor signalinga. Tartu, 2015, 116 p.
- 145. Sandip Ashokrao Kadam. Anion receptors: synthesis and accurate binding measurements. Tartu, 2015, 116 p.
- 146. **Indrek Tallo.** Synthesis and characterization of new micro-mesoporous carbide derived carbon materials for high energy and power density electrical double layer capacitors. Tartu, 2015, 148 p.
- 147. **Heiki Erikson.** Electrochemical reduction of oxygen on nanostructured palladium and gold catalysts. Tartu, 2015, 204 p.
- 148. Erik Anderson. *In situ* Scanning Tunnelling Microscopy studies of the interfacial structure between Bi(111) electrode and a room temperature ionic liquid. Tartu, 2015, 118 p.
- 149. Girinath G. Pillai. Computational Modelling of Diverse Chemical, Biochemical and Biomedical Properties. Tartu, 2015, 140 p.
- 150. **Piret Pikma.** Interfacial structure and adsorption of organic compounds at Cd(0001) and Sb(111) electrodes from ionic liquid and aqueous electrolytes: an *in situ* STM study. Tartu, 2015, 126 p.
- 151. Ganesh babu Manoharan. Combining chemical and genetic approaches for photoluminescence assays of protein kinases. Tartu, 2016, 126 p.
- 152. Carolin Siimenson. Electrochemical characterization of halide ion adsorption from liquid mixtures at Bi(111) and pyrolytic graphite electrode surface. Tartu, 2016, 110 p.
- 153. Asko Laaniste. Comparison and optimisation of novel mass spectrometry ionisation sources. Tartu, 2016, 156 p.
- 154. Hanno Evard. Estimating limit of detection for mass spectrometric analysis methods. Tartu, 2016, 224 p.
- 155. **Kadri Ligi.** Characterization and application of protein kinase-responsive organic probes with triplet-singlet energy transfer. Tartu, 2016, 122 p.
- 156. **Margarita Kagan.** Biosensing penicillins' residues in milk flows. Tartu, 2016, 130 p.
- 157. **Marie Kriisa.** Development of protein kinase-responsive photoluminescent probes and cellular regulators of protein phosphorylation. Tartu, 2016, 106 p.
- 158. **Mihkel Vestli.** Ultrasonic spray pyrolysis deposited electrolyte layers for intermediate temperature solid oxide fuel cells. Tartu, 2016, 156 p.
- 159. **Silver Sepp**. Influence of porosity of the carbide-derived carbon on the properties of the composite electrocatalysts and characteristics of polymer electrolyte fuel cells. Tartu, 2016, 137 p.
- 160. Kristjan Haav. Quantitative relative equilibrium constant measurements in supramolecular chemistry. Tartu, 2017, 158 p.

- 161. **Anu Teearu**. Development of MALDI-FT-ICR-MS methodology for the analysis of resinous materials. Tartu, 2017, 205 p.
- 162. **Taavi Ivan**. Bifunctional inhibitors and photoluminescent probes for studies on protein complexes. Tartu, 2017, 140 p.
- 163. **Maarja-Liisa Oldekop**. Characterization of amino acid derivatization reagents for LC-MS analysis. Tartu, 2017, 147 p.
- 164. Kristel Jukk. Electrochemical reduction of oxygen on platinum- and palladium-based nanocatalysts. Tartu, 2017, 250 p.
- 165. Siim Kukk. Kinetic aspects of interaction between dopamine transporter and *N*-substituted nortropane derivatives. Tartu, 2017, 107 p.
- 166. **Birgit Viira**. Design and modelling in early drug development in targeting HIV-1 reverse transcriptase and Malaria. Tartu, 2017, 172 p.
- 167. **Rait Kivi**. Allostery in cAMP dependent protein kinase catalytic subunit. Tartu, 2017, 115 p.
- 168. Agnes Heering. Experimental realization and applications of the unified acidity scale. Tartu, 2017, 123 p.
- 169. **Delia Juronen**. Biosensing system for the rapid multiplex detection of mastitis-causing pathogens in milk. Tartu, 2018, 85 p.
- 170. **Hedi Rahnel.** ARC-inhibitors: from reliable biochemical assays to regulators of physiology of cells. Tartu, 2018, 176 p.
- 171. Anton Ruzanov. Computational investigation of the electrical double layer at metal–aqueous solution and metal–ionic liquid interfaces. Tartu, 2018, 129 p.
- 172. Katrin Kestav. Crystal Structure-Guided Development of Bisubstrate-Analogue Inhibitors of Mitotic Protein Kinase Haspin. Tartu, 2018, 166 p.
- 173. **Mihkel Ilisson.** Synthesis of novel heterocyclic hydrazine derivatives and their conjugates. Tartu, 2018, 101 p.
- 174. Anni Allikalt. Development of assay systems for studying ligand binding to dopamine receptors. Tartu, 2018, 160 p.
- 175. **Ove Oll.** Electrical double layer structure and energy storage characteristics of ionic liquid based capacitors. Tartu, 2018, 187 p.
- 176. **Rasmus Palm.** Carbon materials for energy storage applications. Tartu, 2018, 114 p.
- 177. **Jörgen Metsik.** Preparation and stability of poly(3,4-ethylenedioxythiophene) thin films for transparent electrode applications. Tartu, 2018, 111 p.
- 178. **Sofja Tšepelevitš.** Experimental studies and modeling of solute-solvent interactions. Tartu, 2018, 109 p.
- 179. **Märt Lõkov.** Basicity of some nitrogen, phosphorus and carbon bases in acetonitrile. Tartu, 2018, 104 p.
- 180. Anton Mastitski. Preparation of α -aza-amino acid precursors and related compounds by novel methods of reductive one-pot alkylation and direct alkylation. Tartu, 2018, 155 p.
- Jürgen Vahter. Development of bisubstrate inhibitors for protein kinase CK2. Tartu, 2019, 186 p.

- 182. **Piia Liigand.** Expanding and improving methodology and applications of ionization efficiency measurements. Tartu, 2019, 189 p.
- 183. **Sigrid Selberg.** Synthesis and properties of lipophilic phosphazene-based indicator molecules. Tartu, 2019, 74 p.
- 184. **Jaanus Liigand.** Standard substance free quantification for LC/ESI/MS analysis based on the predicted ionization efficiencies. Tartu, 2019, 254 p.
- 185. **Marek Mooste.** Surface and electrochemical characterisation of aryl film and nanocomposite material modified carbon and metal-based electrodes. Tartu, 2019, 304 p.
- 186. **Mare Oja.** Experimental investigation and modelling of pH profiles for effective membrane permeability of drug substances. Tartu, 2019, 306 p.
- 187. Sajid Hussain. Electrochemical reduction of oxygen on supported Pt catalysts. Tartu, 2019, 220 p.
- 188. **Ronald Väli.** Glucose-derived hard carbon electrode materials for sodiumion batteries. Tartu, 2019, 180 p.
- 189. Ester Tee. Analysis and development of selective synthesis methods of hierarchical micro- and mesoporous carbons. Tartu, 2019, 210 p.
- 190. **Martin Maide.** Influence of the microstructure and chemical composition of the fuel electrode on the electrochemical performance of reversible solid oxide fuel cell. Tartu, 2020, 144 p.
- 191. Edith Viirlaid. Biosensing Pesticides in Water Samples. Tartu, 2020, 102 p.
- 192. Maike Käärik. Nanoporous carbon: the controlled nanostructure, and structure-property relationships. Tartu, 2020, 162 p.
- 193. Artur Gornischeff. Study of ionization efficiencies for derivatized compounds in LC/ESI/MS and their application for targeted analysis. Tartu, 2020, 124 p.
- 194. **Reet Link.** Ligand binding, allosteric modulation and constitutive activity of melanocortin-4 receptors. Tartu, 2020, 108 p.
- 195. **Pilleriin Peets.** Development of instrumental methods for the analysis of textile fibres and dyes. Tartu, 2020, 150 p.
- 196. Larisa Ivanova. Design of active compounds against neurodegenerative diseases. Tartu, 2020, 152 p.
- 197. **Meelis Härmas.** Impact of activated carbon microstructure and porosity on electrochemical performance of electrical double-layer capacitors. Tartu, 2020, 122 p.